Bee-Plant Interactions in Coffee Agroecosystems: Management and Matrix Effects on Mutualistic and Antagonistic Relationships

by

Gordon Fitch

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ecology and Evolutionary Biology) in the University of Michigan 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Professor John H. Vandermeer, Chair Associate Professor Regina S. Baucom Professor Meghan A. Duffy Professor Ivette Perfecto Gordon Fitch

gmfitch@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0002-2471-1160

© Gordon Fitch 2021

Dedication

To Noah, for everything.

Acknowledgements

While my name is the only one listed as the author of this dissertation – and I take full responsibility for its contents – in reality, the following pages represent the effort of a large number of people, without whom it never would have happened.

Thanks to my advisor, John Vandermeer, and honorary co-advisor, Ivette Perfecto, for helping me to be critical, creative, and committed both in my science and in general. My other committee members, Meg Duffy and Gina Baucom, both provided helpful feedback and encouragement along the way. Mark Hunter served on my committee until his retirement at the end of 2020, and I am particularly indebted to his keen insights and critical perspective, both of which have helped me to significantly improve this dissertation. Additional support, intellectual stimulation, and hard questions were generously given by Martin Burd, Phil Conner, Becky Irwin, and Stacy Philpott.

John and Ivette cultivate a wonderful community, and I have benefited tremendously from my association with Perfectameers past and present. Friends, collaborators, critics, support network: immense thanks to Chatura Vaidya, Lauren Schmitt, Kaleigh Fisher, Jonno Morris, Zach Hajian-Forooshani, Iris Rivera, Kristel Sanchez (honorarily), Nicholas Medina, Beatriz Otero Jimenez, Estelí Soto-Jimenez, Alexa White, Theresa Ong, Senay Yitbarek, Aaron Iverson, Dave Gonthier, Paul Glaum, Carolina Simao, Kevin Li, Mariana Valencia, Aldo de la Mora, Naim Edwards, Kim Williams-Guillén, Kate Ennis, fern MacDougal, and Sarah Barney.

iii

The fieldwork upon which this dissertation is based would not have been possible without a great many people. Gustavo López Bautista worked tirelessly to make the experience of being at the finca as smooth as possible, and was also a good friend through long, rainy afternoons and bumpy car rides. Gabriel Dominguez provided invaluable support in the field, as well as updates on the latest *chisme*. Doña Cruz, Flor, Suly, and Tania kept me well-fed and well-organized and made the field station feel like a home-away-from-home. Miguel Crisóstomo and the *vivero* crew provided essential support in my efforts to grow firespike. Sara González was a great partner in adventure. In Tapachula, the staff of Hotel Cervantino, especially Melany, provided a much-needed home-away-from-home-away-from-home. Many thanks to the Peters family for allowing us to conduct research on their farm, and to the workers who maintain it.

In Ann Arbor, my path through the PhD was made easier by the EEB department's marvelous staff: thanks to Kati Ellis, Gail Kuhnlein, Nathan Sadowsky, Michael Ennis, and John Megahan for your helpfulness, patience, and encouragement. I also benefitted tremendously from the opportunity to GSI with some inspiring professors – thanks to Deborah Goldberg, Annette Ostling, Fernanda Valdovinos, and Ben Winger.

Ann Arbor feels like home due in large part to all the wonderful friends I have made here. The Kingsley St/Traver Rd. family provided a warm welcome and sweet ready-made community as soon as I landed – with a trip to Babe Island on my very first day in Ann Arbor, I should have known it'd be good. The Existential High-Fivers, Peach St. crew, and many others made that community stronger with shared dinners, camping trips, bike rides, paddles, and more. And Babycat, whose life is fully coterminous with my graduate career, has been a constant source of laughter, purs, scratches, and fur. Faraway friends, too many to mention, have also provided

iv

love and support and good times, and I thank all of you. Special shout-out to Mary Elston and Jess Gordon for being commiserators and co-conspirators in the Ph.D. process from afar.

My family has been a tremendous source of support and inspiration. My parents provided early exposure to the natural world, and endless encouragement to follow my interests. My mom in particular gave me a model for how to manage being a committed scientist, partner, parent, and friend. My brother has been there with me at every step. And I'm fortunate to have a tremendous set of aunts and uncles and grandparents who showed me different ways of being thoughtfully in the world. Finally, thank you to Noah for being my partner in all things. I could not have done this without your love, encouragement, and support.

Table of Contents

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Appendices	X
Abstract	xi
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Chapter 2 Integrating Interactions for Pollination and for Abiotic Resources to Understand Neighbor Effects on a Mass-blooming Crop in a Complex Agroforest	16
Chapter 3 Changes in Partner Traits Drive Variation in Plant–Nectar Robber Interactions Ad Habitats	cross 43
Chapter 4 Light Availability Influences the Intensity of Nectar Robbery and Its Effects on Reproduction in a Tropical Shrub via Multiple Pathways	71
Chapter 5 Can Conflicting Selection from Pollinators and Antagonists Drive Adaptive Polle Limitation? A Conceptual Model and Empirical Test	n 102
Chapter 6 Conclusion	136
Appendices	142

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Model output from structural equation models relating a) transect-scale floralneighborhood to stigma pollen load and b) 2m x 2m-scale neighborhood to stigma pollen load,pollen tube number, fruit set, and fruit weight
Table 3.1. Relationship between habitat and putative drivers of nectar robbery
Table 3.2. Relative importance of the significant drivers of nectar robbing intensity (NRI) 68
Table 3.3. Relationship between reproductive output and nectar robbing and habitat
Table 4.1. Effect of light availability on floral traits of naturally-occurring plants 96
Table 4.2. Effect of floral traits on nectar robbery in naturally-occurring plants
Table 4.3. Effects of nectar robbery and light availability on reproductive output in naturally- occurring plants, estimated using negative-binomial GLMs
Table 4.4. Effect of light availability on floral traits and fruit set of experimental ramets
Table 4.5. Best model for predicting robbery of ramets from reciprocal translocation
Table 5.1. Model comparison for the relationships between inflorescence number and flowernumber, nectar robbery, and pollen removal in A) naturally-occurring plants and B) experimentalarrays of O. cuspidatum130
Table A.1. Assessment of spatial autocorrelation in coffee pollination, fruit set, and floral neighborhood measures 142
Table A.2. Summary statistics for coffee pollination and neighborhood variables
Table A.3. Structural equation model results, including nonsignificant covariates (distance to apiary and focal coffee plant height) 143
Table B.1. Correlation among Odontonema cuspidatum floral trait values 147

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. A conceptual framework for understanding how anthropogenic environmental change leads to the alteration of an interaction (interaction frequency or outcome) without species loss
Figure 2.1. Hypothesized effects of plant neighborhood on coffee pollination, fruit set, and fruit weight
Figure 2.2. Comparison of coffee pollen load and coffee flower density between mass bloom events across high and low heterospecific floral density neighborhoods
Figure 2.3. Results from SEM analysis of a) transect-scale neighborhood effects on pollination and b) 2m x 2m-scale neighborhood on pollination and yield
Figure 2.4. Partial residuals plots for selected relationships between neighborhood, pollination, and yield
Figure 3.1. Pathways by which environmental change can result in changes to interactions without changing species composition
Figure 3.2. Relationship between nectar robbing intensity (NRI) of <i>O. cuspidatum</i> and (A) focal plant flower number and (B) floral neighborhood
Figure 4.1. Conceptual diagram illustrating the multiple pathways by which light availability can influence seed production, pollination, and nectar robbery in <i>Odontonema cuspidatum</i>
Figure 4.2. Schematic diagram of the experimental design for the reciprocal translocation experiment
Figure 4.3. Effect of light availability at flowering time on nectar robbery, as mediated by light environment experienced by the parent plant
Figure 5.1. Conceptual diagram illustrating how investment in pollinator attraction is affected by the presence of a floral antagonist, and may lead to pollen limitation
Figure 5.2. Frequency distribution of total flower number for surveyed plants
Figure 5.3. Relationship between flower number and pollination and nectar robbery in naturally- occurring plants

Figure 5.4. A) Number and B-C) proportion of flowers in experimental arrays experiencing pollen removal and nectar robbery
Figure A.1. Images from the study area, illustrating the range of floral neighborhood conditions
Figure A.2. Within-plant and within-site variability in a) coffee pollen load and b) pollen tube number
Figure B.1. Photograph showing <i>Odontonema cuspidatum</i> inflorescence being nectar-robbed by the stingless bee <i>Trigona fulviventris</i> (black circle), and with perforation from previous robbing (white circle)
Figure B.2. Flow diagram of sampling scheme for naturally-occurring O. cuspidatum plants 148

List of Appendices

Appendix A. Supplementary tables and figures for Chapter 2	142
Appendix B. Supplementary table and figures for Chapter 4	147

Abstract

Given the rapid pace of anthropogenic environmental change, understanding how such change influences biotic interactions and ecosystem functions is a key challenge for ecologists. My dissertation addresses this challenge by examining how land management practices in coffee agroecosystems affect multiple interactions between stingless bees and the plants upon which they feed, and explores the effects of the resulting restructuring of plant-bee interactions on the interacting species. To do this, I focus on two overarching questions:

1) How do farm management practices and landscape context affect stingless bee foraging patterns in coffee agroecosystems, and how do these foraging patterns in turn influence coffee pollination?

2) How is nectar robbing by stingless bees influenced by agricultural land use, what are the underlying drivers of land use-mediated changes to nectar robbing behavior, and to what extent does this behavior lead to adaptive pollen limitation in the plant firespike (*Odontonema cuspidatum*) by constraining floral display size?

In Chapter 1, I introduce a framework for understanding the multiple pathways by which anthropogenic environmental change can influence the frequency, outcome, or consequences of interspecific interactions without changing species composition.

In Chapter 2, I evaluate how the management of weedy herbaceous vegetation and canopy trees shaped the way coffee (*Coffea arabica*) interacts with neighboring plants for both pollination and abiotic resources. Co-flowering plants that share pollinators can interact with one another simultaneously for both pollination and abiotic resources, yet few studies have

xi

considered the joint effects of both interaction types on plant reproduction or yield. In this study, I tackle this problem by examining coffee and non-coffee pollen deposition, pollen tube formation, initial fruit set, and final fruit set in coffee plants with different background floral environments, using structural equation models. I find that coffee competes with neighbors for pollination, but that this has little effect on yield because the crop is not pollen-limited. Interactions with neighbors for abiotic resources have a stronger effect, and I find evidence for both competition (with weeds and co-flowering canopy trees) and facilitation (with non-coflowering canopy trees).

In Chapters 3-5, I examine nectar robbery (extracting nectar from a flower via an opening other than the corolla mouth) by stingless bees of firespike. In Chapter 3, I show that habitatbased heterogeneity in the intensity of nectar robbery is due to changes in floral traits and associated bee preferences, with plants growing in coffee fields producing more and more nectarrich flowers and therefore experiencing more nectar robbery than plants growing in forest fragments. In Chapter 4, I use a reciprocal-translocation experiment to show that light availability drives differences in both floral traits and nectar-robbing behavior, and that light environment exerts clonal transgenerational effects on floral traits. In Chapter 5, I develop a novel conceptual framework to explain strong pollen limitation in firespike: conflicting selection on floral traits by pollinators and floral antagonists (nectar robbers). I develop this framework using data from field surveys and a field experiment, and explore its potential generality as a mechanism of pollen limitation.

Finally, in Chapter 6, I situate the studies presenting in Chapters 2-5 in the context of the framework developed in Chapter 1, using them to highlight directions for future work.

xii

Chapter 1 Introduction

The earth is being transformed by human activity. The consequences of this transformation for the functioning of ecological communities and the wellbeing of both human and non-human life are profound (Cardinale et al., 2012; Ceballos et al., 2015; Oliver, Heard, et al., 2015; Oliver, Isaac, et al., 2015). Perhaps the most prominent consequence of anthropogenic environmental change on ecological communities is extinction; certainly, it is the one that has received the most attention from both academic researchers and popular media. This emphasis on extinction makes a great deal of sense, given the urgency of biodiversity loss in the midst of a staggering and ongoing mass extinction event (Cardinale et al., 2012; Ceballos et al., 2015). Yet, in focusing primarily on the presence or absence – or even the abundance – of species, we risk missing important effects of anthropogenic environmental change on ecological communities and ecosystem function that are not wrought by changes to species composition (Tylianakis et al., 2010; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015a).

Recently, in association with surging interest in conceptualizing ecological communities as networks, we have witnessed increased attention to the effects of perturbations not just to species composition but also to the structure of interactions among individuals and populations (McCann, 2007; Tylianakis et al., 2010; McConkey and O'Farrill, 2015; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015a). This work has demonstrated that significant alterations to interaction networks – including both who interacts with whom, and the outcome of those interactions for one or both partners – can occur without changes to species composition, via a number of mechanisms. In

fact, alterations to interaction structure are likely to be more common – and more sensitive to environmental change – than changes to species composition (Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015a). Moreover, such changes to interaction structure have the potential to propagate across the community (Figueroa et al., 2020). And, with or without propagation, interaction shifts have the potential to dramatically alter ecosystem function (McConkey and O'Farrill, 2015). Thus, these phenomena are worthwhile of study in their own right (for their potential consequences on ecosystem function and the provision of ecosystem services), and also may presage changes in species composition.

A framework for understanding effects of environmental change on species interactions

The relative dearth of research on the effects of environmental change on species interactions stems, at least in part, from the difficulty of studying these effects, both empirically and theoretically (Tylianakis et al., 2008a). Detecting the presence/absence or even abundance of a species, while not always straightforward, is generally easier than determining which other species it is interacting with, which in turn is easier than determining the outcome of those interactions (Ballantyne et al., 2015). The complex multidimensionality of ecological communities, in which perturbations can simultaneously directly influence multiple components of the community, with each direct effect in turn initiating knock-on effects that can propagate across the network, makes this a particularly daunting task. And while recent advances in the application of network science to ecology have resulted in powerful new tools for understanding the effects of perturbations on community interaction structure (Kéfi et al., 2016; Delmas et al., 2019), the proximate effect of the perturbation in studies using these tools is generally a change in species composition (Tylianakis and Morris, 2017), and many of these tools rely on

underlying knowledge or assumptions of how species interact with one another that may not hold true under environmental change scenarios (Schleuning et al., 2020). Clearly, a general framework for understanding and predicting the effects of environmental change on interactions would be useful both for crystallizing this phenomenon as a topic of study and for helping to mitigate damage to ecosystem function and the provision of ecosystem services. While I do not think we have the body of data yet to develop such a predictive framework, below I outline a taxonomy for the effects of environmental change on species interactions as a means of organizing the current state of our understanding more clearly (Figure 1.1).

We begin with the proximal effect of the environmental change agent on the ecosystem. I identify three possible categories of effect, noting that simultaneous changes to multiple categories are possible. These categories are 1) changes to landscape composition or configuration [e.g., conversion of a diversified farming landscape to industrial monoculture (Figueroa et al., 2020)], 2) changes to local the local biotic community apart from the species of interest (Smith et al., 2021), and 3) changes to the local physical environment or abiotic conditions [e.g. changes in temperature regime with climate change (van Beest et al., 2012), artificial light at night (Lewanzik and Voigt, 2014), or the presence of physical infrastructure, such as roads (Fitch and Vaidya, 2021)]. A key question is whether each of these effect types are equally likely to cause changes to species interactions.

Focusing in on the interaction(s) of interest, changes to an interaction must in turn stem either from changes to the density or traits of one or more of the interacting organisms. I use the term 'trait' here in its broad sense – as it is used in the literature on trait-mediated indirect interactions (Werner and Peacor, 2003a; Schmitz et al., 2004a; Irwin, 2012) – to include both more stable morphological characteristics and more flexible behavioral traits, while noting the

potential utility of distinguishing between effects on morphology and behavior. As with the proximal ecosystem change, a complication here is that multiple traits and densities may be impacted simultaneously, and/or there may be internal causal links among traits or densities. For example, seed dispersal by flying foxes (*Pteropus tonganus*) depends strongly on high flying fox population density; factors that decrease flying fox density even moderately lead to changes in flying fox behavior (a decrease in aggressive intraspecific interactions) that cause a collapse in seed dispersal (McConkey and Drake, 2006). Thus, a change to the population density of one of the interacting species leads to a trait (behavior) change, which in turn leads to a dramatic change to the interaction outcome (that is, a large reduction in seed dispersal distances).

Despite these complications, this framework has utility in clarifying the multiple pathways by which environmental change may lead to interaction change without species loss. In this dissertation, I present two case studies of how land management practices at multiple scales in agricultural landscapes influence interactions between plants and bees. In the conclusion, I return to the framework outlined above, situating the case studies within this framework and pointing to persistent gaps in our understanding.

Why focus on bee-plant interactions?

Bee-plant interactions are an excellent system within which to study how anthropogenic environmental change impacts interactions for multiple reasons. First, these interactions are likely to be particularly sensitive to environmental change (Waser et al., 1996; Chamberlain et al., 2014). Second, disruption to these interactions has the potential to dramatically affect ecosystem function and the provision of ecosystem services, given bees' key role as pollinators (Heard, 1999; Delaplane and Mayer, 2000; Kremen et al., 2002). Finally, populations of many

bees are in decline, making it particularly important to understand the changes in interaction structure that may presage population declines (Goulson et al., 2015; Reyes-González et al., 2020). Below, I explore each of these topics more fully.

Not all interactions are equally likely to have context-dependent outcomes, and those that are more context-dependent are also more likely to be impacted by anthropogenic environmental change. In a meta-analysis, Chamberlain et al. (2014) found that mutualistic interactions, such as pollination, are more context-dependent than predator-prey or competitive interactions. While not all plant-bee interactions involve pollination, the vast majority do. And many of those that do not, such as nectar robbery, are facultative, such that the same individual, or other individuals of the same species, may act as both pollinator and antagonist, depending on conditions (Irwin et al., 2010). Moreover, many bee species are generalists (Waser et al., 1996) – including those studied in this dissertation; generalists are more likely to interact with a larger number of potential food sources, and are these interactions are more likely to vary with ecological conditions (Gaiarsa et al., 2021).

Bees are ecologically and economically important, acting as essential pollinators of many plants, both wild and crop species (Heard, 1999; Delaplane and Mayer, 2000; Ollerton et al., 2011). As such, changes to the outcome or frequency of their interactions can have profound implications for the maintenance of wild plant populations (Biesmeijer et al., 2006; Carvalheiro et al., 2013) and crop yield (Kremen et al., 2002; Greenleaf and Kremen, 2006). Some bee populations are in decline, with trends of others uncertain (Cameron et al., 2011; Koh et al., 2016). Anthropogenic environmental change – including agricultural intensification – is implicated as a major driver of these declines (Goulson et al., 2015; Koh et al., 2016). These declines are occurring at the same time that the share of agricultural production from animal

pollination-dependent crops is growing (Aizen et al., 2008, 2019), making it increasingly likely that agriculture will face a "pollinator shortage" in the future (Aizen et al., 2008). Better understanding how anthropogenic environmental change alters interactions can help inform management practices to stem population declines. In addition, widespread public concern over the implications of bee decline – principally of the managed honey bee (*Apis mellifera*), but more recently spilling over to wild bees – has, in the past decade, rendered bees conservation icons (Wilson et al. 2017; Hall and Martins 2020; Nicholls et al. 2020). Thus, efforts to better understand the impacts of anthropogenic environmental change on these charismatic organisms has the potential to raise awareness more generally about cryptic effects of anthropogenic environmental change. For all these reasons, improving our understanding how agricultural land management affects bee-plant interactions is of particular importance.

Why focus on coffee agroecosystems?

Agriculture occupies ~40% of the earth's terrestrial surface (FAO 2020), and agricultural conversion and intensification are major drivers of ongoing land use change worldwide, and particularly in the Global South (Song et al., 2018; Winkler et al., 2021). As such, agriculture is implicated as a key driver of biodiversity loss (Maxwell et al., 2016; Wagner, 2020). But the term 'agriculture' encompasses a dizzyingly diverse set of land use practices, and the effects of agriculture on ecological communities depends in complex ways on the type of agriculture being practiced and the biogeophysical conditions of the landscape. Or in not-so-complex ways: industrial agriculture – which, using the logic of industrial production, creates biologically simplified monoculture landscapes, and maintains these landscapes with synthetic inputs to manage soil fertility and the pests that attend monocultures in any biological system – by

definition leads to dramatic reductions in biodiversity, with effects that often extend well beyond the field margin (Hallmann et al., 2017; Grab et al., 2019). The dominance of this kind of agriculture in the Global North, along with the preeminence in conservation narratives of 'slashand-burn' agriculture decimating tropical forests, has contributed to a sense, common among ecologists and conservationists, that agricultural production and biodiversity conservation are antithetical (Phalan et al., 2011; Wilson, 2016).

Yet a growing body of work has pushed back against this notion, highlighting that diverse, high-functioning ecological communities can exist within, be supported by, and in turn support, highly productive agricultural landscapes (Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010; Chappell and LaValle, 2011; Kremen et al., 2012). One of the key concepts to emerge from this work is that of the 'agroecological matrix' (Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010). This framework recognizes that ecology happens not only in habitat fragments but also within farm fields in agricultural landscapes; agricultural and non-agricultural patches interpenetrate, woven together by the movement of organisms, matter, and energy. Management practices and social organization at multiple scales influence the quality of this matrix for human and non-human organisms and ecosystem function. The need to understand how distinct management practices interact with ecological and geophysical conditions within the agroecological matrix to generate positive or negative outcomes for agricultural production, human flourishing, and the maintenance of biodiversity is acute.

Coffee (*Coffea* spp., Rubiaceae) agroecosystems represent a particularly good system within which to investigate these questions. Coffee is one of the most highly-traded commodities in the world, and supports the livelihoods of some 20 million people worldwide, the majority of them smallholder farmers (Donald, 2004). Coffee cultivation is widespread across the tropics,

including in many of the most biodiverse regions of the world. In addition, coffee cultivation practices vary dramatically, with coffee farms ranging from "sun coffee" near-monocultures to "rustic coffee" planted in the understory of near-intact forest (Moguel and Toledo, 1999), with dramatic implications for the ability of these farms to sustain biodiversity (Perfecto et al., 1996; De Beenhouwer et al., 2013). The potential to harmonize coffee cultivation with biodiversity conservation – through management practices summarized under the moniker "shade-grown coffee" – has received considerable academic and public attention (Perfecto et al., 1996; Moguel and Toledo, 1999; Lyon, 2006; Jha et al., 2014; Jimenez-Soto, 2020). Yet we still know relatively little about how farm management practices affect species interactions, particularly as relates to bee-plant interactions and non-crop plants [though see Jha and Dick (2010) for an exception]. This dissertation addresses this gap, reporting on a series of studies conducted in the Soconusco region of Chiapas, Mexico.

Outline of the dissertation

In Chapter 2, I explore how fine-scale variation in management of non-crop plants growing in coffee farms influences coffee pollination (primarily by bees), and evaluate the relative importance of interactions for pollination and interactions for abiotic resources in determining the effects of plant neighborhood at multiple scales and strata – herb layer, shrub layer, and canopy layer – on coffee yield. I show that effects of plant neighborhood on pollination are scale-dependent, but less stratum-dependent than expected. I find that coffee plants generally compete with neighbors for pollination, but that, at least on the farm where the study took place, this does not translate into reduced fertilization, since pollen deposition levels are uniformly very high. I find that interactions for abiotic resources are more important in

determining plant neighborhood effects on coffee yield, with evidence for both competition and facilitation depending on stratum and neighbor identity.

Chapters 3-5 focus on interactions between the non-crop plant firespike (*Odontonema cuspidatum*, Acanthaceae) and nectar-robbing stingless bees (Apidae: Meliponini). In Chapter 3, I investigate the drivers and consequences of a pattern of difference in the intensity of nectar robbery of plants growing in coffee fields vs. forest fragments (plants growing in coffee experience higher levels of nectar robbery). I find that this is due primarily to habitat-based differences in traits – rather than densities – of the plant and nectar-robbing bees. Specifically, firespike plants growing in coffee produced more (and more rewarding) flowers, and bees showed a stronger preference for and higher fidelity to firespike in coffee fields vs. forest fragments.

In Chapter 4, I use a reciprocal translocation experiment to show that these trait differences are driven by differences in light availability between the two habitats. The higher light availability in the coffee fields leads to higher flower number and affects flower morphology, which in turn influences nectar robber behavior. But light also directly influences nectar robber behavior, increasing foraging activity on firespike. Together, Chapters 3 and 4 show that changes to the abiotic environment (i.e. light availability) via alterations to canopy tree density and identity alter the intensity of interaction between plant and floral antagonist.

In Chapter 5, I use the firespike nectar robbery system to develop a conceptual model that provides a novel mechanism that may give rise to pollen limitation in plant populations: adaptive response to conflicting pressures from antagonists and pollinators. I outline expectations for when this mechanism might operate, and use a combination of survey data and a field experiment to illustrate that it is likely operating in firespike. This work highlights the

importance of considering interactions beyond the plant-pollinator dyad in developing hypotheses for the ubiquity of pollen limitation, and presents a mechanism that may operate commonly in populations where flowers experience antagonist damage.

In the concluding Chapter 6, I situate the findings reported in Chapters 2-5 within the

framework presented above, and use these examples to point to general conclusions and

highlight areas where further research is needed.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aizen, M. A., S. Aguiar, J. C. Biesmeijer, L. A. Garibaldi, D. W. Inouye, C. Jung, D. J. Martins, et al. 2019. Global agricultural productivity is threatened by increasing pollinator dependence without a parallel increase in crop diversification. *Global Change Biology* 25: 3516–3527.
- Aizen, M. A., L. A. Garibaldi, S. A. Cunningham, and A. M. Klein. 2008. Long-Term Global Trends in Crop Yield and Production Reveal No Current Pollination Shortage but Increasing Pollinator Dependency. *Current Biology* 18: 1572–1575.
- Ballantyne, G., K. C. R. Baldock, and P. G. Willmer. 2015. Constructing more informative plant–pollinator networks: visitation and pollen deposition networks in a heathland plant community. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282: 20151130.
- van Beest, F. M., B. Van Moorter, and J. M. Milner. 2012. Temperature-mediated habitat use and selection by a heat-sensitive northern ungulate. *Animal Behaviour* 84: 723–735.
- Biesmeijer, J., S. Roberts, and M. Reemer. 2006. Parallel declines in pollinators and insectpollinated plants in Britain and the Netherlands. *Science* 313: 351–354.
- Cameron, S. A., J. D. Lozier, J. P. Strange, J. B. Koch, N. Cordes, L. F. Solter, and T. L. Griswold. 2011. Patterns of widespread decline in North American bumble bees. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108: 662–667.
- Cardinale, B. J., J. E. Duffy, A. Gonzalez, D. U. Hooper, C. Perrings, P. Venail, A. Narwani, et al. 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature* 486: 59–67.
- Carvalheiro, L. G., W. E. Kunin, P. Keil, J. Aguirre-Gutiérrez, W. N. Ellis, R. Fox, Q. Groom, et al. 2013. Species richness declines and biotic homogenisation have slowed down for NW-European pollinators and plants. *Ecology Letters* 16: 870–878.

- Ceballos, G., P. R. Ehrlich, A. D. Barnosky, A. García, R. M. Pringle, and T. M. Palmer. 2015. Accelerated modern human–induced species losses: Entering the sixth mass extinction. *Science Advances* 1: e1400253.
- Chamberlain, S. A., J. L. Bronstein, and J. A. Rudgers. 2014. How context dependent are species interactions? *Ecology Letters* 17: 881–890.
- Chappell, J. M., and L. A. LaValle. 2011. Food security and biodiversity: can we have both? An agroecological analysis. *Agriculture and Human Values* 28: 3–26.
- De Beenhouwer, M., R. Aerts, and O. Honnay. 2013. A global meta-analysis of the biodiversity and ecosystem service benefits of coffee and cacao agroforestry. *Agriculture, Ecosystems* & Environment 175: 1–7.
- Delaplane, K. S., and D. R. Mayer. 2000. Crop pollination by bees. CAB International.
- Delmas, E., M. Besson, M.-H. Brice, L. A. Burkle, G. V. D. Riva, M.-J. Fortin, D. Gravel, et al. 2019. Analysing ecological networks of species interactions. *Biological Reviews* 94: 16– 36.
- Donald, P. F. 2004. Biodiversity impacts of some agricultural commodity production systems. *Conservation Biology* 18: 17–37.
- Figueroa, L. L., H. Grab, W. H. Ng, C. R. Myers, P. Graystock, Q. S. McFrederick, and S. H. McArt. 2020. Landscape simplification shapes pathogen prevalence in plant-pollinator networks. *Ecology Letters* 23: 1212–1222.
- Fitch, G., and C. Vaidya. 2021. Roads pose a significant barrier to bee movement, mediated by road size, traffic and bee identity. *Journal of Applied Ecology*.
- Gaiarsa, M. P., C. Kremen, and L. C. Ponisio. 2021. Pollinator interaction flexibility across scales affects patch colonization and occupancy. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*: 1–7.
- Goulson, D., E. Nicholls, C. Botías, and E. L. Rotheray. 2015. Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. *Science* 347: 1255957.
- Grab, H., M. G. Branstetter, N. Amon, K. R. Urban-Mead, M. G. Park, J. Gibbs, E. J. Blitzer, et al. 2019. Agriculturally dominated landscapes reduce bee phylogenetic diversity and pollination services. *Science* 363: 282–284.
- Greenleaf, S. S., and C. Kremen. 2006. Wild bees enhance honey bees' pollination of hybrid sunflower. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103: 13890–5.
- Hallmann, C. A., M. Sorg, E. Jongejans, H. Siepel, N. Hofland, H. Schwan, W. Stenmans, et al. 2017. More than 75 percent decline over 27 years in total flying insect biomass in protected areas. *PLOS ONE* 12: e0185809.

- Heard, T. A. 1999. The role of stingless bees in crop pollination. *Annual Review of Entomology* 44: 183–206.
- Irwin, R. E. 2012. The role of trait-mediated indirect interactions for multispecies plant-animal mutualisms. Trait-Mediated Indirect Interactions: Ecological and Evolutionary Perspectives, 257–277.
- Irwin, R. E., J. L. Bronstein, J. S. Manson, and L. Richardson. 2010. Nectar robbing: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 41: 271–292.
- Jha, S., C. M. Bacon, S. M. Philpott, V. Ernesto Méndez, P. L\u00e4derach, and R. A. Rice. 2014. Shade Coffee: Update on a Disappearing Refuge for Biodiversity. *BioScience* 64: 416–428.
- Jha, S., and C. W. Dick. 2010. Native bees mediate long-distance pollen dispersal in a shade coffee landscape mosaic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107: 13760– 13764.
- Jimenez-Soto, E. 2020. The political ecology of shaded coffee plantations: conservation narratives and the everyday-lived-experience of farmworkers. *The Journal of Peasant Studies* 0: 1–20.
- Kéfi, S., V. Miele, E. A. Wieters, S. A. Navarrete, and E. L. Berlow. 2016. How structured Is the entangled bank? The surprisingly simple organization of multiplex ecological networks leads to increased persistence and resilience. *PLOS Biology* 14: e1002527.
- Koh, I., E. V. Lonsdorf, N. M. Williams, C. Brittain, R. Isaacs, J. Gibbs, and T. H. Ricketts. 2016. Modeling the status, trends, and impacts of wild bee abundance in the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113: 140–145.
- Kremen, C., A. Iles, and C. Bacon. 2012. Diversified farming systems: An agroecological, systems-based alternative to modern industrial agriculture. *Ecology and Society* 17: 1–19.
- Kremen, C., N. M. Williams, and R. W. Thorp. 2002. Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agricultural intensification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 99: 16812–16816.
- Lewanzik, D., and C. C. Voigt. 2014. Artificial light puts ecosystem services of frugivorous bats at risk. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 51: 388–394.
- Lyon, S. 2013. Coffee Tourism in Chiapas: Recasting Colonial Narratives for Contemporary Markets. *Culture, Agriculture, Food and Environment* 35: 125–139.
- Lyon, S. 2006. Migratory imaginations: The commodification and contradictions of shade grown coffee ¹. *Social Anthropology* 14: 377–390.

- Maxwell, S. L., R. A. Fuller, T. M. Brooks, and J. E. M. Watson. 2016. Biodiversity: The ravages of guns, nets and bulldozers. *Nature* 536: 143–145.
- McCann, K. 2007. Protecting biostructure. Nature 446: 29.
- McConkey, K. R., and D. R. Drake. 2006. Flying Foxes Cease to Function as Seed Dispersers Long Before They Become Rare. *Ecology* 87: 271–276.
- McConkey, K. R., and G. O'Farrill. 2015. Cryptic function loss in animal populations. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 30: 182–189.
- Moguel, P., and V. M. Toledo. 1999. Biodiversity conservation in traditional coffee systems of Mexico. *Conservation Biology* 13: 11–21.
- Oliver, T. H., M. S. Heard, N. J. B. Isaac, D. B. Roy, D. Procter, F. Eigenbrod, R. Freckleton, et al. 2015. Biodiversity and resilience of ecosystem functions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 30: 673–684.
- Oliver, T. H., N. J. B. Isaac, T. A. August, B. A. Woodcock, D. B. Roy, and J. M. Bullock. 2015. Declining resilience of ecosystem functions under biodiversity loss. *Nature Communications* 6: 10122.
- Ollerton, J., R. Winfree, and S. Tarrant. 2011. How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? *Oikos* 120: 321–326.
- Perfecto, I., R. Rice, and R. Greenberg. 1996. Shade coffee: a disappearing refuge for biodiversity. *BioScience* 46: 598–608.
- Perfecto, I., and J. Vandermeer. 2010. The agroecological matrix as alternative to the landsparing/agriculture intensification model. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107: 5786–91.
- Phalan, B., M. Onial, A. Balmford, and R. E. Green. 2011. Reconciling Food Production and Biodiversity Conservation: Land Sharing and Land Sparing Compared. *Science* 333: 1289–1291.
- Reyes-González, A., A. Camou-Guerrero, E. del-Val, M. I. Ramírez, and L. Porter-Bolland.
 2020. Biocultural Diversity Loss: the Decline of Native Stingless Bees (Apidae: Meliponini) and Local Ecological Knowledge in Michoacán, Western México. *Human Ecology*.
- Schmitz, O. J., V. Krivan, and O. Ovadia. 2004. Trophic cascades: the primacy of trait-mediated indirect interactions. *Ecology Letters* 7: 153–163.
- Smith, J. G., J. Tomoleoni, M. Staedler, S. Lyon, J. Fujii, and M. T. Tinker. 2021. Behavioral responses across a mosaic of ecosystem states restructure a sea otter–urchin trophic cascade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118.

- Song, X.-P., M. C. Hansen, S. V. Stehman, P. V. Potapov, A. Tyukavina, E. F. Vermote, and J. R. Townshend. 2018. Global land change from 1982 to 2016. *Nature* 560: 639–643.
- Tylianakis, J. M., R. K. Didham, J. Bascompte, and D. a. Wardle. 2008. Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11: 1351–1363.
- Tylianakis, J. M., E. Laliberté, A. Nielsen, and J. Bascompte. 2010. Conservation of species interaction networks. *Biological Conservation* 143: 2270–2279.
- Tylianakis, J. M., and R. J. Morris. 2017. Ecological Networks Across Environmental Gradients. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48: 25–48.
- Valiente-Banuet, A., M. A. Aizen, J. M. Alcántara, J. Arroyo, A. Cocucci, M. Galetti, M. B. García, et al. 2015. Beyond species loss: The extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology* 29: 299–307.
- Wagner, D. L. 2020. Insect Declines in the Anthropocene. *Annual Review of Entomology* 65: 23.1-23.24.
- Waser, N. M., L. Chittka, M. V. Price, N. M. Williams, and J. Ollerton. 1996. Generalization in pollination systems, and why it matters. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 77: 1043–1060.
- Werner, E. E., and S. D. Peacor. 2003. A review of trait-mediated indirect interactions in ecological communities. *Ecology* 84: 1083–1100.
- Wilson, E. O. 2016. Half-earth: our planet's fight for life. WW Norton & Company, New York.
- Winfree, R., R. Aguilar, D. P. Vázquez, G. LeBuhn, and M. A. Aizen. 2009. A meta-analysis of bees' responses to anthropogenic disturbance. *Ecology* 90: 2068–2076.
- Winkler, K., R. Fuchs, M. Rounsevell, and M. Herold. 2021. Global land use changes are four times greater than previously estimated. *Nature Communications* 12: 2501.

FIGURE

Figure 1.1. A conceptual framework for understanding how anthropogenic environmental change leads to the alteration of an interaction (interaction frequency or outcome) without species loss. Arrows indicate causal pathways; dashed lines distinguish morphological and behavioral traits.



Chapter 2

Integrating Interactions for Pollination and for Abiotic Resources to Understand Neighbor Effects on a Mass-blooming Crop in a Complex Agroforest¹

ABSTRACT

Animal-pollinated plants interact with neighboring plants for both abiotic resources and pollination, with strong consequences for plant reproduction and crop yield. Yet few studies have compared the relative magnitude of these effects, particularly in agroecosystems. Moreover, in vertically-stratified communities, such as agroforestry systems, neighbor effects may be stratumdependent. Understanding the net effects of neighbors on crop yield is of crucial importance in managing multifunctional agroecosystems that can simultaneously support production of multiple products and biodiversity. This study evaluated the effects of neighboring plants on pollen deposition, fertilization, and fruit set in Coffea arabica in a shaded organic coffee farm with high non-crop plant abundance and diversity in Chiapas, Mexico. We separately considered the effects of neighbors at two spatial scales and in three strata (herbs, shrubs, and canopy trees). We found evidence for competition for pollination with neighboring conspecifics and heterospecifics across scales and strata, primarily via reduction in pollination quantity. Pollen load influenced final fruit set, but the resulting effect of neighbor interactions for shared pollinators was weaker than effects mediated by interaction for abiotic resources. Effects of interactions for abiotic resources were heterogeneous across strata, with weak negative effects of

¹ Co-authors are: Gonzalez, J., Oana, A.M., Oliver, M., and Vandermeer, J.

herb-layer flower density but net positive effects of canopy trees on final fruit set. Our results indicate surprisingly weak effects of neighbor interactions on coffee yield. Promisingly, this suggests that coffee agroecosystems can be managed in ways that maintain high plant density and diversity, supporting diversity in both on-farm production and associated biotic communities.

INTRODUCTION

Organisms often interact with one another for access to multiple resources. But ecologists commonly focus on only a single interaction type at a time; studies integrating the effects of multiple interaction types are less common. Plants, for example, frequently compete with neighbors for light, water, and soil nutrients, often with profound effects on growth and population dynamics of wild plants (Goldberg and Barton, 1992; Gurevitch et al., 1992; Soliveres et al., 2015) and yields of crop plants (Njoroge, 1994; Oerke, 2006). At the same time, co-flowering plants interact via shared pollinators, with outcomes ranging from mutually detrimental to mutually beneficial (Rathcke, 1983a; Mitchell et al., 2009; Braun and Lortie, 2019). Moreover, there may be complex feedbacks between interaction types, since the availability of abiotic resources – influenced by neighbors – can impact floral traits and pollinator attraction (Carroll et al., 2001; Prado et al., 2019; Fitch and Vandermeer, 2020). Fully understanding the net effect of neighbors on plant fitness and, in agricultural systems, crop yield therefore requires integrating multiple interaction types. Yet, while interactions for shared abiotic resources and interactions for shared pollinators have each received significant attention in isolation, studies integrating them are far less common (Underwood et al., 2014).

Multiple features of interactions for shared pollinators compound the challenge of synthesizing neighbor effects across interaction types. First, co-flowering plants can affect both the quantity of pollination [influencing the number of visits a plant receives (Brown et al., 2002)] and the quality of pollination [increasing heterospecific pollen deposition and/or decreasing pervisit conspecific pollen deposition (Morales and Traveset, 2008)]; determining the relative importance of these is not straightforward (Ashman et al., 2020). Second, while interactions for shared abiotic resources generally occur only between immediate neighbors, interactions for pollination can occur over larger spatial scales (Mitchell et al., 2009; Braun and Lortie, 2019), with potentially contrasting effects of neighbors at different scales (Albor et al., 2019). As a result, it can be difficult to identify the effect of a particular neighbor or ascribe an observed effect to specific neighbors.

To date, most of the research on interactions for shared pollinators has focused on forbs in semi-natural meadow-type habitats (Braun and Lortie, 2019), where flowers tend to occur in a single stratum of vertical space. In habitats with greater stratification, neighbor effects on pollination may be stratum-specific, but this has received scant attention. Moreover, few studies have investigated interactions for shared pollinators in crop systems (Klein et al., 2008; Badillo-Montaño et al., 2019). The low diversity of conventional agroecosystems may ameliorate neighbor effects on pollination (Albor et al., 2019), but rising interest in agricultural practices that increase in-field plant diversity – including intercropping, hedgerows and wildflower strips, and reduced herbicide treatment – may increase the importance of neighborhood effects on crop pollination.

Coffee (*Coffea* spp.; Rubiaceae) is one crop whose management often supports high noncrop flowering plant diversity at multiple strata. The well-documented ability of coffee farms to

support high biodiversity depends on management practices that maintain within-field non-crop plant diversity (Perfecto et al., 1996; De Beenhouwer et al., 2013), setting the stage for complex effects of plant neighborhood. But the crop's reproductive biology may reduce the impact of neighbor interactions for pollination in two ways. First, highland coffee (*Coffea arabica*) is selfcompatible and generally not pollen limited (Prado et al., 2018). Thus, even if floral neighborhood influences pollination, its effects on yield may be small. Second, coffee is massblooming, with strong temporal synchrony in bloom time across plants within a region. High conspecific density may increase floral fidelity by pollinators (Duffy and Stout, 2011), reducing the effects of heterospecific neighbors.

Improved understanding of the integrated effects of neighbors on coffee yield can inform sound management practices that balance yield with biodiversity maintenance. This is particularly important as coffee farmers across the globe confront uncertainty from the compounded effects of climate change, emerging pests, and market volatility (Eakin et al., 2005). Coffee farms in our study region are addressing this uncertainty by diversifying income streams through the promotion of ecotourism and/or the cultivation of secondary crops, both of which necessitate within-field plant diversity.

In this study, we examined how plant neighborhood at two scales (2m x 2m and 2m x 20m) influences pollination and yield in coffee, asking whether co-flowering neighbors have a facilitative or competitive effect on pollen deposition and pollen tube formation (a measure of fertilization) in coffee. We then used path analysis to determine the relative importance of interactions for shared pollinators and interactions for abiotic resources to the net effect of neighboring plants on coffee yield. For both types of interactions, we asked whether the impact of neighbors is mediated by the strata in which they occur (herb, shrub, or canopy layer).

We expected that co-flowering conspecific density would be positively related to coffee pollen load, while heterospecific flower density would reduce coffee pollen load, indicating competition for pollination with heterospecifics (see Figure 2.1 for a diagram of hypotheses). We predicted that co-flowering canopy trees (which are generally >3m above the height of coffee plants) would reduce pollination quantity, leading to lower total stigma pollen loads. Co-flowering forbs are less spatially separated from coffee flowers, so we anticipated more pollinator switching, leading to reductions in both pollination quantity and quality (decreased coffee pollen and increased heterospecific pollen). We expected coffee pollen load to positively influence pollen tube number, while heterospecific pollen would reduce pollen tube number via stigma clogging. We expected pollen tube number to independently influence both initial and final fruit set, thus linking pollen receipt to coffee yield. However, because *C. arabica* is not pollen-limited, we thought interactions for abiotic resources would be more important in determining the net effect of neighbors, with resource competition leading to negative effects of conspecific and heterospecific density.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study system

Research took place in Finca Irlanda (15.17358 -92.33827), a ca. 300-ha shaded organic coffee farm in SE Chiapas, Mexico. *Coffea arabica* mass blooms occur during the dry season and are generally initiated after a rain; individual plants generally bloom 2-4 times per year in the study region (Philpott et al., 2006). This research occurred during two mass-bloom events, one 19-24 Feb and another 6-10 Mar 2018.

The understory of Finca Irlanda consists of a spatially heterogeneous assemblage of herbaceous plants, most of which, like coffee, bloom during the dry season. Dominant herbs include Asteraceae spp., Commelinaceae spp., and grasses in the genus *Oplismenus*. Herbs are controlled by periodic cutting with machete. The frequency of cutting depends on labor availability and site accessibility; most sites are cut several times per year (G. Fitch personal observation), resulting in a mosaic of plants at varying stages of regrowth. Combined with underlying variation in species composition, this generates high spatial heterogeneity in floral abundance (Figure A.1). Shade trees represent another important source of floral resources; spatial variation in species composition of the shade layer across the farm further contributes to floral resource heterogeneity. Shade tree diversity is high, with >100 species present, but the majority (~60%) are *Inga* spp. (J. Vandermeer unpublished data). The farm does not use synthetic fertilizer, relying on compost made onsite to maintain soil fertility. Soil nutrient levels strongly influence coffee plant vigor on the farm (Gonthier et al., 2013).

Data collection

During the first mass bloom, we established 21 20 m x 2 m transects, following the orientation of coffee rows. Transects were chosen to represent the full range of floral densities present on the farm, and were >50 m apart (range: 54 m - 2250 m).

Within each transect, we selected three focal coffee plants. Focal plants had plentiful open flowers, were separated from one another by >1 m, and were distributed across the length of the transect. From each focal plant we collected the carpel from three haphazardly selected flowers from the outermost node of three branches; carpels were stored in 95% ethanol. For each focal plant, we measured its height; noted its location along the transect; and assessed canopy

cover above its crown using CanopyApp 1.0.3 (University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH USA). We also selected a fourth branch from each focal plant to monitor fruit set. On the focal branch, we counted open flowers and buds that would open in that bloom event, starting with the outermost node, until we reached at least 30 open flowers (except in two cases where no available branch had \geq 30 open flowers). Focal branches were marked with flagging tape.

To assess floral resource availability, we counted and identified to morphospecies all flowers within the transect at 1 m intervals. For the most abundant species, flower number was estimated by extrapolating from counts of a representative 2 m x 2 m section of the transect (for herbaceous species) or a fraction of the total area covered in flowers (for canopy species).

We hypothesized that proximity to an apiary would increase honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) visitation rates and pollen deposition, so we calculated the minimum distance between apiary and transect for each transect (range: 27–594 m).

During the second mass bloom, we resurveyed 12 transects. Transects for resurveying were chosen to represent one of the following three categories (four per category): high flower density (>25 flowers m⁻²) during both mass blooms, high floral density during the first bloom/low floral density (\leq 25 flowers m⁻²) in the second bloom, and low floral density during both mass blooms (no sites had low density in the first bloom/high in the second). We used the same protocol for resurveys, selecting flowers from the same focal plants, but different branches, for collecting flowers and assessing fruit set.

In June 2018, we resurveyed focal branches for initial fruit set. For each branch we counted the number of developing fruits on the same section of branch where we had tallied flower number. To calculate initial fruit set, we divided the number of developing fruits by the number of open flowers and large buds tallied in Feb-Mar.

Once coffee fruit began to ripen in Oct 2018, we surveyed all plants every 2-3 weeks. At each survey, ripe fruit on focal branches were counted, collected, and weighed. Collection continued until early Dec 2018, when no focal branches retained fruit. Final fruit set was calculated as for initial fruit set, using the total number of fruits harvested. We also calculated the proportion of fruits reaching maturation by dividing the number of harvested fruits by the number of developing fruits. Initial fruit set is strongly related to pollination levels, but plants – including coffee – frequently abort developing fruits that they cannot adequately provision (Stephenson, 1981; Bos et al., 2007), so final fruit set is the product of an interplay between pollination and resource availability, and is often substantially lower than initial fruit set (Bos et al., 2007). In coffee, micronutrient deficiency is a key driver of premature fruit abscission (DaMatta et al., 2007), with water stress also playing a role (Lin, 2009).

In the lab, coffee carpels were transferred to NaOH and left for 24h to soften. After softening, carpels were rinsed in water and transferred to a microscope slide, stained with a drop of decolorized aniline blue solution (Kearns and Inouye, 1993), and squashed. Using a UV fluorescent microscope, pollen tubes were counted at the base of the style, and the number of conspecific and heterospecific pollen grains were counted on one randomly chosen stigma lobe. Pollen grains were distinguished as coffee or non-coffee using a reference collection of pollen collected from flowers at the field site.

Data analysis

All analyses were conducted using R v.4.0.2 (R Core Team, 2020). To test whether there was spatial autocorrelation in any measure of pollination, yield, or neighborhood, we calculated Moran's I autocorrelation coefficient for each variable and compared this to the null expectation
of no autocorrelation, using the R package `ape` (Paradis and Schliep, 2019). In all cases, p > 0.1, indicating no spatial autocorrelation (Table A.1).

We compared measures of floral neighborhood, stigma pollen load, pollen tube number, and yield between mass bloom events for sites that were surveyed during both blooms, using paired t-tests (on plant-level means where we had >1 measurement per plant). A paired t-test was also used to compare initial and final fruit set. To test whether floral neighborhood density mediated the difference in pollen deposition between mass blooms, we analyzed how coffee pollen load differed between blooms for each neighborhood floral density comparison category (high/high, high/low, low/low) using ANOVA.

We used piecewise structural equation modeling (SEM) to examine the effect of neighborhood on conspecific and heterospecific stigma pollen load, pollen tube formation, initial fruit set, and final fruit set. We constructed two SEM models, one for the effect of the transect-scale neighborhood on pollination and another for the effect of local 2m x 2m neighborhood on pollination and yield, since different neighborhood scales may affect pollination differently, while interactions for abiotic resources occur only with immediate neighbors. We included coffee plant height (a proxy for age), distance to nearest apiary, and mass bloom event as additional predictors in the maximal model, but removed them if they did not improve model fit, as evaluated by AIC. Using the `lme()` function from package `nlme` (Pinheiro et al., 2020), we constructed linear mixed-effects models describing the hypothesized relationships between these variables. We combined these submodels in a SEM using the `psem()` function from `piecewiseSEM` (Lefcheck, 2016). All submodels included site as a random effect. Coffee pollen load was log₁₀-transformed to achieve normality.

To evaluate SEM fit, we used Fisher's C and a chi-squared test comparing the hypothesized model to a null model. We examined tests of directed separation to determine if our initial model had omitted significant, biologically plausible relationships, and updated the model to include these where necessary (the only such relationship linked coffee pollen load to final fruit set).

RESULTS

We found very high levels of coffee pollen and low levels of heterospecific pollen on coffee stigma surfaces (Table A.2); 35% of stigmas had no heterospecific pollen. Coffee pollen load and pollen tube formation differed substantially among flowers within a single plant and among plants within a site (Figure A.2). Heterospecific and conspecific neighborhood floral density both varied across sites (Table A.2). Final fruit set was significantly smaller than initial fruit set (t = 11.0, df = 81, p < 0.001).

At sites that were sampled during both mass blooms, coffee flower density was significantly higher in the second mass bloom (Figure 2.2). This likely led to a dilution of pollinators, since, for plants that were sampled during both mass blooms, pollen loads were significantly higher in the first mass bloom (Figure 2.2). However, heterospecific floral density modified the difference in pollen load between mass blooms (Figure 2.2). In plants with similar neighborhood floral densities during both blooms, coffee pollen load was lower in the second mass bloom, indicating intraspecific competition for pollination. But for plants where heterospecific floral density was higher in the first mass bloom, coffee pollen load trended higher in the second mass bloom (Figure 2.2), indicating reduced interspecific competition for pollinator visits. Despite differences in pollen deposition, neither pollen tube number (t = 0.30, df

= 32, p = 0.76) nor initial (t = 0.73, df = 24, p = 0.47) or final fruit set (t = 1.48, df = 24, p = 0.15) differed between mass blooms.

Results from SEM, discussed below, are summarized in Figure 2.3 and Table 2.1. Both our 2m x 2m-scale model of neighborhood effects on pollination and yield and our transect-scale model of neighbor effects only on pollination provided good fit to the data (2m x 2m-scale: Fisher's C = 36.5, df = 40, p = 0.6; transect-scale: Fisher's C = 15.4, df = 12, p = 0.2).

Neighborhood floral density reduced coffee pollen load, indicating competition for pollination, though the strength of this effect was scale- and stratum-specific. At the transect scale, higher density of heterospecific flowers in both herb and canopy layers significantly reduced coffee pollen load, but there was no effect of coffee flower density (Figure 2.4A-C). By contrast, at the 2m x 2m scale, coffee flower density significantly decreased coffee pollen load; the effect of conspecific density trended negative at this scale, but was small and nonsignificant for both strata (Figure 2.4D-F). Neighborhood floral density did not significantly influence heterospecific pollen load, regardless of scale or stratum (Table 2.1). Distance to the nearest apiary did not influence pollen load (Table A.3).

Neither conspecific nor heterospecific pollen load predicted pollen tube formation, and pollen tube number was not correlated with initial fruit set (Figure 2.4G-H, Table 2.1), indicating that pollen receipt did not limit fertilization or yield. As expected, given that initial fruit set tends to reflect fertilization rather than resource availability, we found no effect of neighbors on initial fruit set. Focal plant height did not influence fruit set (Table A.3).

Initial fruit set strongly predicted final fruit set. Neither conspecific density nor flowering herb density influenced final fruit set (Figure 2.4J-K), indicating minimal effects of resource competition with neighbors in these strata. Canopy trees did influence final fruit set, but in

complicated ways that suggest a role for both facilitation and competition. We observed a strong positive effect of canopy cover on final fruit set, with a weaker negative effect of canopy-layer flower density (Figure 2.4I,L). The positive relationship between canopy cover and final fruit set was not a result of shaded plants producing fewer flowers, since there was no relationship between focal plant flower number and canopy cover ($R^2 = 0.0$, $F_{1,99} = 0.34$, p = 0.6)

Unexpectedly, we found a positive effect of coffee pollen load on final fruit set (Figure 2.4M) and a negative effect of pollen tube number on final fruit set (Figure 2.4N). Per-fruit weight was strongly related to initial fruit set, but was not affected by any measure of floral neighborhood or pollination.

Via the influence of pollen load on final fruit set, competition for pollination ultimately affected yield, despite the lack of connection between pollen load and pollen tube formation. Since we found no evidence of competition for abiotic resources with either conspecifics or flowering forbs, neighbors in these two strata affected coffee yield only via competition for pollination. But these effects, along with the effects of competition for pollination with canopy trees, were small compared to the effects of interaction with canopy trees for abiotic resources. Considering all interaction pathways, there was a small net competitive effect of both conspecific density and flowering forb density on fruit set, but a net facilitative effect of canopy trees, via the positive influence of canopy cover.

DISCUSSION

This study provides one of the first estimates of the net effect of plant neighborhood on crop production in a complex agroforest. Our results demonstrate that interactions for both

pollination and abiotic resources influence coffee yield, with interaction for abiotic resources having a greater effect.

Neighbor interactions for pollination

Coffee competed for pollination with co-flowering neighbors, both conspecific and heterospecific. Regardless of neighbor identity, this competitive effect was likely driven by reductions in pollinator visitation frequency, since neighborhood floral density reduced coffee pollen load without affecting heterospecific pollen load. At first glance, our finding that coffee experiences competition for pollination contrasts with the results of (Prado et al., 2021), who found no effect of floral neighborhood on the proportion of coffee pollen carried by foraging honey bees. But if neighbors primarily influenced pollination by reducing visit frequency, these findings are not in conflict. Rather, assuming bee pollen load or foraging rate do not scale linearly with coffee flower density, a constant proportion of coffee pollen in bees' pollen loads across floral densities would lead to reductions in coffee pollen deposition on flowers in denser neighborhoods. Overall, we found strikingly little heterospecific pollen on coffee stigmas, indicating high floral fidelity within a foraging bout.

The magnitude and significance of neighbor effects on pollen deposition depended on both the scale and stratum considered. At the smaller 2m x 2m scale, only coffee flower density significantly predicted pollen load, suggesting a classic dilution effect whereby, within a foraging bout, there is a maximum number of flowers a pollinator will visit regardless of local floral density; increases in floral density thus decrease per-flower visits. At the transect scale, by contrast, heterospecific floral densities were important predictors of coffee pollen load, suggesting a 'magnet effect' (Laverty, 1992) where high heterospecific floral densities draw foraging insects away from the focal plant. The lack of an effect of either herb- or canopy-layer

flower density on heterospecific pollen load indicates that neighbors at all strata primarily affect pollination quantity rather than quality. This in turn suggests that, even in complex, multi-layered agroforestry systems, co-flowering neighbors can be considered in aggregate, rather than separating by stratum, in determining their likely effect on pollination of a focal plant.

Floral neighborhood, however, explained a small amount of the overall variance in coffee stigma pollen load, and even less of the variance in heterospecific pollen. Moreover, there was high variability in pollen load even among flowers from the same plant. *Coffea arabica* is capable of self-pollination, and it may be that flowers vary in the amount of pollen they produce, which in turn affects stigma pollen load. Understanding the degree of variability in pollen production both among flowers within a plant and among plants – and the drivers of this variability – requires further study.

Despite reducing stigma pollen load, co-flowering neighbors had no effect on fertilization, since stigma pollen load did not predict pollen tube number, and, in turn, pollen tube number did not predict initial fruit set. This is perhaps not surprising, given 1) the very high levels of coffee pollen found on all stigmas surveyed and 2) that coffee flowers generally contain only two ovules, making full pollination possible with little pollen.

While we found no link between pollen load and either pollen tube formation or initial fruit set, the direct, positive effect of coffee pollen load on final fruit set provides a link between neighbor effects on pollination and yield. This link suggests that coffee plants respond to information about pollen load in determining how to allocate limited resources for fruit maturation – a common phenomenon (Stephenson, 1981; Winsor et al., 1987), presumably because stigma pollen load reliably predicts offspring vigor (Mitchell, 1997). A commonly-invoked mechanism linking pollen load to offspring vigor is increased pollen tube competition

(Mulcahy, 1971; Niesenbaum and Casper, 1994). It is surprising, then, that we find a negative effect of pollen tube number on final fruit set. It may be that large numbers of pollen tubes clog the style, reducing fertilization and increasing the likelihood of fruit abortion (Young and Young, 1992); but see (Niesenbaum and Casper, 1994), while large pollen loads increase the likelihood of receiving particularly vigorous pollen grains that can rapidly fertilize ovaries (Mulcahy, 1971). However, our measures of fruit set did not include the particular flowers from which we collected data on pollen load and pollen tube formation. With high levels of variation in pollen load and pollen tube formation even among flowers within a single plant, we cannot assume that the flowers assessed for fruit set experienced equivalent pollination to the flowers we harvested. The positive correlation between coffee pollen load and final fruit set may alternatively reflect underlying differences in plant vigor, with plants that are able to put more resources towards developing fruit – leading to high fruit set – also producing more pollen per flower, which translates to high stigma pollen load via self-pollination. Further investigation is needed into the processes underlying fertilization and fruit development in coffee before we can conclusively determine what causes the correlation between final fruit set and pollen load and pollen tube formation.

Neighbor interactions for abiotic resources

Given the large difference between initial and final fruit set, we were surprised to find no evidence for competition for abiotic resource with neighboring conspecifics or flowering herbs. The lack of influence of conspecifics may reflect the relatively low planting density on this farm, which at ~2400 coffee plants ha⁻² is only about half that recommended for optimal yield (DaMatta et al., 2007). Meanwhile, evidence for negative effects of herbaceous weeds on coffee

yield are mixed, with some work indicating that weeds primarily affect coffee seedling growth and have little effect on mature plants (Ronchi and Silva, 2006). Given that we did not assess herbaceous plant density *per se* – which is uniformly high across the farm (G. Fitch personal observation) – but rather forb flower density, it may be that we missed the signal of competitive interactions with herbaceous plants. At the very least, our results suggest a weak effect of herbs on coffee yield.

The observed positive effect of canopy cover on final fruit set is consistent with several other studies finding higher coffee fruit set in shaded vs. unshaded farms (Lin, 2009; Prado et al., 2018), despite experimental evidence that shading reduces yield (Campanha et al., 2004). This may be due to beneficial effects of shade trees on soil moisture, soil nutrients, or both. Lin (2009) found that fruit abortion in coffee was negatively correlated with soil moisture levels, which in turn were positively correlated with canopy shading. At the same time, canopy trees are an important source of nutrients in low-intensity coffee cultivation via leaf litter production (Beer et al., 1997), and reduce nitrogen leaching (Tully et al., 2012). The canopy of Finca Irlanda is dominated by *Inga* spp. (Fabaceae), which are fast-growing N-fixers that are frequently pruned, potentially accelerating the transfer of nutrients from canopy trees to soil. Further research is needed to tease apart the relative importance of canopy trees' influence on soil moisture and soil nutrients for supporting high coffee yields.

The negative effect of canopy flower density on final fruit set likely represents competition for soil nutrients with a small number of tree species [especially *Roseodendron donnell-smithii* (Bignoniaceae), 58% of canopy-layer flowers in the 2m x 2m neighborhood, and *Schizolobium parahyba* (Fabaceae), 35%]. Like coffee, these species are mass-blooming, and produce large-seeded fruit which take several months to mature. Thus, resource needs – and

consequently soil nutrient uptake rates – of these species are synchronous with those of coffee, leading to competitive effects despite the facilitative effect of canopy cover overall.

What is the relative importance of interactions for pollination vs. abiotic resources?

Pollination-mediated effects of neighbors on coffee yield were smaller than abioticresource-mediated effects. Our results suggest that while neighbors can be considered in aggregate to determine pollinator-mediated effects, the effect of interactions for abiotic resources differ substantially across strata. While we found weak evidence for resource competition with herb-layer neighbors, we found neighboring canopy trees to have a net facilitative effect on fruit set. The positive effect of canopy trees occurred despite evidence for competition with two coflowering, mass-blooming canopy species. However, the positive effect of canopy trees on branch-level fruit set is unlikely to scale up to the economically-relevant farm scale, since the presence of canopy trees necessitates reduction in coffee plant density.

Management implications

Our results indicate that tradeoffs between coffee yield and non-crop flowering plant density and diversity are weaker than expected. This is heartening both from a conservation perspective and for the prospects of diversifying on-farm production streams. For example, previous work in the same region has shown that weedy forbs in the coffee understory are an important resource for maintaining bee populations across the year (Fisher et al., 2017). The density of managed honey bee colonies at the study site has increased dramatically in the past 20 years, from a single apiary with <100 colonies in 2004 (Jha and Vandermeer, 2009) to 6 apiaries with >500 colonies in 2018, as the farm has commercialized honey production. Supporting this

density of managed honey bees, alongside wild pollinator populations, requires the maintenance of temporally-consistent high floral densities. Therefore, management practices that maintain high densities of flowering forbs in the landscape are essential to maintaining farm multifunctionality. Even in agroecosystems managed primarily for coffee, maintaining high noncrop plant diversity and abundance should not entail significant yield losses – a promising finding for efforts to promote win-win scenarios in managing lands simultaneously for agricultural production and biodiversity conservation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to Fundación Peters for access to Finca Irlanda, and to the workers who maintain the farm. Gabriel Dominguez Martinez conducted substantial fieldwork, Gustavo López Bautista provided logistical support, and Gregg Sobocinski assisted with microscopy. Feedback from Chatura Vaidya, Zachary Hajian-Forooshani, Iris Rivera, Jonno Morris, Kristel Sánchez, and the Peach Street Writing Group improved this manuscript. Funding was provided by the Rackham Graduate School and Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Michigan.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Albor, C., J. G. García-Franco, V. Parra-Tabla, C. Díaz-Castelazo, and G. Arceo-Gómez. 2019. Taxonomic and functional diversity of the co-flowering community differentially affect *Cakile edentula* pollination at different spatial scales. *Journal of Ecology* 107: 2167– 2181.
- Ashman, T.-L., C. Alonso, V. Parra-Tabla, and G. Arceo-Gómez. 2020. Pollen on stigmas as proxies of pollinator competition and facilitation: complexities, caveats and future directions. *Annals of Botany* 125: 1003–1012.
- Badillo-Montaño, R., A. Aguirre, and M. A. Munguía-Rosas. 2019. Pollinator-mediated interactions between cultivated papaya and co-flowering plant species. *Ecology and Evolution* 9: 587–597.

- Beer, J., R. Muschler, D. Kass, and E. Somarriba. 1997. Shade management in coffee and cacao plantations. *Agroforestry Systems* 38: 139–164.
- Bos, M. M., D. Veddeler, A. K. Bogdanski, A.-M. Klein, T. Tscharntke, I. Steffan-Dewenter, and J. M. Tylianakis. 2007. Caveats to Quantifying Ecosystem Services : Fruit Abortion Blurs Benefits from Crop Pollination. *Ecological Applications* 17: 1841–1849.
- Braun, J., and C. J. Lortie. 2019. Finding the bees knees: A conceptual framework and systematic review of the mechanisms of pollinator-mediated facilitation. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 36: 33–40.
- Brown, B. J., R. J. Mitchell, and S. A. Graham. 2002. Competition for pollination between an invasive species (purple loosestrife) and a native congener. *Ecology* 83: 2328–2336.
- Campanha, M. M., R. H. S. Santos, G. B. de Freitas, H. E. P. Martinez, S. L. R. Garcia, and F. L. Finger. 2004. Growth and yield of coffee plants in agroforestry and monoculture systems in Minas Gerais, Brazil. Agroforestry Systems 63: 75–82.
- Carroll, A. B., S. G. Pallardy, and C. Galen. 2001. Drought Stress, Plant Water Status, and Floral Trait Expression in Fireweed, *Epilobium angustifolium* (Onagraceae). *American Journal* of Botany 88: 438–446.
- DaMatta, F. M., C. P. Ronchi, M. Maestri, and R. S. Barros. 2007. Ecophysiology of coffee growth and production. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology* 19: 485–510.
- De Beenhouwer, M., R. Aerts, and O. Honnay. 2013. A global meta-analysis of the biodiversity and ecosystem service benefits of coffee and cacao agroforestry. *Agriculture, Ecosystems* & Environment 175: 1–7.
- Duffy, K. J., and J. C. Stout. 2011. Effects of conspecific and heterospecific floral density on the pollination of two related rewarding orchids. *Plant Ecology* 212: 1397–1406.
- Eakin, H., C. M. Tucker, and E. Castellanos. 2005. Market Shocks and Climate Variability: The Coffee Crisis in Mexico, Guatemala, and Honduras. *Mountain Research and Development* 25: 304–309.
- Fisher, K., D. J. Gonthier, K. K. Ennis, and I. Perfecto. 2017. Floral resource availability from groundcover promotes bee abundance in coffee agroecosystems. *Ecological Applications* 27: 1815–1826.
- Fitch, G., and J. H. Vandermeer. 2020. Light availability influences the intensity of nectar robbery and its effects on reproduction in a tropical shrub via multiple pathways. *American Journal of Botany* 107: 1–10.
- Goldberg, D. E., and A. M. Barton. 1992. Patterns and consequences of interspecific competition in natural communities: a review of field experiments with plants. *American Naturalist* 139: 771–801.

- Gonthier, D. J., G. M. Dominguez, J. D. Witter, A. L. Spongberg, and S. M. Philpott. 2013. Bottom-up effects of soil quality on a coffee arthropod interaction web. *Ecosphere* 4: art107.
- Gurevitch, J., L. L. Morrow, A. Wallace, and J. S. Walsh. 1992. A meta-analysis of competition in field experiments. *American Naturalist* 140: 539–572.
- Jha, S., and J. H. Vandermeer. 2009. Contrasting bee foraging in response to resource scale and local habitat management. *Oikos* 118: 1174–1180.
- Kearns, C. A., and D. W. Inouye. 1993. Techniques for Pollination Biologists. University Press of Colorado, Niwot, CO.
- Klein, A.-M., S. A. Cunningham, M. Bos, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2008. Advances in Pollination Ecology from Tropical Plantation Crops. *Ecology* 89: 935–943.
- Laverty, T. 1992. Plant Interactions for Pollinator Visits: A Test of the Magnet Species Effect. *Oecologia* 89: 502–508.
- Lefcheck, J. S. 2016. piecewiseSEM: Piecewise structural equation modelling in r for ecology, evolution, and systematics. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7: 573–579.
- Lin, B. B. 2009. Coffee (*Café arabica* var. Bourbon) Fruit Growth and Development Under Varying Shade Levels in the Soconusco Region of Chiapas, Mexico. *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture* 33: 51–65.
- Mitchell, R. J. 1997. Effects of Pollen Quantity on Progeny Vigor: Evidence from the Desert Mustard Lesquerella fendleri. *Evolution* 51: 1679–1684.
- Mitchell, R. J., R. J. Flanagan, B. J. Brown, N. M. Waser, and J. D. Karron. 2009. New frontiers in competition for pollination. *Annals of Botany* 103: 1403–13.
- Morales, C. L., and A. Traveset. 2008. Interspecific pollen transfer: magnitude, prevalence and consequences for plant fitness. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 27: 221–238.
- Mulcahy, D. L. 1971. A Correlation between Gametophytic and Sporophytic Characteristics in *Zea mays* L. *Science* 171: 1155–1156.
- Niesenbaum, R. A., and B. B. Casper. 1994. Pollen Tube Numbers and Selective Fruit Maturation in Lindera benzoin. *The American Naturalist* 144: 184–191.
- Njoroge, J. M. 1994. Weeds and Weed Control in Coffee. *Experimental Agriculture* 30: 421–429.
- Oerke, E.-C. 2006. Crop losses to pests. The Journal of Agricultural Science 144: 31.
- Paradis, E., and K. Schliep. 2019. ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics* 35: 526–528.

- Perfecto, I., R. Rice, and R. Greenberg. 1996. Shade coffee: a disappearing refuge for biodiversity. *BioScience* 46: 598–608.
- Philpott, S. M., S. Uno, and J. Maldonado. 2006. The importance of ants and high-shade management to coffee pollination and fruit weight in Chiapas, Mexico. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 15: 487–501.
- Pinheiro, J., D. Bates, S. DebRoy, D. Sarkar, and R Core Team. 2020. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models.
- Prado, S. G., J. A. Collazo, and R. E. Irwin. 2018. Resurgence of specialized shade coffee cultivation: Effects on pollination services and quality of coffee production. *Agriculture*, *Ecosystems & Environment* 265: 567–575.
- Prado, S. G., J. A. Collazo, M. H. Marand, and R. E. Irwin. 2021. The influence of floral resources and microclimate on pollinator visitation in an agro-ecosystem. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 307: 107196.
- Prado, S. G., J. A. Collazo, P. C. Stevenson, and R. E. Irwin. 2019. A comparison of coffee floral traits under two different agricultural practices. *Scientific Reports* 9: 7331.
- R Core Team. 2020. R: a language and environment for statistical computing.
- Rathcke, B. 1983. Competition and facilitation among plants for pollination. *In* L. Real [ed.], Pollination Biology, 305–329. Academic Press, Inc.
- Ronchi, C. P., and A. A. Silva. 2006. Effects of weed species competition on the growth of young coffee plants. *Planta Daninha* 24: 415–423.
- Soliveres, S., F. T. Maestre, W. Ulrich, P. Manning, S. Boch, M. A. Bowker, D. Prati, et al. 2015. Intransitive competition is widespread in plant communities and maintains their species richness. *Ecology Letters* 18: 790–798.
- Stephenson, A. G. 1981. Flower and fruit abortion: proximate causes and ultimate functions. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 12: 253–279.
- Tully, K. L., D. Lawrence, and T. M. Scanlon. 2012. More trees less loss: nitrogen leaching losses decrease with increasing biomass in coffee agroforests. *Agriculture, Ecosystems* and Environment 161: 137–144.
- Underwood, N., B. D. Inouye, and P. A. Hambäck. 2014. A Conceptual Framework for Associational Effects: When Do Neighbors Matter and How Would We Know? *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 89: 1–19.
- Winsor, J. A., L. E. Davis, and A. G. Stephenson. 1987. The Relationship between Pollen Load and Fruit Maturation and the Effect of Pollen Load on Offspring Vigor in *Cucurbita pepo. The American Naturalist* 129: 643–656.

Young, H. J., and T. P. Young. 1992. Alternative Outcomes of Natural and Experimental High Pollen Loads. *Ecology* 73: 639–647.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 2.1. Model output from structural equation models relating a) transect-scale floral neighborhood to stigma pollen load and b) $2m \times 2m$ -scale neighborhood to stigma pollen load, pollen tube number, fruit set, and fruit weight. Boldface indicates a significant effect at p < 0.05.

Response	Predictor	Std. estimate	Estimate ± s.e.	DF	Critical value	Р				
a) Transect scale										
log(Coffee pollen load)	Coffee flower density	-0.08	-0.002±0.003	191	-0.51	0.6				
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.21	-0.004±0.002	191	-2.07	0.04				
	Canopy-layer flower density	-0.17	-0.001±0.00	191	-2.12	0.04				
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	4.37	0.04				
Hetero- specific pollen load	Coffee flower density	-0.14	-0.06 ± 0.05	191	-1.18	0.2				
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.03	-0.01±0.03	191	-0.33	0.7				
	Canopy-layer flower density	0.08	0.009 ± 0.008	191	1.04	0.3				
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	1.41	0.2				
b) 2m x 2m scale										
log(Coffee pollen load)	Coffee flower density	-0.24	-0.03±0.01	193	-2.91	0.004				
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.07	-0.096±0.01	193	-0.91	0.4				
	Canopy-layer flower density	-0.11	-0.004±0.003	193	-1.58	0.1				
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	3.27	0.07				
Hetero- specific pollen load	Coffee flower density	-0.07	-0.17±0.22	193	-0.80	0.4				
	Herb-layer flower density	0.08	0.22±0.20	193	1.10	0.3				
	Canopy-layer flower density	0.11	0.08 ± 0.05	193	1.49	0.1				
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	4.35	0.04				
Pollen tube number	log(Coffee pollen load)	0.02	0.16±0.61	195	0.27	0.8				
	Heterospecific pollen load	-0.03	-0.01±0.03	195	-0.41	0.7				
Initial fruit set	log(Coffee pollen load)	-0.06	-0.02±0.02	194	-0.95	0.3				

	Heterospecific pollen load	0.07	0.001±0.001	194	1.30	0.2
	Pollen tube number	0.05	0.002 ± 0.002	196	0.79	0.4
Final fruit set	log(Coffee pollen load)	0.12	0.03±0.01	189	2.82	0.005
	Pollen tube number	-0.10	-0.003±0.001	189	-2.62	0.009
	Initial fruit set	0.50	0.47±0.04	189	10.93	<0.001
	Canopy cover	0.23	0.002±0.00	189	3.62	<0.001
	Coffee flower density	0.01	0.000 ± 0.002	189	0.13	0.9
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.07	-0.003±0.002	189	-1.57	0.1
	Canopy-layer flower density	-0.14	-0.002±0.00	189	-2.96	0.004
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	5.29	0.02
Fruit weight	Pollen tube number	0.03	0.001±0.003	190	0.48	0.7
	Initial fruit set	0.32	0.49±0.10	190	4.92	<0.001
	Canopy cover	0.05	0.000 ± 0.001	190	0.57	0.6
	Coffee flower density	-0.04	-0.002 ± 0.005	190	-0.50	0.6
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.04	-0.003±0.004	190	-0.61	0.5
	Canopy-layer flower density	0.09	0.002±0.001	190	1.30	0.2

Figure 2.1. Hypothesized effects of plant neighborhood on coffee pollination, fruit set, and fruit weight.





Figure 2.2. Comparison of coffee pollen load (top panel) and coffee flower density (bottom panel) between mass bloom events across high (>25 flowers m⁻²; dark orange) and low (\leq 25 flowers m⁻²; pale orange) heterospecific floral density neighborhoods. Significance codes (from paired t-tests): *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. Numbers at bottom of top panel denote number of stigmas and, in parentheses, number of plants from which pollen load was recorded; all comparisons are of three sites each.



Figure 2.3. Results from SEM analysis of a) transect-scale neighborhood effects on pollination and b) 2m x 2m-scale neighborhood on pollination and yield. Only significant relationships (p < 0.05) are included. Coefficients represent standardized effect sizes; significance codes: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. For visual clarity, mass bloom event, a covariate, has been omitted from the diagram (see Table 1 for full model output).



Figure 2.4. Partial residuals plots for selected relationships between neighborhood,

pollination, and yield. Red line represents linear best-fit relationship, gray shaded area is 95% confidence interval. Dashed line: $p \ge 0.05$; solid line: p < 0.05.



Chapter 3 Changes in Partner Traits Drive Variation in Plant–Nectar Robber Interactions Across Habitats[†]

ABSTRACT

The frequency and outcome of biotic interactions commonly vary with environmental conditions, even without changes to community composition. Yet the drivers of such environmentallymediated change in biotic interactions are poorly understood, limiting our ability to predict how environmental change will impact communities. Studying nectar robbery by stingless bees of *Odontonema cuspidatum* (Acanthaceae) in a coffee agroecosystem, we documented a temporally consistent difference in nectar robbing intensity between anthropogenic and seminatural habitats. Plants growing in coffee fields (anthropogenic habitat) experienced significantly more nectar robbery than plants growing in forest fragments (seminatural habitat). Using a combination of field surveys and manipulative experiments, we found that nectar robbery was higher in coffee fields primarily due to environmental effects on a) neighborhood floral context and b) *O. cuspidatum* floral traits. This led to both preferential foraging by nectar robbers in coffee fields, and to changes in foraging behavior on *O. cuspidatum* that increased robbery. Nectar robbery significantly reduced fruit set in *O. cuspidatum*. These results suggest that the effects of anthropogenic environmental change on species traits may be more important

[†]This chapter was previously published as: Gordon Fitch and John Vandermeer (2021). Changes in partner traits drive variation in plant–nectar robber interactions across habitats. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 53: 1–11.

than its effect on species density in determining how interaction frequency and outcome are affected by such environmental change.

INTRODUCTION

Understanding the effects of anthropogenic environmental change on biotic communities and ecosystem function is a key challenge for ecologists. Anthropogenic environmental change is resulting in striking biodiversity loss at a global scale (Matzke et al., 2011; Dirzo et al., 2014), with consequences for ecosystem function and ecosystem service provisioning at smaller scales (Hooper et al., 2012). But while the bulk of research on the effects of anthropogenic environmental change has focused on changes to community composition (Tylianakis et al., 2008b; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015b), there is growing appreciation that the structure of interaction networks within communities can be altered by environmental change even when community composition is unaffected (Figure 3.1; Poisot et al., 2015, 2017; Tylianakis et al., 2008; Tylianakis & Morris, 2017; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015). Such interaction 'rewiring' may be mediated by changes to either the density (Figure 3.1, Pathways A-B) or traits (Figure 3.1, Pathways C-D) of one or more interacting species. These effects, moreover, may derive directly from altered environmental conditions (Figure 3.1, Pathways A, D), or be mediated by environmentally-driven changes to community context (Figure 3.1, Pathways B-C).

Given the multiple pathways by which environmental change can impact interactions, it is perhaps not surprising that both theoretical (Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015b) and empirical (Tylianakis et al., 2008b; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015b) work suggest that changes in interaction structure are likely to occur more commonly, and more quickly, than species loss in response to environmental change. Yet, even where changes to the structure of interactions have been

documented, we frequently lack understanding of the underlying drivers of these changes [Tylianakis et al. (2008), though see Fagundes et al. (2020) for an exception]. This limits our ability to predict how future environmental change will impact communities and ecosystems.

Nectar robbery (NR), in which a flower visitor extracts nectar from a flower via an opening other than the corolla mouth, is one interaction type that is likely to be strongly impacted by environmental context (Morris, 1996; Irwin and Maloof, 2002; Cuevas and Rosas-Guerrero, 2016), since it is generally a facultative behavior (Morris, 1996; Irwin et al., 2010; Richardson and Bronstein, 2012). The effects of NR on reproductive success of the robbed plant are variable; though negative, neutral, and positive effects have been reported (Maloof and Inouye, 2000; Burkle et al., 2007), negative effects, at least on components of female fitness, are most common (Irwin et al., 2001). The fitness outcome of NR for the robbed plant depends on the interaction of a number of factors, including plant mating system, the identity and foraging behavior of both robbers and legitimate pollinators, and the environmental (particularly floral) context in which the interaction occurs (Morris, 1996; Maloof and Inouye, 2000; Burkle et al., 2007).

Nectar-robbing intensity (NRI) – measured as the proportion of flowers that experience robbery – commonly varies both spatially (Morris, 1996; Irwin and Maloof, 2002; Cuevas and Rosas-Guerrero, 2016) and temporally (Navarro, 2000; Irwin and Maloof, 2002; Cuevas and Rosas-Guerrero, 2016). Multiple drivers of such variability have been postulated; these drivers are not mutually exclusive, and in some cases multiple drivers may be operating in tandem. Putative drivers include both direct responses of robber or plant to environmental conditions and responses mediated by the broader community. Direct responses may include variation in the density of robbers (Navarro, 2000; Irwin and Maloof, 2002) or the density, flower number, or

nectar quality or quantity of the focal plant (Krupnick et al., 1999) due to environmental conditions. Community-mediated responses may include altered foraging behavior depending on the availability of alternative floral resources (Irwin and Maloof, 2002; Irwin et al., 2010) or density of other flower visitors (Roubik, 1982). Yet to date, there has been little work documenting which of these mechanisms operate in specific instances to generate variation in NRI. Without a mechanistic understanding of the ecological drivers of NR, it is difficult to predict the circumstances under which NR will occur and how it will be altered by environmental change.

In this study, we first assessed the intensity of NR by stingless bees of the shrub Odontonema cuspidatum (Nees) Kuntze (Acanthaceae) in a semi-natural habitat (forest fragments) and an anthropogenic one (coffee farm). We then evaluated the role of potential drivers of NR (Figure 3.1) in generating habitat-based spatial heterogeneity in NRI. We also evaluated whether NR influenced either the likelihood of individual flowers setting fruit or plantlevel reproductive output across both habitats. Our aim was to understand the extent to which variation in the intensity and outcome of NR across habitats is driven by 1) changes in population density of robber or plant (Figure 3.1 Pathways A-B), 2) direct effects of environmental conditions (i.e. light availability) on one or more traits of either partner (Figure 3.1 Pathway D), or 3) indirect effects on robber or plant traits via changes in community context (Figure 3.1 Pathway C). We interpret the term 'trait' to include both physical characteristics and behaviors, consistent with the definition used in the literature on trait-mediated indirect effects (e.g. Werner & Peacor 2003, Schmitz et al. 2004, Utsumi et al. 2010). Specifically, the traits we focus on are, for the plant, flower number and floral nectar characteristics and, for the nectar robbers, foraging behavior.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study system

This research was conducted at Finca Irlanda, a shaded, organic coffee farm, approximately 300 ha in size, located in the Soconusco region of southeastern Chiapas, Mexico. The farm ranges from 900-1150 masl; above ~1000 masl it is comprised primarily of *Coffea arabica* plantations, with three small (<30 ha) forest fragments embedded within the farm. Forest fragments are characterized by a higher density and diversity of canopy trees in comparison to the coffee fields. As a result of the higher density of canopy trees in forest fragments, the amount of light reaching the ground is generally lower in the forest than the coffee farm (see Results). This difference in canopy cover represents a key environmental difference between these habitats.

Within this landscape, *O. cuspidatum*, a perennial shrub native to the region, grows both in areas under coffee cultivation and in forest fragments. In the study area, *O. cuspidatum* blooms primarily from June to August, in the early part of the rainy season. Slender red flowers, 2-2.5 cm long, are borne on indeterminate branching racemes; individual plants produce from 1 to approx. 30 racemes, and each raceme holds from approx. 10 to hundreds of flowers (G. Fitch unpublished data). *Odontonema cuspidatum* is self-fertile but requires animal pollination for fertilization, due to spatial separation of anthers and stigma (G. Fitch unpublished data). Hummingbirds, particularly the blue-tailed hummingbird (*Amazilia cyanura*), are the most frequent legitimate floral visitors (G. Fitch unpublished data); this, together with the flower's morphology, suggests that hummingbirds are the primary pollinators of *O. cuspidatum*. The flowers also attract a wide range of nectar-feeding insects, most of which engage exclusively in

nectar robbery, extracting nectar from animal-made holes in the base of the corolla tube. Primary nectar robbers – i.e. those that make the hole themselves, hereafter 'PNR' – comprise two species of stingless bee in the genus *Trigona* (*T. fulviventris* and *T. nigerrima*; Hymenoptera: Apidae: Meliponini). Fertilized flowers produce explosively dehiscent capsules (Daniel, 1995).

Data collection

Spatiotemporal patterns of nectar robbing intensity

Within a 25ha area that included both coffee fields and forest fragments, we haphazardly selected 109 individual *O. cuspidatum* for inclusion in the study. This represents ~50% of all individuals found in the survey area. This 25ha section of the farm was selected because it included the principal forest fragments contained within the farm's boundaries, as well as high densities of *O. cuspidatum*. Because of the spatial arrangement of the forest fragments, each plant was within 500 m of a habitat edge. All plants were individually labeled and followed through both years of the study, except that thirty-three plants surveyed in 2017 either died or did not flower in 2018, and an additional 15 plants that flowered in 2018 but not 2017 were monitored in 2018 only. We recorded the GPS coordinates of each plant. Distance between plants included in the study ranged from 10-2200 m.

In 2017-2018, plants were surveyed for NR weekly for the duration of the flowering period. At each survey, all inflorescences with open flowers were surveyed. Flowers >1.5 cm long were checked for evidence of NR (characteristic hole at corolla base), and the number of robbed and unrobbed flowers on each inflorescence was recorded. The 1.5 cm cutoff was chosen because flowers of this length were generally within 2 days of opening, and prior to this stage

flowers experienced minimal NR (G. Fitch unpublished data). In 2018 only, each monitored inflorescence was individually tagged.

Putative drivers of nectar robbing intensity

Odontonema cuspidatum density

To determine the density of *O. cuspidatum* in each habitat, in June 2018 we counted the number of *O. cuspidatum* inflorescences, at any stage of development, within a 20 m radius of each of our target plants.

Odontonema cuspidatum floral traits

Each time we surveyed plants for NR, we recorded the total number of flowers present on the plant, for our measure of per-observation flower number. At the end of the flowering period, the season-long total number of flowers produced was determined by counting all mature fruits and persistent ovaries (i.e. flowers that had not set fruit) on each plant.

On a subset of monitored plants (49 in 2017, 19 in 2018 with 7 included in both years), we assessed nectar volume and sugar content. Because standing nectar crop was minimal in unbagged flowers, to measure nectar content we covered 2 inflorescences/plant with a bag made of 0.5 cm tulle mesh to exclude floral visitors. During the flowering period, we checked bagged inflorescences for open flowers 2x/week. To assess nectar volume, we removed all nectar from a flower using a 75 µL microcapillary tube (Drummond Scientific, Broomall PA), then measured the height of the nectar in the tube using digital calipers (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro NJ) and converted this measure to nectar volume. We used a pocket refractometer (Eclipse 45-81, Bellingham & Stanley, Tunbridge Wells UK) to assess the nectar sugar content of each sample.

From each plant, we assessed nectar characteristics of at least 4 flowers (range: 4-32 flowers, mean \pm SE: 12.9 \pm 0.3 flowers).

Primary nectar robber (PNR) density and foraging behavior

To determine PNR population density in each habitat, in 2018 we conducted surveys for PNR nests. Surveys were conducted along 30 m x 10 m transects oriented in one of the cardinal directions and centered on a target *O. cuspidatum* plant. We conducted surveys along 32 transects, 16 in coffee and 16 in forest. Within a habitat, target plants for surveys were selected at random, except once a plant was selected, all other plants falling within the transect were excluded from selection, so no transects overlapped. Collectively, these transects encompassed 44 monitored *O. cuspidatum* plants. The PNR species nest either in trees or in the ground at the base of trees (Fierro et al., 2012), so our nest search focused on trees \geq 15 cm dbh (Hubbell and Johnson, 1977). On all such trees within each transect, we scanned the trunk and major limbs from 0-20m above the ground for evidence of nesting. Surveys were conducted between 0700-1100, when nest activity was highest. Both species of PNR of *O. cuspidatum* in the study area have prominent nests with high activity levels, so we are reasonably confident that we located all nests of these species within our transects.

To determine PNR forager density, in addition to nest density, in 2017 and 2018 we surveyed local PNR abundance for each focal *O. cuspidatum* plant. Surveys occurred during peak bee activity (0700-1100 h) on sunny days. Each survey consisted of two 10-min periods. The first focused on flowers from 2-5 inflorescences of the focal *O. cuspidatum*, and the second focused on flowers within 10 m of the focal plant, with a 10-min break in between surveys. Prior to beginning the survey, we counted the number of open flowers on focal inflorescences, and

located all bee-attractive flowering plants in the 10 m neighborhood. During surveys, all insect flower visitors were caught using resealable plastic bags and held, one insect per bag, for the duration of the survey. At the end of each 10-min survey, captured insects were identified to species or morphospecies and then released. Insects were classified as primary nectar robbers, secondary nectar robbers, legitimate visitors, or unknown, based on prior observation of insect visitation to *O. cuspidatum*. These observations provided us with several measures of PNR forager abundance: total site-level abundance, abundance on focal *O. cuspidatum*, per-flower abundance on focal *O. cuspidatum*, abundance on non-focal flowers, and the proportional abundance on target plants (number of individuals caught on target plants divided by total number of individuals caught during that survey). We interpret the latter metrics as a measure of PNR foraging behavior, while we consider the others to be measures of PNR foraging behavior.

In 2018, we assessed within-plant PNR foraging behavior on 23 monitored plants, 13 in coffee and 10 in forest. On each plant, we monitored five foraging bouts by individual PNRs at focal *O. cuspidatum* plants, recording the species of PNR, the length of time spent on the inflorescence, and the number of flowers robbed. We then calculated the proportion of potentially robbable flowers that had been robbed.

Environmental conditions – Canopy cover

We measured canopy cover directly above the crown of each focal plant (N=109) in June 2017 (June 2018 for plants added in 2018) using CanopyApp 1.0.3 (University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH USA).

Community context – Floral resource availability

In 2017, floral surveys were conducted to determine floral resource availability in the neighborhood of 95 focal plants. For each plant, four 10 m x 2 m transects were established, each one beginning at the focal plant and extending 10 m in one of the cardinal directions. Along each transect, all blooms were counted and identified to species or genus. Surveys occurred once for each focal plant, near the peak bloom for each focal plant. In some cases, transects for two plants partially overlapped; in these cases, bloom tallies for the overlapping portions of the transects were included in the total for both plants' transect.

Effect of nectar robbery on reproduction

For monitored plants that had >20 flowers and had both robbed and unrobbed flowers (N=44), we evaluated the difference in probability of producing fruit and in seed set between robbed and unrobbed flowers. Flowers were marked with either red (robbed) or blue (unrobbed) nail polish on the pedicel. Robbed flowers were marked either on the day before they were to open or soon after opening, while unrobbed flowers were marked only as they were beginning to senesce, to ensure that robbing occurred before pollination and that flowers marked as unrobbed were not subsequently robbed. The number of marked flowers of each type (robbed and unrobbed) varied across plants depending on the availability of robbed and unrobbed flowers: range = 1-26 flowers, mean \pm SE = 4.7 ± 0.7 flowers; unrobbed flowers: range = 1-16 flowers, mean \pm SE = 2.9 ± 0.4 flowers).

We assessed fruit set by counting the number of fruit and number of persistent ovaries on mature inflorescences. The fate of each marked robbed or unrobbed flower was recorded. Inflorescences that had been damaged by insect herbivores were excluded from further analyses. To measure seed set, up to 5 fruits (in 2017) or all undamaged fruits (in 2018) were collected

from each inflorescence. These fruits, segregated by plant, were placed in small bags made of 0.5 cm mesh fabric and left in a drying oven at 50 °C until all had dehisced, at which time seeds were counted.

Data analysis

All analyses were conducted in R v.3.5.1 (R Core Team, 2018). All models were checked for conformity to assumptions.

Influence of habitat on nectar robbing intensity

We evaluated the influence of habitat on NRI using GLMMs with habitat and year as fixed effects and plant and date as random effects. We separately considered three components of NRI: number of open flowers robbed, number of unopened flowers robbed, and total number of flowers robbed. In all cases, we included log(total number of flowers of that class) as an offset, and used a Poisson error distribution with log-link function. To check for spatial autocorrelation in NRI, we fit a parallel set of GLMs, and calculated Moran's I for the residuals of each of these models using package `ape` (Paradis and Schliep, 2019). We found no evidence for spatial autocorrelation in these data (p > 0.1 in all cases).

Influence of habitat on putative drivers of nectar robbing intensity

We tested for a significant effect of habitat on the following putative drivers of NRI: focal plant flower number, focal plant nectar volume and nectar sugar content, canopy cover, neighborhood floral density, PNR density at focal plants and in the 10-m neighborhood, and PNR nest density. We initially considered several floral neighborhood metrics: floral richness, total flower density, and *O. cuspidatum* flower density. These metrics were strongly correlated and total flower density was the best predictor of NRI, so for all analyses we used total floral density to assess effects of floral neighborhood. Focal plant flower number (assessed as the total number of flowers produced over the flowering period) and PNR nest density were fitted with a GLM with Poisson distribution and log-link function. Focal plant nectar volume and nectar sugar content, as well as canopy cover, were fitted using linear models. For other putative drivers, we had multiple measures per plant, and therefore used GLMMs with plant as a random effect and a Poisson distribution with log-link function. We calculated Moran's I for the residuals of all models to check for spatial autocorrelation. For drivers with significant spatial autocorrelation, we used the `spdep` package to calculate Moran eigenvectors (Bivand and Wong, 2018). These eigenvectors were included as additional predictors in an updated model. Where significant spatial autocorrelation was found, the estimates we provide for the effect of habitat on the relevant driver come from the model including Moran eigenvectors. To evaluate significant effects, all p-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni correction.

We also tested whether canopy cover (and therefore light availability) could account for differences in floral traits (flower number and flower nectar volume) between habitats. For flower number, we used a GLM with negative-binomial distribution, and for nectar volume we used a linear mixed-effects model with plant as a random effect.

Influence of putative drivers on nectar robbing intensity

The number of plant-year combinations for which we had observations of a particular putative driver varied substantially across drivers. This variation precluded analysis using structural equation modeling, because the combined dataset for all putative drivers contained too

few observations for meaningful analysis given the number of drivers (Kline, 2015). Therefore, we initially assessed the relationship between NRI and each putative driver that differed significantly between habitats (that is, all the boldface variables listed in Table 3.1) separately, then included those drivers that had an effect on NRI at Bonferroni-corrected $p \le 0.2$ in a combined model (see below). All models used the number of robbed flowers as the response variable, and included log(total number of flowers surveyed) as an offset; error distributions were either Poisson or negative binomial, depending on whether the data were overdispersed, and used a log-link function.

The relationship between flower visitation and both flower number and floral neighborhood is often nonlinear and unimodal (Rathcke, 1983b; Ghazoul, 2006). Beyond unimodality, we did not have *a priori* expectations for the relationship between these drivers and NR. Therefore, to assess their effect on NRI, we used general additive models (GAMs). To test for nonlinearity, we compared model versions with linear and smoothed relationships using AICc. In both cases, the nonlinear model indicated a unimodal relationship and improved fit over the linear model (for flower number, $\Delta AICc = 19$; for floral neighborhood $\Delta AICc = 25$). For all other drivers we assumed a linear response of NR; we used a GLM to evaluate the effect of canopy cover and floral neighborhood and GLMMs to evaluate the effect of all other drivers (since for these drivers we had multiple observations per plant).

These single-predictor models indicated that at the $p \le 0.2$ level, the putative drivers that affected NRI were focal plant flower number, neighborhood floral density, and robber density at focal plants. To test whether these putative drivers had independent effects, we used a GAM with all three predictors; smooth terms were applied to flower number and floral neighborhood, while robber density was constrained to a linear function.

Based on GAM results for the relationship between NRI and neighborhood floral density, we classified neighborhood floral densities as low (less than the lower bound of the 95% confidence interval for the predicted maximum of the function relating NRI to floral density), moderate (within the 95% confidence interval), or high (higher than the upper bound of the 95% confidence interval).

Effects of nectar robbery and habitat on Odontonema cuspidatum reproduction

To determine the effect of NR on *O. cuspidatum* reproduction, we compared differences in fruit set between robbed and unrobbed flowers using a binomial GLMM with plant as a random effect. We additionally tested for an effect of habitat on fruit set, and of differences in the effect of NR on fruit set between habitats, by including habitat and a robbed status × habitat interaction term as fixed effects. To control for differences across plants in their ability to produce fruit, independent of the effects of NR, we only included plants for which we had data on the fate of both robbed and unrobbed flowers in a single year (N = 44).

To test the effect of NRI and habitat on measures of reproductive output, we examined fruit set, seed set, and seeds produced per plant. To model fruit set, we used a Poisson generalized linear mixed-effects model (GLMM) with number of fruits as the response variable, offset by log(total number of flowers produced). Fixed effects were habitat, NRI, and a habitat × NRI interaction term; plant was included as a random effect. Seed set and seeds per plant were assessed only in 2018, so for those metrics we used a negative binomial generalized linear model (GLM) with number of seeds as the response; the model for seed set additionally included log(total number of flowers) as an offset. Because there was no effect of the habitat × NRI interaction term in the model for fruit set, this predictor was omitted from our models of seed set and seeds per plant.

RESULTS

Spatiotemporal patterns in nectar robbing intensity (NRI)

Plants growing in forest fragments were robbed significantly less than those growing in coffee, consistent across years (proportion of flowers robbed in forest: 0.29 ± 0.02 ; in coffee: 0.42 ± 0.02 ; z = -2.26, p = 0.02). Across both habitats, NRI was significantly higher in 2018 than 2017 (2017: 0.32 ± 0.02 ; 2018: 0.46 ± 0.01 ; z = 8.70, p < 0.001) and, in both years, increased over the survey period ($\beta = 0.19 \pm 0.02$, z = 10.49, p < 0.001).

Relationships between putative drivers and habitat

Environmental conditions and community context

Canopy cover over target *O. cuspidatum* was significantly higher in forest fragments than coffee (Table 3.1). Neighborhood floral density was significantly higher in coffee than in forest fragments (Table 3.1).

Partner densities

Density of *O. cuspidatum* did not differ between habitats (Table 3.1). Density of primary nectar robbers (PNRs), on the other hand, showed a complex response to habitat. There was no difference in nest density of the two PNR species between habitats (Table 3.1). Nevertheless, PNR density at monitored *O. cuspidatum* plants was higher in coffee than in forest (Table 3.1), suggesting greater forager density in coffee. However, PNR density at all other flowers within 10

m of focal plants (most of which received legitimate visits from PNRs) was equivalent across habitats (Table 3.1). Because of the high density of PNRs at target *O. cuspidatum*, total PNR density was still significantly higher in coffee than in forest (Table 3.1).

Partner traits

Odontonema cuspidatum flower number was significantly lower in forest (Table 3.1). Nectar volume and sweetness were both lower for plants growing in coffee, but these differences were not significant (Table 3.1). These changes in floral traits stem, at least in part, from reduced light availability in forest fragments, as canopy cover (significantly higher in forest fragments) had a negative effect on both total flower number ($\beta = -0.31 \pm 0.08$, z = -3.72, p < 0.001) and nectar volume ($\beta = -0.19 \pm 0.08$, t = -2.82, p = 0.03).

Primary nectar robber foraging behavior at *O. cuspidatum* plants differed between habitats. On a per-flower basis, PNRs spent more time per foraging bout on plants growing in coffee (Table 3.1).

Relationships between putative drivers and nectar robbery

Nectar robbery responded nonlinearly to both *O. cuspidatum* flower number and neighborhood floral density (Figure 3.2, Table 3.2). In both cases, NRI had a unimodal response, initially increasing, then decreasing as floral availability increased further (Figure 3.2). For *O. cuspidatum* flower number, the position of the predicted maximum was 645 blooms [95% confidence interval (CI): 467-850 blooms; Figure 3.2A]. This is larger than the mean flower number for individuals from either forest fragments (160 ± 26) or coffee fields (243 ± 37), indicating that for most of the surveyed plants, increasing flower number leads to increased NRI. For neighborhood floral density, the predicted maximum was 1.8 blooms/m² (95% CI: 1.1–1.9 blooms/m²; Figure 3.2B). Significantly, the neighborhoods of most forest-growing *O. cuspidatum* had low floral densities (i.e. below the lower bound of the 95% CI for the predicted maximum: 38 plants below, 11 within, 3 above). The floral neighborhoods of coffee-growing plants varied more in density (10 plants below the CI; 16 within; 23 above; Figure 3.2B), with a substantially higher percentage of coffee-growing plants found in floral neighborhoods within the 95% CI for peak NRI (33% versus 22%). Most (65%) of the plants whose neighborhood floral density fell within the 95% CI for predicted maximal NRI grew in coffee.

The other putative driver that significantly affected NRI was PNR density on target plants, which was higher for coffee-growing plants (Table 3.1). When these three significant drivers were combined into a single model, all three retained their significance level and showed a qualitatively similar effect on NRI as when they were considered independently (Table 3.2). Moreover, when habitat was added as a linear predictor to this model, it did not have a significant effect on NRI and did not improve model fit (Table 3.2).

Effects of nectar robbery and habitat on Odontonema cuspidatum reproduction

Nectar robbery significantly reduced the probability of a flower setting fruit, from 0.32 \pm 0.04 (mean \pm SE) for unrobbed flowers to 0.18 \pm 0.03 for robbed flowers, representing a 43% decrease in fruit set (z = 3.41, p < 0.001). The effect of NR on probability of setting fruit was equivalent between habitats (robbed status × habitat interaction: $\beta = 0.16 \pm 0.60$, z = 0.27, p = 0.8), as was the overall probability of setting fruit (coffee: 0.23 \pm 0.03; forest: 0.23 \pm 0.04; z = -0.10, p = 0.9).
Consistent with the negative effect of NR on the probability of individual flowers setting fruit, we found a significant negative relationship between NRI and fruit set at the plant level (Table 3.3). This effect was consistent across habitats, and fruit set did not differ between habitats (coffee: 0.12 ± 0.01 ; forest: 0.11 ± 0.01 ; Table 3.3). By contrast, neither seed set nor seeds per plant were influenced by NRI. Seed set was higher in forest-growing plants, though due to the smaller number of flowers produced by forest-growing plants, seeds per plant did not differ between habitats (Table 3.3).

DISCUSSION

Changes in the frequency or outcome of an interspecific interaction as a result of environmental change can be explained by effects on 1) the density of the interacting species and/or 2) the traits (including behavior) of the interacting species. These effects in turn can stem directly from altered abiotic conditions (e.g. changes to light or water availability influencing the density or traits of the relevant species), or be mediated by changes in the wider community (i.e., abiotic conditions influence the density or traits of other species in the community, which in turn impinge on the interaction in question) (Figure 3.1A; Poisot et al., 2015). In this study, we found that difference in nectar robbing intensity (NRI) of *O. cuspidatum* between a semi-natural and an anthropogenic habitat was primarily the result of partner trait differences, with a lesser contribution of density differences. From the plant's perspective, these trait differences are driven directly by differing environmental conditions between habitats, while on the robber's side, trait differences are primarily the result of altered biotic community context (Figure 3.1B). Specifically, we found that, together, 1) a nonlinear response of PNRs to the availability of alternative floral resources, 2) greater flower production for *O. cuspidatum* growing in coffee, and 3) higher density of foraging PNRs and greater preference for *O. cuspidatum* by PNRs in the coffee farm than in adjacent forest fragments can fully explain differences in NRI between habitats.

Of these three factors, floral neighborhood composition had the greatest influence on NRI (Table 3.2). The moderate floral densities found in the coffee fields likely attract more foraging PNRs than found in the low-floral-density forest fragments, leading to higher PNR density and therefore higher NRI for coffee-growing plants (Pathway B in Figure 3.1). Since PNR nest density was equivalent between habitats, this indicates preferential foraging by PNRs in coffee fields over forest fragments (the small size of forest fragments in the study area means that bees leaving a nest in the forest can readily move into coffee fields to forage). This finding highlights the importance of shade coffee as a habitat for stingless bees, a result consistent with other studies (Jha and Dick, 2010; Fisher et al., 2017). Moreover, it confirms the importance of floral context as a driver of spatiotemporal heterogeneity in nectar robbery, a relationship which has been hypothesized elsewhere (Irwin and Maloof, 2002), though not explicitly evaluated.

Differences between habitats in *O. cuspidatum* floral traits (flower number and perhaps nectar volume) contributed to higher NRI for plants growing in coffee (Pathway D in Figure 3.1). Across most of the observed range of floral display size, more flowers led to more NR. Plants growing in coffee produced more flowers on average [likely because higher light availability increased the amount of photosynthate that plants could allocate to flower production (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2020)], and therefore attracted more PNRs. In addition, PNR foraging behavior differed between habitats, with individual PNR visits lasting longer to flowers in coffee than those in forest. This may be due to differences in nectar rewards between habitats: per-

flower nectar volume was 50% higher in coffee than in forest, though this difference was not significant.

Both flower-level and plant-level data indicate that NR significantly reduces fruit set in *O. cuspidatum*. The negative correlation between fruit set and NRI is striking, given that PNR attraction to *O. cuspidatum* is associated with floral traits – i.e. floral display size and nectar quantity – that are frequently positively correlated with both attractiveness to pollinators (Adler and Bronstein, 2004; Theis et al., 2014) and the availability of resources to allocate to reproduction (Bazzaz et al., 1987, 2000). In this population, negative effects of NR are sufficient to outweigh any benefits of increased pollination and/or resource availability, resulting in net reduction in fruit set. However, this effect does not translate to the number of seeds produced per plant, likely because NRI is positively related to flower number; even if a smaller proportion of flowers produces seeds, the net outcome is a consistent number of seeds across a range of NRIs. Thus, despite the difference in NRI intensity between habitats, there was ultimately no difference in reproductive output between plants growing in forest and those growing in coffee (Table 3.3).

These results suggest that spatial variation in NRI is due primarily to the effects of environmental conditions on the plant community – both on the availability of alternative floral resources and on traits mediating nectar robber attraction. However, whether these results can be generalized to other instances of nectar robbery remains to be seen. More generally, this study highlights the importance of trait differences, rather than or in addition to differences in density, as determinants of interaction frequency or outcome across environmental gradients. This is in line with a large body of research demonstrating that trait-mediated indirect interactions are often more important than density-mediated indirect interactions in determining the effect of one species on another species with which it does not directly interact (Werner and Peacor, 2003b;

Schmitz et al., 2004b). Further, this suggests that the importance of trait-mediated effects of anthropogenic environmental change – on species interactions and, ultimately, species persistence and ecosystem function – have been underappreciated. As this work highlights, detecting and understanding such trait-mediated effects may require fine-grained analysis of interacting organisms across environmental contexts. Thus, on the one hand we heartily endorse recent calls to use network approaches to better understand how environmental change can impact communities beyond just species loss (Tylianakis et al., 2008b; Poisot et al., 2015; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015b; Poisot et al., 2017). On the other, we caution that the empirical data upon which networks are built often lack the level of detail needed to describe the effects of environmental change on biotic communities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Walter and Bernd Peters for permission to conduct research at Finca Irlanda. We thank members of the Perfecto and Vandermeer lab groups for support in developing this project. In particular, thanks to Lauren M. Schmitt and Chatura Vaidya for helpful comments on this manuscript, and to Gabriel Dominguez Martinez, Gustavo López Bautista and Chatura Vaidya for support in the field. This study was funded by a Nancy W. Walls Award from the University of Michigan Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology and a University of Michigan International Institute Rackham International Research Award, both to Gordon Fitch.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adler, L. S., and J. L. Bronstein. 2004. Attracting antagonists: does floral nectar increase leaf herbivory? *Ecology* 85: 1519–1526.
- Bazzaz, F. A., D. D. Ackerly, and E. G. Reekie. 2000. Reproductive allocation in plants. *In* M. Fenner [ed.], Seeds: the ecology of regeneration in plant communities, 1–29. CABI.
- Bazzaz, F. A., N. R. Chiariello, P. D. Coley, and L. F. Pitelka. 1987. Allocating resources to reproduction and defense. *BioScience* 37: 58–67.
- Bivand, R. S., and D. W. S. Wong. 2018. Comparing implementations of global and local indicators of spatial association. *TEST* 27: 716–748.
- Burkle, L. A., R. E. Irwin, and D. A. Newman. 2007. Predicting the effects of nectar robbing on plant reproduction: implications of pollen limitation and plant mating system. *American Journal of Botany* 94: 1935–1943.
- Cuevas, E., and V. Rosas-Guerrero. 2016. Spatio-temporal variation of nectar robbing in *Salvia gesneriflora* and its effects on nectar production and legitimate visitors. *Plant Biology* 18: 9–14.
- Daniel, T. F. 1995. Flora of Chiapas Part 4: Acanthaceae. D. E. Breedlove [ed.]. California Academy of Sciences, San Francisco, CA.
- Dirzo, R., H. S. Young, M. Galetti, G. Ceballos, N. J. B. Isaac, and B. Collen. 2014. Defaunation in the Anthropocene. *Science* 345: 401–406.
- Fagundes, M., P. Cuevas-Reyes, L. F. Ramos Leite, M. A. Z. Borges, W. S. De Araújo, G. W. Fernandes, and W. K. Siqueira. 2020. Diversity of Gall-Inducing Insects Associated With a Widely Distributed Tropical Tree Species: Testing the Environmental Stress Hypothesis. *Environmental Entomology* 49: 838–847.
- Fierro, M., L. Cruz-López, D. Sánchez, R. Villanueva-Gutiérrez, and R. Vandame. 2012. Effect of biotic factors on the spatial distribution of stingless bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae, Meliponini) in fragmented neotropical habitats. *Neotropical Entomology* 41: 95–104.
- Fisher, K., D. J. Gonthier, K. K. Ennis, and I. Perfecto. 2017. Floral resource availability from groundcover promotes bee abundance in coffee agroecosystems. *Ecological Applications* 27: 1815–1826.
- Fitch, G., and J. H. Vandermeer. 2020. Light availability influences the intensity of nectar robbery and its effects on reproduction in a tropical shrub via multiple pathways. *American Journal of Botany* 107: 1–10.
- Ghazoul, J. 2006. Floral diversity and the facilitation of pollination. *Journal of Ecology* 94: 295–304.

- Hooper, D. U., E. C. Adair, B. J. Cardinale, J. E. K. Byrnes, B. a Hungate, K. L. Matulich, A. Gonzalez, et al. 2012. A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature* 486: 105–108.
- Hubbell, S. P., and L. K. Johnson. 1977. Competition and nest spacing in a tropical stingless bee community. *Ecology* 58: 949–963.
- Irwin, R. E., A. K. Brody, and N. M. Waser. 2001. The impact of floral larceny on individuals, populations, and communities. *Oecologia* 129: 161–168.
- Irwin, R. E., J. L. Bronstein, J. S. Manson, and L. Richardson. 2010. Nectar robbing: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 41: 271–292.
- Irwin, R. E., and J. E. Maloof. 2002. Variation in nectar robbing over time, space, and species. *Oecologia* 133: 525–533.
- Jha, S., and C. W. Dick. 2010. Native bees mediate long-distance pollen dispersal in a shade coffee landscape mosaic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107: 13760– 13764.
- Kline, R. B. 2015. Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling, Fourth Edition. Guilford Publications.
- Krupnick, G. A., A. E. Weis, and D. R. Campbell. 1999. The consequences of floral herbivory for pollinator service to Isomeris arborea. *Ecology* 80: 125–134.
- Maloof, J. E., and D. W. Inouye. 2000. Are Nectar Robbers Cheaters or Mutualists? *Ecology* 81: 2651–2661.
- Matzke, N., E. A. Ferrer, A. D. Barnosky, G. O. U. Wogan, B. Mersey, C. Marshall, K. C. Maguire, et al. 2011. Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived? *Nature* 471: 51–57.
- Morris, W. F. 1996. Mutualism denied? Nectar-robbing bumble bees do not reduce female or male success of bluebells. *Ecology* 77: 1451–1462.
- Navarro, L. 2000. Pollination ecology of *Anthyllis vulneraria* subsp. *vulgaris* (Fabaceae): nectar robbers as pollinators. *American Journal of Botany* 87: 980–985.
- Paradis, E., and K. Schliep. 2019. ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics* 35: 526–528.
- Poisot, T., C. Guéveneux-Julien, M.-J. Fortin, D. Gravel, and P. Legendre. 2017. Hosts, parasites and their interactions respond to different climatic variables. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 26: 942–951.

- Poisot, T., D. B. Stouffer, and D. Gravel. 2015. Beyond species: why ecological interaction networks vary through space and time. *Oikos* 124: 243–251.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing.
- Rathcke, B. 1983. Competition and facilitation among plants for pollination. *In* L. Real [ed.], Pollination Biology, 305–329. Academic Press, Inc.
- Richardson, L. L., and J. L. Bronstein. 2012. Reproductive biology of pointleaf manzanita (*Actostaphylos pungens*) and the pollinator nectar robber spectrum. *Journal of Pollination Ecology* 9: 115–123.
- Roubik, D. W. 1982. The ecological impact of nectar-robbing bees and pollinating hummingbirds on a tropical shrub. *Ecology* 63: 354–360.
- Schmitz, O. J., V. Krivan, and O. Ovadia. 2004. Trophic cascades: the primacy of trait-mediated indirect interactions. *Ecology Letters* 7: 153–163.
- Theis, N., N. A. Barber, S. D. Gillespie, R. V. Hazzard, and L. S. Adler. 2014. Attracting mutualists and antagonists: Plant trait variation explains the distribution of specialist floral herbivores and pollinators on crops and wild gourds. *American Journal of Botany* 101: 1314–1322.
- Tylianakis, J. M., R. K. Didham, J. Bascompte, and D. A. Wardle. 2008. Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11: 1351–1363.
- Tylianakis, J. M., and R. J. Morris. 2017. Ecological Networks Across Environmental Gradients. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48: 25–48.
- Utsumi, S., Y. Ando, and T. Miki. 2010. Linkages among trait-mediated indirect effects: a new framework for the indirect interaction web. *Population Ecology* 52: 485–497.
- Valiente-Banuet, A., M. A. Aizen, J. M. Alcántara, J. Arroyo, A. Cocucci, M. Galetti, M. B. García, et al. 2015. Beyond species loss: The extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology* 29: 299–307.
- Werner, E. E., and S. D. Peacor. 2003. A review of trait-mediated indirect interactions in ecological communities. *Ecology* 84: 1083–1100.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 3.1. Relationship between habitat and putative drivers of nectar robbery. Model results are from generalized linear models (canopy cover, neighborhood floral density, O. cuspidatum density, and PNR nest density) or generalized linear mixed-effects.

	Mean ± SE		Test			
Putative driver	Coffee	Forest	statistic (t or z)	DF	р	%DE
Environmental conditions						
Canopy cover (%)†	70.8 ± 2.6	90.5 ± 1.0	7.01	83	<0.001	51.0
Community context						
Neighborhood floral density (blooms per transect)†	73.7 ± 7.5	27.9 ± 4.5	-5.46	51	<0.001	25.4
Partner densities						
<i>O. cuspidatum</i> density (inflorescences per survey)	18.8 ± 3.4	11.2 ± 1.9	-1.05	54	0.94	0.0
PNR nest density (nests per transect)	0.2 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	1.00	15	1.00	0.0
Total PNR density (individuals per observation)†	1.9 ± 0.2	$\textbf{0.8} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	-4.62	40	<0.001	31.4
PNR density – target O. <i>cuspidatum</i> (individuals per observation)	2.2 ± 0.3	$\textbf{0.8} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	-4.10	46	<0.001	27.0
PNR density – 10m neighborhood (individuals per observation)†	1.6 ± 0.3	1.0 ± 0.3	0.89	39	1.00	0.0
Partner traits						
<i>O. cuspidatum</i> flower number†	243.4 ± 37.1	160.2 ± 25.8	-9.22	156	<0.001	40.6
<i>O. cuspidatum</i> nectar volume (µL)	6.6 ± 0.3	4.4 ± 0.4	-2.70	65	0.10	10.1
<i>O. cuspidatum</i> nectar sweetness (Brix)	25.4 ± 0.1	24.7 ± 0.3	-1.14	63	1.00	2.0
Per-flower visit duration (s)	$\textbf{0.8} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	0.4 ± 0.1	2.74	57	0.04	2.3

†: includes spatial eigenvectors as additional predictors to account for spatial autocorrelation.

Table 3.2. Relative importance of the significant drivers of nectar robbing intensity (NRI). Results from a general additive model combining all of the putative drivers that significantly influenced NRI when considered independently. Boldface indicates a significant effect on NRI at p < 0.05. %DE: percent of the null deviance in NRI explained by each driver; PNR: primary nectar robber.

Driver	% DE	$\Delta AICc$ for omitting this variable	р
O. cuspidatum flower number	15.0	37.9	< 0.001
Neighborhood floral density	22.1	52.0	< 0.001
PNR density – target plant	15.2	31.3	< 0.001
Habitat	0.0	-2.3	0.25

Table 3.3. Relationship between reproductive output and nectar robbing and habitat. DF: residual degrees of freedom; %DE: percent of the null deviance in the measure of reproductive output that is explained by each predictor; NRI: nectar robbery intensity. Boldface indicates statistical significance at p < 0.05. Significance codes: . p = 0.05; *** p < 0.001.

Predictor	Coefficient	Test statistic	DF	%DE
	$(\mathbf{\beta} \pm \mathbf{SE})$	(t or z)		
Fruit set (GLMM)				
NRI	$-0.63 \pm 0.21^{***}$	-2.94	123	8.0
Habitat (Forest)	-0.34 ± 0.23	-1.45	123	0.8
NRI × Habitat	0.31 ± 0.31	1.00	123	0.0
Seed set (2018 onl	y; GLM)			
NRI	-0.33 ± 0.36	-0.91	56	1.2
Habitat (Forest)	0.38 ± 0.20 .	1.92	56	5.5
Seeds per plant (20	018 only; GLM)			
NRI	0.88 ± 0.52	1.71	56	2.7
Habitat (Forest)	-0.05 ± 0.30	-0.17	56	1.5

Figure 3.1. Pathways by which environmental change can result in changes to interactions without changing species composition. (A) Conceptual framework. Pathways are not mutually exclusive. Each line type represents one pathway. Bullet points indicate the aspects of each category assessed in this study. Pathways A-B: environmental conditions (e.g. insolation) directly affect the abundance (Pathway A) or one or more traits (Pathway B) of one or both of the interacting species. Pathways C-D: environmental conditions affect the traits or density of other species in the community, which in turn influences the abundance (Pathway C) or trait(s) (Pathway D) of one or more interacting species. (B) Schematic summary of results from this study, showing only pathways supported by the data.



Figure 3.2. Relationship between nectar robbing intensity (NRI) of *O. cuspidatum* and (A) focal plant flower number and (B) floral neighborhood. In both panels, points represent individual plants, colored according to habitat. Black line represents best-fit from a general additive model; gray-shaded area represents standard error. Blue shaded area represents 95% confidence interval about (A) *O. cuspidatum* flower number or (B) the neighborhood floral density where maximum NRI is predicted. Dashed vertical lines and shaded area represent the mean \pm standard error for (A) focal plant flower number and (B) neighborhood floral density in each habitat. 'Neighborhood floral density' refers to the mean number of blooms of all species per transect. In (A), the x-axis is square-root transformed to improve legibility.



Chapter 4 Light Availability Influences the Intensity of Nectar Robbery and Its Effects on Reproduction in a Tropical Shrub via Multiple Pathways[†]

ABSTRACT

Premise of the study: The multiple exogenous pathways by which light availability affects plant reproduction – e.g. via influence on attraction of mutualists and antagonists – remain surprisingly understudied. The light environment experienced by a parent can also have transgenerational effects on offspring via these same pathways.

Methods: We evaluated a) the influence of light availability on floral traits in *Odontonema cuspidatum*, b) the relative importance of the pathways by which light influences nectar robbery and reproductive output, and c) the role of parental light environment in mediating these relationships. We conducted a reciprocal translocation experiment using clonally propagated ramets and field surveys of naturally-occurring plants.

Main Results: Light availability influenced multiple floral traits, including flower number and nectar volume, which in turn influenced nectar robbery. But nectar robbery was also directly influenced by light availability, due to light effects on nectar robber foraging behavior or neighborhood floral context. Parental light environment mediated the link between light

[†]This chapter was previously published as: Gordon Fitch and John H. Vandermeer (2020). Light availability influences the intensity of nectar robbery and its effects on reproduction in a tropical shrub via multiple pathways," *American Journal of Botany* 107(11): 1–10.

availability and nectar robber attraction, suggesting local adaptation to low-light environments in floral visitor attraction. However, we found no transgenerational effect on reproduction.

Conclusions: Our findings demonstrate that exogenous pathways by which light influences plants (particularly through effects on floral antagonists) can complicate the positive relationship between light availability and plant reproduction. Our results are among the first to document effects of light on floral antagonists and clonal transgenerational effects on flower visitor attraction traits.

INTRODUCTION

Light is a key resource for plants, providing the energy that is the basis for carbon assimilation; light availability therefore has strong effects on plant growth and reproduction. In low-light conditions, plant growth rates are commonly reduced (Coleman et al., 1994; Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008; Galloway and Etterson, 2009). Moreover, plants growing in low light may allocate a greater proportion of resources towards tissues that aid in light capture, rather than reproduction (McConnaughay and Coleman, 1999; Delerue et al., 2013). These two factors, operating independently or in tandem, can result in reduced reproductive output in low- as compared to high-light conditions (Figure 4.1F), whether through the production of fewer ovules (Mattila and Salonen, 1995; Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008; Cao et al., 2017) or reduced perovule provisioning levels (Niesenbaum, 1993; Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008).

Yet, beyond the endogenous pathways (that is, pathways involving only the effects of light availability on the plant in question) described above, there are multiple exogenous pathways (mediated by other organisms) by which light availability can influence reproductive output (Figure 4.1). For example, light may influence patterns of herbivory via effects on

herbivore behavior (Suárez-Vidal et al., 2017) or on plant chemistry and palatability (Dudt and Shure, 1994; McDonald et al., 1999). Similarly, light availability can influence pollination by affecting either pollinator behavior (Figure 4.1B-C; Herrera 1995; Kilkenny and Galloway 2008) or floral traits that mediate pollinator attractiveness [including flower number (Cunningham, 1997; Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008; Cao et al., 2017) and flower size (Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008)].

Importantly, an individual plant's response to light availability may be mediated or constrained by the light environment in which its parent(s) grew (Galloway and Etterson, 2007, 2009; Heger, 2016). Such conditioning of offspring response to environmental stimuli by parental environment is known as a transgenerational effect. Transgenerational effects – also known as parental effects, and including maternal effects – are common in plants, and can reflect aspects of both the abiotic and biotic environments of parents (Roach and Wulff, 1987; Rossiter, 1996). Transgenerational effects have been primarily studied in sexually-reproducing plants, but there is mounting evidence for their importance in clonal plants as well (Latzel and Klimešová, 2010; Dong et al., 2017; Münzbergová and Hadincová, 2017; Dewan et al., 2018). However, the study of transgenerational effects in plants – whether in clonal or sexually reproducing populations – has focused largely on growth or defense traits, with very little attention paid to transgenerational effects on traits mediating floral attractiveness.

In addition to the effects of light environment on plant traits, light availability may also affect pollination via the influence of light on other plant-animal interactions. One interaction type that may be an important mediator of plant-pollinator interactions is nectar robbery (NR; Figure 4.1D-E). Nectar robbery refers to the extraction of nectar from a flower via an opening other than the corolla mouth (Irwin et al., 2010). The effect of this interaction on the plant can be

negative, neutral, or positive (Maloof and Inouye, 2000; Burkle et al., 2007; Irwin et al., 2010). Since nectar robbers are frequently also pollinators of other plant species – and even of other flowers of the same species – they may respond to similar traits as pollinators (Irwin et al., 2010). Indeed, nectar robbers have been shown to prefer plants with more flowers, much like pollinators (Irwin, 2006; Gélvez-Zúñiga et al., 2018). Even if nectar robbers and pollinators use different cues to locate food sources - particularly likely when robbers and pollinators have different sensory biases, e.g. arthropod robbers and vertebrate pollinators (Schiestl and Johnson, 2013; Gegear et al., 2017) – light may simultaneously influence multiple plant traits, thereby affecting pollinator and nectar robber attraction in potentially complex ways. But the extent to which NR is influenced – whether directly or indirectly – by abiotic conditions has been scarcely evaluated. Aiming to fill this knowledge gap, the study reported here combined field surveys and a reciprocal translocation experiment using the polycarpic understory shrub *Odontonema* cuspidatum (Nees) Kuntze (Acanthaceae). In the study area (southeastern Chiapas, Mexico), O. *cuspidatum* experiences high levels of NR from stingless bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Meliponini); robbed flowers are significantly less likely than unrobbed flowers to produce fruit (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021). The study, which took place in a coffee agroecosystem comprised of areas of coffee cultivation with a canopy tree cover of varying density and small forest fragments, addressed the following questions:

Does light availability affect flower number, flower morphology, or nectar rewards in
O. cuspidatum?

2) Does light availability influence the intensity of NR by stingless bees, and, if so, is this due to direct effects of light on bee foraging behavior or mediated by floral traits?

3) What is the relative importance of endogenous effects, pollinator-mediated effects, and nectar robber-mediated effects of light availability on *O. cuspidatum* reproductive output?

4) Does parental light environment mediate the effect of offspring light environment during growth or flowering on pollination and NR (i.e. are there transgenerational effects of parental light environment on the link between light availability and pollination and/or NR)?

We expected that 1) light availability would influence multiple aspects of floral attraction traits, with higher light availability leading to the production of more flowers, larger flowers, and more floral nectar. We further predicted that 2) plants in high-light conditions would experience higher levels of NR, primarily due to the predicted effects of light availability on floral traits. Direct effects of light availability on flower visitor behavior are often due to increased activity levels associated with higher temperatures (Herrera, 1995; Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008). We therefore hypothesized that light availability would have little effect on bee foraging behavior, given that temperature may be relatively unimportant in regulating bee foraging in warm tropical environments (Willmer 1991; though see Figueiredo-Mecca et al. 2013; Aleixo et al. 2017).

Given that NR has a negative impact on *O. cuspidatum* fruit set (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021), and that pollen supplementation results in dramatic increases in fruit set and seed production (see Chapter 5), indicating that reproduction is pollen-limited, we expected that 3) the exogenous effects of light on *O. cuspidatum* reproductive output, mediated both by pollinators and nectar robbers, would be stronger than the endogenous effects. Finally, 4) we expected that strong direct effects of light during growth environment would overwhelm any effects of parental environment, and thus that transgenerational effects would be absent.

METHODS

Study system

Odontonema cuspidatum (Acanthaceae) is a polycarpic shrub endemic to southern Mesoamerica, where it occurs in the forest understory, particularly in light gaps and along watercourses; it is also commonly planted as an ornamental and for erosion control (Daniel, 1995, G. Fitch personal observation). Broken stems of *O. cuspidatum* readily root to become independent ramets (G. Fitch personal observation).

In the study area, *O. cuspidatum* blooms primarily during the rainy season, from June to August, bearing indeterminate branching racemes of tubular red flowers. Plants are self-fertile but not capable of autogamy (see Results). Flowers are primarily pollinated by hummingbirds (G. Fitch unpublished data), but are also attractive to a wide range of nectar-feeding insects. Many of these insects engage in nectar robbery, extracting nectar from perforations in the base of the corolla tube. Primary nectar robbers – i.e. those that make the perforation themselves – include two species of stingless bee in the genus *Trigona* (*T. fulviventris* and *T. nigerrima*, Hymenoptera: Apidae: Meliponini; Figure B.1). Other Hymenoptera, as well as several species of Lepidoptera, secondarily rob, using previously-made perforations. Flowers are commonly robbed before opening, generally once they are <1.5cm long and less than 2 days before opening; NR prior to opening generally does not impact blooming. Nectar robbery leads to a ~40% reduction in probability of setting fruit (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021).

Fertilized flowers produce explosively dehiscent capsules containing up to four seeds. In the population under study, fruit set is quite low: on average <20% of flowers produce fruit (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021).

Research was conducted at Finca Irlanda (15.17358 -92.33827), a shaded organic coffee farm in southeastern Chiapas, Mexico. The farm, approximately 300ha in extent and 900-1150masl, consists of coffee plantation with a diverse tree canopy, along with several forest fragments. On the farm, *O. cuspidatum* occurs both within areas of coffee cultivation and in forest fragments.

Odontonema cuspidatum mating system

To determine whether O. cuspidatum was self-compatible and capable of autogamy, we selected 3 naturally-occurring plants in 2017 and another 3 plants in 2018 that were not otherwise part of the study. On each of these plants, we randomly assigned one inflorescence to each of the following treatments before flowering had begun: no pollination, ambient pollination, hand self-pollination, and hand cross-pollination. Inflorescences in the ambient pollination treatment were left open, while all others were covered with a pollinator exclosure bag made of 0.5cm mesh fabric. Inflorescences were monitored daily for open flowers. For the hand self- and cross-pollination treatments, O. cuspidatum pollen was applied to the stigma of all open flowers using a wire filament loop. For the self-pollination treatment, pollen was removed from the anthers of 4 flowers from an inflorescence that belonged to the same plant but was not part of the study. For the cross-pollination treatment, pollen was removed from the anthers of 4 flowers from 2 different O. cuspidatum plants that were not part of the study. Pollen from all contributing flowers was mixed before applying to treated flowers. Treated flowers were marked with nail polish on the pedicel. Flowers in the no pollination and ambient pollination treatment were manipulated and marked to control for handling effects. When fruits were mature, we recorded the number of fruits and of manipulated flowers, and collected all fruits. We placed fruits,

segregated by inflorescence, in a drying oven until all had dehisced (approximately 24h), and then counted seeds, providing a measure of seeds per inflorescence.

Differences in fruit set and seeds per inflorescence across pollination treatments (no pollination, ambient pollination, hand pollination with self pollen, hand pollination with cross pollen) were evaluated using paired t-tests, with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

Field surveys

We haphazardly selected 109 *O. cuspidatum* individuals within the study area for inclusion in field surveys (hereafter, we refer to these plants as "naturally-occurring"). Each selected plant was individually marked with flagging tape at its base, and was monitored during the flowering period in 2017 and 2018. Among the 109 surveyed plants, 33 individuals surveyed in 2017 either died or did not flower in 2018; in 2018 we included an additional 15 plants that did not flower in 2017. We recorded the GPS coordinates of each plant, and determined the degree of canopy cover directly above the crown of the plant – our measure of light availability – using CanopyApp 1.0.3 (University of New Hampshire, Durham, New Hampshire, USA). Canopy cover ranged from 22%-98%. Distances between surveyed plants ranged from 10-2200m. The hummingbirds that serve as primary pollinators of *O. cuspidatum* have foraging ranges that span this distance, and move readily between forest fragments and areas of coffee production (Barney et al. unpublished manuscript), so all surveyed individuals represent a single population.

In 2017-2018, plants were surveyed for NR weekly during flowering. NR leaves visible perforations at the base of the corolla tube. At each survey, all flowers \geq 1.5cm in length on inflorescences that contained at least one open flower were checked for evidence of robbery, and

we recorded the number of robbed and unrobbed flowers per inflorescence. We tallied robbery for open and unopened flowers separately.

Beginning approximately two weeks after flowering ended on the earliest-flowering inflorescence, and continuing weekly until all inflorescences had matured, we assessed fruit set by counting the number of fruit and number of persistent ovaries (i.e. flowers that had not set fruit) on mature inflorescences. Inflorescences that had been damaged by insect herbivores [primarily *Chlysone* sp. (Nymphalidae: Lepidoptera) larvae; representing <5% of inflorescences] were not included in measures of fruit set, though we included counts from these inflorescences in plant-level flower number. To measure seed set, up to 5 fruits (in 2017) or all undamaged fruits (in 2018) were collected from each inflorescence. Collected fruits were placed in a drying oven until all had dehisced (approximately 24h), and then seeds were counted.

Floral traits

On a subset of 18 of the plants that were surveyed for nectar robbery, chosen to represent the overall gradient of canopy cover, we measured the following aspects of floral morphology: corolla tube length, corolla flare, corolla mouth width, and corolla base width. These traits were chosen because they are readily measurable in the field, and have been shown to influence flower visitor attraction in other species (e.g. Galen 1999; Rojas-Nossa et al. 2016; Gélvez-Zúñiga et al. 2018). On each plant, 5 open flowers were randomly selected for measurement. Measurements occurred between 21-29 June 2018, and were made using digital calipers (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, New Jersey, USA).

On another subset of monitored plants (49 in 2017, 19 in 2018 with 7 included in both years; see Figure B.2 for details of sampling scheme) – again chosen to represent the range of

canopy cover seen across monitored plants – we assessed nectar volume and sugar content. Nectar sampling in 2018 was primarily to fill gaps in the range of canopy cover experienced by plants sampled in 2017, with repeat sampling of a subset of individuals to determine the degree of interannual variability in nectar traits within individuals, which was found to be low and showed no consistent temporal trend (G. Fitch unpublished data). Unbagged flowers consistently had no standing nectar crop, so we measured nectar production on flowers from which pollinators were excluded with mesh bags. We bagged two inflorescences/plant and checked bagged inflorescences for open flowers 2x/week. Nectar volume was measured by removing the nectar from a flower with a 75µL microcapillary tube (Drummond Scientific, Broomall, Pennsylvania, USA), and measuring the height of the nectar in the tube using digital calipers. To measure nectar sugar content, we used a pocket refractometer (Eclipse 45-81, Bellingham & Stanley, Tunbridge Wells, UK). Only plants for which we had measures of both nectar volume and nectar sugar content for \geq 4 flowers were included in data analysis.

We used correlation between floral traits and light availability to assess the endogenous response of *O. cuspidatum* floral traits to light (Figure 4.1B). We did not investigate the physiology underlying these correlations, and only infer that these correlations are due to light impacts on photosynthate availability.

Reciprocal translocation experiment

See Figure 4.2 for a schematic diagram of the reciprocal transplant experiment design. In August 2017, we cut 12 stems (hereafter ramets) each from 12 plants, 6 growing in high light [canopy cover < 50%; high-light parental environment (PE)] and 6 in low light (canopy cover > 80%; low-light PE). Cut ramets were potted in 500cm³ nursery sleeves filled with potting soil from the Finca Irlanda nursery. Half the ramets from each plant were placed in the Finca Irlanda

nursery, where light availability was high [23% canopy cover; high-light growth environment (GE)]; the other half were placed together in a nearby forest fragment with dense canopy (95% canopy cover) and low light availability (low-light GE). Canopy cover at these sites fell within the range of canopy cover experienced by naturally-occurring plants. Ramets were left to grow for 10 months, until the onset of flowering. During the dry season, all ramets were given a soaking watering 1x/week, but were otherwise untended.

In June 2018, 38 of the potted ramets flowered and were placed in the field in arrays of 2 or 3 ramets prior to the onset of flowering (see Figure 4.2 for number of ramets in each PE-GE-FE combination). Arrays were located >10m and <100m from existing O. cuspidatum plants in bloom, and >10m from other arrays. Eighteen ramets were placed in low-light conditions [canopy cover >85%; low-light flowering environment (FE)] in a forest fragment to bloom, and 20 were placed in high-light conditions (canopy cover <35%; high-light FE) in an area of coffee cultivation. These ramets were monitored for NR, and assessed for fruit and seed set, as outlined above for naturally-occurring plants, with the difference that monitoring of potted ramets for NR occurred every other day rather than weekly. Several ramets were heavily damaged by *Chlosyne* sp. larvae during the course of the experiment and were excluded from analyses of season-long flower production and reproductive output. Five ramets from four different treatments were heavily damaged by *Chlosyne* sp. larvae during the course of the experiment and were excluded from analyses of season-long flower production and reproductive output. In all cases, damage occurred only after flowering was underway, so we included data on NR and per-observation flower number for all plants. We could identify no ecological correlate with *Chlosyne* sp. herbivory. Because of the small number of ramets that flowered in 2018, we were not able to assess floral traits, other than flower number, on ramets in the reciprocal translocation

experiment. While 38 ramets spread over six treatments results in a small number of individuals per treatment, the fully-factorial design maximized statistical power by enabling us to group individuals across multiple treatments when considering the effect of any one environment.

Data analysis

All analyses were conducted in R v.3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2018). All models were checked for conformity to assumptions: linear models were checked for normality and heteroskedasticity; Poisson GLMs and GLMMs were checked for overdispersion.

To assess the effect of light availability on floral traits, we modeled each trait as a function of canopy cover using mixed-effects models, with plant as a random effect. Continuous traits were modeled using linear mixed models (LMMs), while discrete traits (i.e. flower number) were modeled with generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) with Poisson error distribution, as implemented in the package `lme4` (Bates et al. 2015). To check for correlation among the measured floral traits, we determined Pearson's correlation coefficient for each trait pair; traits were largely uncorrelated (the highest correlation, between basal width and corolla mouth width, was 0.41; Table B.1).

To test for effects of light availability, flower number, and floral traits on nectar robbing intensity (NRI), we used the number of robbed flowers as the response variable, offset by log(total number of flowers assessed for NR) in order to effectively model the proportion of flowers robbed. To assess the effects of per-observation flower number, we used a Poisson GLMM with plant identity as a random effect; the response variable was per-observation measures of robbed and total flowers. For all other models we used season-long mean NRI as the response variable in negative-binomial GLMs. For season-long total flower number, we included

year as an additional predictor to account for the fact that data came from two years. For flower morphology and nectar traits, we used plant-level mean trait values as the predictor variables.

We used three metrics of reproductive output to test for effects of light availability and NRI on reproductive output in naturally-occurring plants: fruit set, seed set, and seeds per plant. To model fruit set, we used a negative-binomial GLM with number of fruit as the response variable, offset by log(total number of flowers produced), which was determined as described under "Field surveys", above. Canopy cover, season-long proportion of flowers robbed, and year were the predictors. Models for seed set and seeds per plant were similar to those for fruit set, except year was not included as a predictor, since we had data from only 2018. For both models, the predictor variable was the number of seeds collected; the number of fruits collected was additionally included as an offset in the model of seed set.

For the reciprocal translocation experiment, we evaluated the effect of parental environment (PE), growth environment (GE), and flowering environment (FE) on both flower number and NR. We evaluated the effect of each environment on two aspects of flower number: 1) the number of open flowers at each observation and 2) the season-long total number of flowers produced. In both cases, we used a GLMM with the three environments as fixed effects and ramet nested within replicate as a random effect; for the model assessing the effect of environment on number of flowers open at a time, date of observation was included as an additional random effect.

To assess the effect of PE, GE, and FE on NR of ramets in the reciprocal translocation experiment, we used per-observation measures of NRI, rather than a season-long measure. Because ramets in the reciprocal translocation experiment were monitored more frequently – such that we observed most of the flowers each ramet produced while they were open – our

response variable was number of open robbed flowers, rather than all (open and unopened) robbed flowers. Our model for NRI of these ramets included log(total number of open flowers) as an offset and date and ramet nested within replicate as random effects. We began with a maximal model that included PE, GE, and FE, and all two- and three-way interactions between environments, as well as total flower number (including open flowers and closed flowers \geq 1.5cm long). We then conducted stepwise simplification of the model, eliminating interaction terms in order of p-value and comparing model fits using AICc. AICc values for all models differed by >2, so we used the best model for inference.

RESULTS

Odontonema cuspidatum mating system

We conducted pollen manipulation on a total of 1713 flowers across the four treatments (ambient pollination, no pollination, supplemental self pollination, supplemental cross pollination). Pollination manipulations revealed that *O. cuspidatum* is self-fertile but incapable of autogamy. Flowers receiving no pollination never set fruit. Fruit set for inflorescences hand-pollinated with self pollen (mean \pm SD = 0.54 \pm 0.11) was not significantly different from that of inflorescences receiving cross pollination (0.57 \pm 0.08; t = 0.45, df = 5, p = 0.7). While our sample size was small, power analysis using the effect size calculated from our data (*d* = 0.13) indicated that, to detect a difference between self- and cross-pollination at p < 0.05 and a power of 0.6, supplemental pollination treatments would need to be conducted on 226 plants. Seeds per inflorescence showed a greater difference between self- and cross-pollinated inflorescences (self: 162±49 seeds; cross: 206±53 seeds). Though this difference was again not significant (t = 0.88, df = 3, p = 0.4); the calculated effect size was higher (*d* = 0.43) and power analysis indicated that

23 plants would be needed to detect a significant difference in seeds per inflorescence between treatments. Inflorescences experiencing ambient pollination had significantly lower fruit set $(0.12\pm0.02; t = 3.7, df = 5, p = 0.01)$ and fewer seeds per inflorescence $(41 \pm 21; t = 3.7, df = 3, p = 0.03)$ than inflorescences receiving supplemental pollen (self or cross; statistics reported for more conservative comparison with self pollen treatment).

Field surveys

Effects of light availability on floral traits

Of the floral morphology traits measured (corolla length, corolla flare, corolla mouth width, corolla base width), only corolla flare was affected by light availability, with plants growing in low light having significantly wider petals than those growing in high light (Table 4.1). Flower number was also significantly impacted by light availability: plants growing in low light produced fewer flowers overall – and fewer flowers at a time – than plants receiving more sunlight (Table 4.1). Per-flower nectar volume was also significantly lower in low-light plants, but nectar sweetness was not affected by light availability (Table 4.1).

Effects of light availability and floral traits on nectar robbery

Nectar robbing intensity (NRI) was not significantly related to light availability in naturally-occurring plants (GLM: $\beta = 0.05 \pm 0.04$, z = 1.31, df = 166, p = 0.19). Of the measured floral traits, only flower number – measured as season-long total or as number of open flowers per observation – had an effect on NRI (Table 4.2). In both cases, flower number correlated positively with NRI.

Effects of light availability and nectar robbery on reproductive output

In naturally-occurring plants, neither fruit set nor seeds produced per plant were correlated with either light availability or NRI (Table 4.3). Seed set was not correlated with NRI, but was marginally negatively correlated with light availability (Table 4.3).

Reciprocal translocation experiment

Effect of light availability on floral traits

Of the three light environments considered [parental (PE), growth (GE), and flowering FE)], only GE had an effect on flower number (Table 4.4). Ramets in the low-light GE produced fewer total flowers and also had significantly fewer flowers \geq 1.5cm on a per-observation basis, though the number of open flowers per observation was not affected by GE. The magnitude of the effect of shading on flower number is comparable to that seen in naturally-occurring plants (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021).

Effects of light availability and floral traits on nectar robbing intensity

Flowering environment was the most important predictor of NRI, with ramets in the highlight FE experiencing higher NRI (Table 4.5). In addition to FE, the best model for NR of experimental ramets included flower number, PE, GE, and a PE × FE interaction (Table 4.5). Removing any single predictor resulted in a model with significantly poorer fit (Δ AICc > 2 in all cases), though there was no significant main effect of PE.

As in naturally-occurring plants, nectar-robbing intensity was positively correlated with total flower number (Table 4.5). Ramets grown in low light experienced higher NRI regardless of where they flowered, though this effect was relatively small and disappeared when flower

number was removed from the model. Finally, ramets from a low-light PE and low-light FE experienced significantly more NR than ramets from a low-light PE and high-light FE, generating the significant PE \times FE interaction included in the best model of NRI (Figure 4.3). There was no parallel relationship for experimental ramets from the high-light PE.

Reproductive output

Fruit set was significantly correlated with both GE and FE, though in contrasting manners. Fruit set was nearly three times higher in ramets from the high-light GE compared to the low-light GE (0.21 versus 0.07 fruits per flower; Table 4.4); the effect of FE was modest by comparison, but ramets in the high-light FE had a significantly lower fruit set than those in the low-light FE (0.16 versus 0.18 fruits per flower; Table 4.4). Parental environment had no effect on fruit set. Because of high levels of pre-dispersal seed predation on experimental ramets, we were unable to measure seed production on a sufficient number of ramets to draw conclusions about the effect of light availability on seed production.

DISCUSSION

While light availability is generally thought to positively influence plant reproduction by increasing the availability of resources to allocate to reproduction, the presence of multiple exogenous pathways linking light to plant reproduction (Figure 4.1) have the potential to complicate this direct link. In this study, in addition to increasing plant resources, light availability also influenced both pollination and nectar robbery (NR), via both direct and indirect pathways.

Light availability influenced multiple floral traits associated with pollinator attraction, in somewhat contrasting ways. Greater light availability was associated with higher flower number and increased nectar volume, but smaller corolla flare. Increases in flower number and nectar volume in plants receiving more light are consistent with the idea that light availability influences photosynthate production and therefore resources allocation to pollinator attraction and reproduction. It may be that plants growing in low light conditions compensate for reduced flower number and reward volume by increasing corolla flare to increase attractiveness to pollinators. However, while larger corolla flare increases pollinator attraction in many species (e.g. Conner and Rush 1996; Galen 1999; Mothershead and Marquis 2000), we do not know whether this is true for *O. cuspidatum*.

Light availability likewise influenced nectar robbing intensity (NRI). We hypothesized that this link would primarily be mediated by light availability's effects on floral traits. However, in the reciprocal translocation experiment, growth environment (GE) had only a small effect on NRI. Moreover, NRI was higher in plants from the low-light GE, contrary to our expectation. Thus, while flower number – which is influenced by light availability – has a modest effect on NRI, variation in NRI cannot be explained primarily by variation in floral traits. Instead, flowering environment (FE) was the most important predictor of NRI, with ramets flowering in high light experiencing more NR. Analogous patterns in insect pollinator visitation have, elsewhere, been invoked as evidence that higher light availability directly affects insect activity by increasing local temperature (Herrera, 1995; Kilkenny and Galloway, 2008). However, these studies were conducted in temperate regions, while the current study occurred in a warm tropical climate where low temperature is less likely to limit flower visitor behavior (Willmer, 1991). Another possibility is that low-light conditions affect foraging behavior not via temperature but

by reducing visual acuity and sensitivity of foraging bees (Streinzer et al., 2016). In that case, plants growing in low-light conditions would experience reduced NR both because foraging efficiency would be lower than in high-light conditions and because the diurnal time frame in which foraging could occur would be narrowed.

Alternatively, the link between FE light conditions and NRI may be mediated by the community composition of co-flowering plants, which we have shown elsewhere to be an important driver of NRI (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021). In this scenario, the low densities of co-flowering plants in low-light environments reduces local density of foraging nectar robbers, and therefore NR. Because our study design utilized pre-existing light availability regimes, with their concomitant floral communities, we are unable to disentangle the relative impact of light availability versus (light availability-influenced) co-flowering community composition on NRI. Nor did we directly measure pollinator or nectar robber visitation rates to either experimental or naturally-occurring plants. A more general concern with the reciprocal translocation experiment is that the relatively small number of experimental plants that flowered in 2018 limited our sample size. Thus, while the results from the reciprocal translocation study in many respects are consistent with findings from naturally-occurring plants, they should nevertheless be interpreted with caution, particularly where they conflict with results from surveys.

One unexpected finding from the reciprocal translocation study was that, once we accounted for the effect of flower number, NRI was actually higher for ramets from the low-light GE, regardless of FE. It may be that high light availability reduces the attractiveness of other traits, unmeasured in this study, that mediate nectar robber attraction (e.g. floral volatiles). In such a scenario, the positive effects of light availability on flower number and directly on nectar-robbing behavior would generally cancel out this hypothesized reduction in attractiveness. This

is consistent with our findings from both naturally-occurring and experimental plants that GE light availability *per se* did not influence NRI.

Data from the reciprocal translocation experiment and field surveys support conflicting inferences regarding the importance of light availability on *O. cuspidatum* reproductive output. In the reciprocal translocation experiment, GE was the most important determinant of fruit set, with higher fruit set in ramets grown in high-light conditions. This suggests that reproductive output is limited primarily by photosynthate availability, i.e. that endogenous pathways linking light availability and reproductive output (Figure 4.1F) are more important than exogenous pathways (Figure 4.1B-E). Since *O. cuspidatum* primarily occurs in high-light microhabitats (e.g. light gaps, streambeds), a strong direct response to light availability significantly influence reproductive output. In naturally-occurring plants, the effect of light availability on reproduction (via either endogenous or exogenous pathways) may be obscured by other factors (e.g. soil properties, biotic interactions, plant age or size) that were controlled in the reciprocal transplant experiment.

The modest negative relationship between FE light availability and fruit set in the reciprocal translocation experiment suggests that the pollinator-only-mediated pathways linking light availability and reproductive output (Figure 4.1B-C) are relatively unimportant in determining *O. cuspidatum* reproduction. In this population of *O. cuspidatum*, robbed flowers receive less pollination than unrobbed flowers, and as a result are significantly less likely to set fruit (Fitch and Vandermeer, 2021). Since NRI was positively correlated with light availability in the FE, pollinators avoiding robbed flowers will, all else being equal, pollinate more flowers on shaded plants. Interestingly, this suggests that light availability (and/or its impacts on the co-

flowering community; see above) influences nectar robber preference for *O. cuspidatum* more than pollinator preference. This could also explain the lack of correlation between light availability and fruit set in naturally-occurring plants, as the contrasting impacts of, on the one hand, reductions in photosynthate availability and, on the other, increases in pollination as light availability decreases would negate one another.

Our finding of a significant effect of parental environment (PE) \times FE interaction on NRI in experimental ramets suggests that clonal transgenerational effects (Latzel and Klimešová, 2010) influence plants' attractiveness to nectar robbers. Ramets sourced from parents growing in low-light conditions experienced significantly higher NRI when they flowered in low-versus high-light conditions, regardless of ramet GE. This suggests local adaptation of traits mediating nectar robber attraction to low light availability, conditioned by PE. Even when we controlled for the effects of NRI on fruit set – thereby recovering the effect of FE light availability on pollination – we found no evidence for a PE \times FE interactive effect on fruit set. This is further evidence that nectar robbers are, surprisingly, more sensitive to O. cuspidatum floral traits than pollinators – at least to those traits that are affected by PE. Moreover, given the negative effect of NR on reproductive success in O. cuspidatum, this suggests that clonal transgenerational plasticity – at least in relation to pollination – is not adaptive in this population. Further work is needed to elucidate the specific traits influencing NRI that exhibit transgenerational effects. In addition, while we suspect that light influences floral traits primarily by increasing photosynthate availability, in the absence of physiological studies we cannot be certain of the causal pathway linking light availability and floral traits.

This study highlights how complex, interacting effects of light on interactions between plants and mutualist and antagonist partners can complicate the simple assumption that increases

in light availability should increase plant reproductive success. Indeed, despite strong positive effects of light availability on plant growth and ovule production in *O. cuspidatum*, we found no effect of light availability on seed production. This was apparently due to strong effects of light availability on the nectar-robbing behavior of stingless bees, which in turn influenced pollination and seed production.

The effects of light availability on floral antagonists has received little attention to date; this study suggests that this oversight has limited our understanding of the often-complex relationship between light and plant reproduction. While we suspect that light availability commonly influences plant-floral antagonist interactions, further work in other plant-pollinatorfloral antagonist systems is needed to evaluate the generalizability of our findings. In particular, future research that more precisely identifies the causal mechanism(s) by which light influences floral antagonists – focusing on a taxonomically diverse set of antagonists – will greatly advance our ability to predict the net effects of light on plant reproduction in such complex systems.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was made possible by the support of Walter Peters and Bernd Peters, owners of Finca Irlanda, where the study was conducted, as well as the work of the farm's residents. Particular thanks are due to Miguel Crisóstomo and his team in the farm's nursery. Gustavo Lôpez Bautista and Gabriel Dominguez Martinez provided invaluable support in the field. This manuscript benefited from thoughtful feedback given by members of the Perfecto-Vandermeer lab group (especially Ivette Perfecto, Lauren Schmitt, and Chatura Vaidya), Mark D. Hunter, Meghan A. Duffy, Nina Sletvold, and one anonymous reviewer. Funding was provided by the Rackham Graduate School and Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Michigan.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aleixo, K. P., C. Menezes, V. L. Imperatriz Fonseca, and C. I. da Silva. 2017. Seasonal availability of floral resources and ambient temperature shape stingless bee foraging behavior (*Scaptotrigona* aff. *depilis*). *Apidologie* 48: 117–127.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software* 67: 1–48.
- Bronstein, J. L., J. L. Barker, E. M. Lichtenberg, L. L. Richardson, and R. E. Irwin. 2017. The behavioral ecology of nectar robbing: why be tactic constant? *Current Opinion in Insect Science* 21: 14–18.
- Burkle, L. A., R. E. Irwin, and D. A. Newman. 2007. Predicting the effects of nectar robbing on plant reproduction: implications of pollen limitation and plant mating system. *American Journal of Botany* 94: 1935–1943.
- Cao, G.-X., B.-X. Wu, X.-J. Xu, X. Wang, and C.-P. Yang. 2017. The effects of local variation in light availability on pollinator visitation, pollen and resource limitation of female reproduction in *Hosta ventricosa*. *Botanical Studies* 58: 24.
- Coleman, J. S., K. D. M. McConnaughay, and D. D. Ackerly. 1994. Interpreting phenotypic variation in plants. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 9: 187–191.
- Conner, J. K., and S. Rush. 1996. Effects of flower size and number on pollinator visitation to wild radish, *Raphanus raphanistrum*. *Oecologia* 105: 509–516.
- Cunningham, S. A. 1997. The Effect of Light Environment, Leaf Area, and Stored Carbohydrates on Inflorescence Production by a Rain Forest Understory Palm. *Oecologia* 111: 36–44.
- Daniel, T. F. 1995. Part 4: Acanthaceae. Flora of Chiapas,.
- Delerue, F., M. Gonzalez, A. Atlan, S. Pellerin, and L. Augusto. 2013. Plasticity of reproductive allocation of a woody species (*Ulex europaeus*) in response to variation in resource availability. *Annals of Forest Science* 70: 219–228.
- Dewan, S., P. De Frenne, A. Vanden Broeck, M. Steenackers, K. Vander Mijnsbrugge, and K. Verheyen. 2018. Transgenerational effects in asexually reproduced offspring of *Populus*. *PLOS ONE* 13: e0208591.
- Dong, B.-C., T. Fu, F.-L. Luo, and F.-H. Yu. 2017. Herbivory-induced maternal effects on growth and defense traits in the clonal species *Alternanthera philoxeroides*. *Science of The Total Environment* 605–606: 114–123.

- Dudt, J. F., and D. J. Shure. 1994. The Influence of Light and Nutrients on Foliar Phenolics and Insect Herbivory. *Ecology* 75: 86–98.
- Figueiredo-Mecca, G. de, L. R. Bego, and F. S. do Nascimento. 2013. Foraging behavior of *Scaptotrigona depilis* (Hymenoptera, Apidae, Meliponini) and its relationship with temporal and abiotic factors. *Sociobiology* 60: 267–282.
- Fitch, G., and J. H. Vandermeer. 2021. Changes in partner traits drive variation in plant–nectar robber interactions across habitats. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 53: 1-11.
- Galen, C. 1999. Why Do Flowers Vary? *BioScience* 49: 631–640.
- Galloway, L. F., and J. R. Etterson. 2009. Plasticity to canopy shade in a monocarpic herb: within- and between-generation effects. *New Phytologist* 182: 1003–1012.
- Galloway, L. F., and J. R. Etterson. 2007. Transgenerational plasticity is adaptive in the wild. *Science* 318: 1134–1136.
- Gegear, R. J., R. Burns, and K. A. Swoboda-Bhattarai. 2017. "Hummingbird" floral traits interact synergistically to discourage visitation by bumble bee foragers. *Ecology* 98: 489–499.
- Gélvez-Zúñiga, I., A. L. Teixido, A. C. O. Neves, and G. W. Fernandes. 2018. Floral antagonists counteract pollinator-mediated selection on attractiveness traits in the hummingbirdpollinated *Collaea cipoensis* (Fabaceae). *Biotropica* 50: 797–804.
- Heger, T. 2016. Light availability experienced in the field affects ability of following generations to respond to shading in an annual grassland plant. *Journal of Ecology* 104: 1432–1440.
- Herrera, C. M. 1995. Floral Biology, Microclimate, and Pollination by Ectothermic Bees in an Early-Blooming Herb. *Ecology* 76: 218–228.
- Irwin, R. E. 2006. The Consequences of Direct versus Indirect Species Interactions to Selection on Traits: Pollination and Nectar Robbing in *Ipomopsis aggregata*. *The American Naturalist* 167: 315–328.
- Irwin, R. E., J. L. Bronstein, J. S. Manson, and L. Richardson. 2010. Nectar robbing: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 41: 271–292.
- Kilkenny, F. F., and L. F. Galloway. 2008. Reproductive success in varying light environments: direct and indirect effects of light on plants and pollinators. *Oecologia* 155: 247–255.
- Latzel, V., and J. Klimešová. 2010. Transgenerational plasticity in clonal plants. *Evolutionary Ecology* 24: 1537–1543.
- Maloof, J. E., and D. W. Inouye. 2000. Are Nectar Robbers Cheaters or Mutualists? *Ecology* 81: 2651–2661.

- Mattila, T., and V. Salonen. 1995. Reproduction of *Viola mirabilis* in relation to light and nutrient availability. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 73: 1917–1924.
- McConnaughay, K. D. M., and J. S. Coleman. 1999. Biomass Allocation in Plants: Ontogeny or Optimality? A Test along Three Resource Gradients. *Ecology* 80: 2581–2593.
- McDonald, E. P., J. Agrell, and R. L. Lindroth. 1999. CO₂ and Light Effects on Deciduous Trees: Growth, Foliar Chemistry, and Insect Performance. *Oecologia* 119: 389–399.
- Morris, W. F. 1996. Mutualism denied? Nectar-robbing bumble bees do not reduce female or male success of bluebells. *Ecology* 77: 1451–1462.
- Mothershead, K., and R. J. Marquis. 2000. Fitness impacts of herbivory through indirect effects on plant-pollinator interactions in *Oenothera macrocarpa*. *Ecology* 81: 30–40.
- Münzbergová, Z., and V. Hadincová. 2017. Transgenerational plasticity as an important mechanism affecting response of clonal species to changing climate. *Ecology and Evolution* 7: 5236–5247.
- Niesenbaum, R. A. 1993. Light or Pollen--Seasonal Limitations on Female Reproductive Success in the Understory Shrub *Lindera benzoin. Journal of Ecology* 81: 315–323.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing.
- Roach, D. A., and R. D. Wulff. 1987. Maternal effects in plants. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 18: 209–235.
- Rojas-Nossa, S. V., J. M. Sánchez, and L. Navarro. 2016. Nectar robbing: a common phenomenon mainly determined by accessibility constraints, nectar volume and density of energy rewards. *Oikos* 125: 1044–1055.
- Rossiter, M. 1996. Incidence and consequences of inherited environmental effects. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 27: 451–476.
- Schiestl, F. P., and S. D. Johnson. 2013. Pollinator-mediated evolution of floral signals. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 28: 307–315.
- Streinzer, M., W. Huber, and J. Spaethe. 2016. Body size limits dim-light foraging activity in stingless bees (Apidae: Meliponini). *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 202: 643–655.
- Suárez-Vidal, E., X. López-Goldar, L. Sampedro, and R. Zas. 2017. Effect of Light Availability on the Interaction between Maritime Pine and the Pine Weevil: Light Drives Insect Feeding Behavior But Also the Defensive Capabilities of the Host. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8.

Willmer, P. G. 1991. Constraints on foraging by solitary bees. *In* L. Goodman, and R. C. Fisher [eds.], The behavior and physiology of bees, CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 4.1. Effect of light availability on floral traits of naturally-occurring plants. Estimates derived from a GLMM with Poisson error distribution (for the 3 measures of flower number) or LMM (for all other traits). Light availability (measured as the inverse of canopy cover) and all traits except flower number were scaled to the mean to allow for comparison of effect sizes. Boldface indicates a significant effect (p<0.05) of light availability on that trait.

Trait	ß±SE	t or z	DF	р
Total flower number	0.30±0.08	3.51	124	<0.001
Open flowers per observation	0.31±0.05	6.03	643	<0.001
Flowers ≥1.5cm long per observation	0.31±0.05	6.18	643	<0.001
Corolla flare	-0.27±0.12	-2.35	82	0.03
Corolla mouth width	0.16±0.16	1.02	82	0.3
Corolla base width	0.07±0.14	0.50	82	0.6
Corolla length	-0.07±0.12	-0.60	82	0.5
Nectar volume	0.18±0.08	2.16	475	0.03
Nectar sweetness	0.04±0.13	0.29	336	0.8

Table 4.2. Effect of floral traits on nectar robbery in naturally-occurring plants. Model output from GLMMs with Poisson error distribution and plant as a random effect. In all models, response variable was season-long total number of robbed flowers, with log(total number of flowers) included as an offset in order to assess effect of floral traits on proportion of flowers experiencing nectar robbery.

Trait	ß±SE	Z	DF	р
Total flower number	0.14±0.02	5.48	125	<0.001
Open flowers per observation	0.08±0.03	2.47	644	0.01
Flowers ≥1.5cm long per observation	0.02±0.03	0.47	645	0.6
Corolla flare	0.005±0.07	0.07	29	0.9
Corolla mouth width	0.10±0.07	1.45	29	0.2
Corolla base width	0.08±0.07	1.14	29	0.3
Corolla length	0.03±0.06	0.57	29	0.6
Nectar volume	0.03±0.05	0.49	65	0.6
Nectar sweetness	-0.06 ± 0.06	-0.10	63	0.3

Table 4.3. Effects of nectar robbery and light availability on reproductive output in naturally-occurring plants, estimated using negative-binomial GLMs. Estimates for fruit set use two years of data; estimates for seed set and seeds per plant use a single year of data. Boldface indicates a significant effect (p < 0.05).

Measure of Nect		r robber	у	Light availability Year (2018)			8)	DE		
output	ß±SE	Z	р	ß±SE	Z	р	ß±SE	Z	р	DF
Fruit set – all plants	-0.07 ±0.19	-0.37	0.7	0.002 ±0.05	0.03	0.9	-0.34 ±0.11	-3.06	0.002	124
Seed set – all plants	-0.06 ±0.10	-0.54	0.6	-0.19 ±0.10	-1.91	0.06	_			55
Seeds per plant – all plants	0.23 ±0.15	1.54	0.1	0.14 ±0.15	0.93	0.4				55

Table 4.4. Effect of light availability on floral traits and fruit set of experimental ramets. In all cases, β estimates represent the effect of the high-light environment in comparison to the low-light environment. Boldface indicates a significant effect (p < 0.05).

Response	Pa envii	rental ronmer	nt	Growth environment		Flowering environment			DF	
variable	ß±SE	Z	р	ß±SE	Z	р	ß±SE	Z	р	
Total flowers	0.42 ±0.30	1.41	0.2	1.01 ±0.27	3.71	<0.001	0.26 ±0.31	0.86	0.4	32
Flowers ≥1.5cm, per observation	0.16 ±0.15	1.06	0.3	0.34 ±0.16	2.18	0.03	0.23 ±0.16	1.48	0.1	198
Open flowers, per observation	0.15 ±0.16	0.97	0.3	0.26 ±0.18	1.46	0.1	0.14 ±0.17	0.79	0.4	198
Fruit set	0.01 ±0.18	0.06	0.9	1.44 ±0.35	4.33	<0.001	0.36 ±0.18	2.0	0.046	31

Table 4.5. Best model for predicting robbery of ramets from reciprocal translocation experiment. For the different environments, β -estimates indicate the effect of the low-light environment. Boldface indicates a significant effect (p < 0.05).

Predictor	β±SE	Z	р	ΔAICc for omitting variable
Total flower number	0.04±0.02	2.43	0.02	3.7
Parental environment	0.19±0.23	0.84	0.40	14.4
Growth environment	0.67±0.29	2.35	0.02	2.9
Flowering environment	-3.02±0.58	-5.24	<0.001	21.3
Parental environment × flowering environment	2.23±0.62	3.61	<0.001	9.8

Figure 4.1. Conceptual diagram illustrating the multiple pathways by which light availability can influence seed production, pollination, and nectar robbery in *Odontonema cuspidatum*. Arrows indicate positive effects, while filled circles indicate negative effects. In



direct pathways, light availability modifies an interaction partner, while in indirect pathways, light availability modifies an interaction link. Dotted links indicate the predicted net effect of light availability on seed production for the illustrated pathway. Note that multiple pathways may operate in tandem. A. Complete path diagram. B-E. Exogenous pathways (i.e. pathways that involve nectar robbers and/or pollinators). B. Direct pollinator pathway: light directly affects pollinator behavior; pollinator behavior affects seed production. C. Indirect pollinator pathway: light affects pollinator behavior via effect on floral traits; pollinator behavior affects seed production. D. Direct nectar robber pathway: light directly affects nectar robber behavior: nectar

robbery decreases pollination. E. Indirect nectar robber pathway: light affects nectar robber behavior via effect on floral traits; nectar robbery decreases pollination. F. Endogenous pathways (i.e. pathways that only involve light effects on plant). In C and E, the flow diagrams imply that light affects floral traits via changes to photosynthate availability, but in this study we did not investigate the physiological mechanisms underlying correlation between light availability and

floral traits. Note that some possible pathways (e.g. nectar robbery directly affects seed production) are omitted because they were eliminated as potential causal pathways in this study system (see text).

Figure 4.2. Schematic diagram of the experimental design for the reciprocal translocation experiment. Arrows indicate translocation; N denotes the number of plants included in the treatment.



Figure 4.3. Effect of light availability at flowering time on nectar robbery, as mediated by light environment experienced by the parent plant. Error bars represent standard error; letters indicate significantly different levels of nectar robbery; N denotes the number of plants included in the treatment.



Chapter 5 Can Conflicting Selection from Pollinators and Antagonists Drive Adaptive Pollen Limitation? A Conceptual Model and Empirical Test²

ABSTRACT

Pollen limitation is widespread, despite predictions that it shouldn't be. We propose a novel mechanism generating pollen limitation: conflicting selection by pollinators and antagonists on pollinator attraction traits. We introduce a heuristic model demonstrating antagonist-induced adaptive pollen limitation, and present a field study illustrating its occurrence in a wild population.

For antagonist-induced adaptive pollen limitation to occur, four criteria must be met: 1) correlated attraction of pollinators and antagonists, 2) greater response by antagonists than pollinators to altered investment in attraction traits, 3) reduced investment in pollinator attraction leading to pollen limitation, but 4) maximizing fitness.

We surveyed nectar robbery and reproductive output for 109 *Odontonema cuspidatum* (Acanthaceae) plants in a pollen-limited population over two years and used experimental floral arrays to evaluate how flower number affects pollination and nectar robbery. Both pollinators and nectar robbers preferred larger floral displays, and nectar robbery reduced reproductive output, suggesting conflicting selection. Survey and experimental data agreed closely on the optimum flower number under antagonist-induced pollen limitation; this number was

² Co-author is Vandermeer, J.

substantially overrepresented in the population. While criteria for antagonist-induced adaptive pollen limitation are restrictive, the necessary conditions may commonly obtain. Considering interactions beyond the plant-pollinator dyad illuminates previously overlooked mechanisms generating pollen limitation.

INTRODUCTION

Antagonists are commonly attracted by the same traits that plants use to attract pollinators (Adler and Bronstein 2004; Theis and Adler 2012; Ågren et al. 2013; Sletvold et al. 2015; Sun et al. 2016; Knauer and Schiestl 2017). Where both antagonists and pollinators favor particular trait values, this can lead to conflicting selection on these attraction traits (Sletvold et al. 2015; Sun et al. 2016; Ramos and Schiestl 2019). Depending on the relative strength of selection exerted by the antagonist and mutualist (Sletvold et al. 2015), as well as the degree of spatial and temporal variability in these pressures (Siepielski and Benkman 2010; Siepielski et al. 2013; Ågren et al. 2013), such conflicting selection can favor intermediate phenotypes, maintain within-population phenotypic diversity (Siepielski and Benkman 2010; Shumate et al. 2011), or lead to a spatial mosaic of populations with distinct dominant phenotypes (Ågren et al. 2013). Despite known examples of conflicting selection via correlated attraction of pollinators and antagonists affecting floral trait evolution, the potential role of such selective pressures in generating pollen limitation of plant reproduction (i.e., when seed production is limited by a lack of pollen receipt, rather than a lack of resources) has received little attention. Here, we outline a mechanism by which conflicting selection by pollinators and antagonists may give rise to adaptive pollen limitation (PL). We first present a conceptual model explaining the mechanism,

then present data from field surveys and experimental manipulation that are consistent with the model.

Pollen limitation (PL) is ubiquitous in animal-pollinated plants (Burd 1994; Ashman et al. 2004; Knight et al. 2006). Haig and Westoby (1988) proposed a foundational framework for understanding PL. Their framework assumes that there is a trade-off between investment of resources in pollinator attraction and investment in ovule provisioning, and that the number of ovules fertilized is an increasing function of investment in pollinator attraction (in Figure 5.1, P represents effective pollination and R represents resources available for ovule provisioning, as a function of investment in pollinator attraction). Given these assumptions, optimum investment in pollinator attraction should occur at the intersection of the functions relating investment in pollinator attraction to 1) number or proportion of ovules fertilized and 2) number or proportion of ovules that could be provisioned (I_N * in Figure 5.1). At this intersection, plant reproductive output is simultaneously limited by resource availability and pollen receipt. This qualitative result holds for a wide range of functions specifying the pollination and resource curves, but the pollination function is generally modeled as an asymptotic function of allocation to pollinator attraction, while the resource function is modeled as a linear function (Haig and Westoby 1988; Ashman et al. 2004; Burd 2008). Within the Haig-Westoby framework, pollen limitation occurs when investment in pollinator attraction is less than the optimum (i.e. to the left of I_N *, Figure 5.1), leaving potentially provisionable ovules unfertilized.

Haig and Westoby's framework (1988) predicts that PL should be rare, given that it represents a suboptimal investment in pollinator attraction. Yet PL is common. Most explanations invoke variability in pollen receipt, which subsumes two dominant theories. The first suggests that pollen limitation arises from the failure of a plant population to respond to an

altered pollination regime that results in decreased fertilization (Thomson 2001; Ashman et al. 2004; Vamosi et al. 2006). In this scenario, ecological change results in decreased pollen receipt compared to conditions in which the plant evolved. The plant, adapted to a prior equilibrium level of pollen receipt, is 'locked in' to producing more ovules than will be pollinated. The second theory posits that pollen limitation represents an adaptive response to stochastic variability across space or time in pollen receipt (Burd 1995*a*; Ashman et al. 2004). Burd (1995) showed theoretically that, in many cases – particularly when variance in pollen receipt across flowers within an individual is high – producing more ovules than are pollinated on average is adaptive, as it allows the plant to take advantage of rare instances of high levels of pollination.

While the two mechanisms outlined above likely generate many instances of PL, we believe the constrained focus on plant-pollinator interactions in existing theory on PL overlooks potential additional mechanisms that necessarily involve other types of biotic interactions. One such mechanism, which we call antagonist-induced adaptive PL, is an adaptive response by a plant to conflicting selection from pollinators and floral antagonists (e.g. florivores, nectar robbers) on pollinator attraction traits. Figure 5.1 provides a conceptual diagram, adapted from the Haig-Westoby framework, that depicts how antagonist-driven adaptive PL arises; below we outline this mechanism in greater detail.

The conceptual model

For antagonist-induced adaptive PL to occur, four criteria must be met:

1. Both pollinators and antagonists must be attracted by the same trait(s). This is illustrated in Figure 5.1A by the shape of the curves *P* and *A*, where *A*, hereafter referred to as the antagonist function, represents the relationship between investment in pollinator

attraction and proportional antagonist damage (ranging from 0, no damage, to 1, all flowers damaged); both P and A are increasing functions of investment in pollinator attraction. This establishes the potential for conflicting pressures on plant allocation to pollinator attraction.

- 2. The response of the antagonist to a change in investment in pollinator attraction must be equal to or greater than the response of the pollinator (see Discussion for an evaluation of how widespread we expect this to be). When this is the case, the maximum slope (and possibly the asymptotic value) of *A* will be greater than that of *P*. Therefore, the intersection of *I*-*A* (the inverse of the antagonist function; i.e. the proportion of undamaged flowers) will intersect with *P* to the left of I_N^* (Figure 5.1B).
- 3. The resulting conflicting pressures should lead to reduced investment in the relevant attraction trait(s) and therefore a level of pollen receipt lower than that which would maximize viable seed production (i.e. PL).
- 4. Reduced investment in pollinator attraction should nevertheless result in higher fitness for plants, compared to those that allocate more to pollinator attraction.

There are two ways in which criteria 3 and 4 may be met. First, antagonist damage may have such a strong negative impact on the plant's ability to reproduce that, in the presence of the antagonist, maximum reproductive success during that reproductive event is achieved at a level of investment in pollinator attraction below the Haig-Westoby optimum. Alternatively, for an iteroparous species (i.e. a species that reproduces multiple times), reduced allocation towards pollinator attraction may be advantageous if this increases the likelihood of surviving to reproduce again. In this case, what would be the optimum level of investment in pollinator attraction? While the answer to this question will depend in part on the precise nature of the trade-off between present and future reproduction, a first approximation of this optimum is indicated by the intersection point of curves P and 1-A (I_A *, Figure 5.1B). At this intersection, attraction of pollinators and antagonists is such that all flowers could, at least in theory, interact with either a pollinator or an antagonist but not both. Assuming that antagonist-damaged flowers are rarely successfully pollinated, this intersection point describes optimum investment in pollinator attraction. Why? On the one hand, investing more in pollinator attraction would result in losing flowers to antagonists that would otherwise attract pollinators (representing lost investment both of the additional resources allocated to pollinator attraction and of the resources spent on initial ovule formation for those flowers lost to antagonists). On the other hand, investing less in pollinator attraction than this optimum would result in flowers that were neither damaged nor pollinated, representing wasted allocation of resources to the formation of ovules that will not be fertilized. The degree to which this partitioning of flowers into exclusive "for pollinator" or "for antagonist" categories actually occurs is likely to depend on the mechanism by which antagonists affect seed production (i.e. by reducing pollinator attraction vs. reducing ovule viability; see Discussion for details).

The optimum investment in pollinator attraction in the presence of the antagonist (the antagonist-driven optimum) will be lower than the Haig-Westoby optimum predicted by the intersection of pollen limitation and resource limitation functions, so long as criterion 2 (above) is satisfied. This reduced investment in pollinator attraction will result in PL. Uniquely, in comparison to the other explanations of PL outlined above, this mechanism suggests that PL may be adaptive even in an environment of relatively predictable levels of pollen receipt (though it can also operate when pollen receipt varies unpredictably).

Empirical test of the conceptual model

We evaluated evidence for the idea that conflicting pressures from antagonists and pollinators lead to PL, using nectar robbery and pollination of the iteroparous shrub *Odontonema cuspidatum* (Acanthaceae) as a model system. *Odontonema cuspidatum* is likely pollinated primarily by hummingbirds (G. Fitch unpublished data; Meyer and Lavergne 2004), and, in the study region in Chiapas, Mexico (where it is native), is also heavily nectar-robbed, primarily by stingless bees of the genus *Trigona (T. fulviventris* and *T. nigerrima*; Meliponini: Apidae) (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021). Nectar robbery occurs when a flower visitor extracts nectar from the flower via an animal-made hole rather than the corolla opening.

In the study population, robbed flowers of *O. cuspidatum* are 41% less likely to set fruit than unrobbed flowers (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021). Moreover, at the plant level, nectar robbing intensity (i.e. the proportion of flowers that are robbed) increases as flower number increases, at least for floral displays of moderate size (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021). In other species, hummingbird visitation is likewise positively related to flower number (Schemske 1980; Rodriguez-Robles et al. 1992; but see Brody and Mitchell 1997). We therefore suggest that flower number is a key trait governing the attraction of both pollinators and antagonists (i.e. nectar robbers) to *O. cuspidatum* (satisfying criterion 1). We evaluated whether antagonist response to flower number is stronger than pollinator response (satisfying criterion 2), and determined the Haig-Westby and antagonist-induced optima, using a combination of field surveys and a manipulative experiment. Assuming a stronger response of antagonists to flower number, we predicted that naturally-occurring plants would have fewer flowers than predicted by the Haig-Westoby optimum (I_N *, Figure 5.1), and would be pollen-limited (satisfying criterion

3). Finally, we predicted that floral display sizes close to the antagonist-induced optimum (I_A *, Figure 5.1B), as predicted by data on pollinator and antagonist response to flower number, would be overrepresented among naturally-occurring plants (consistent with criterion 4). However, we hypothesized that the variable intensity of nectar robbery experienced by plants (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021) would maintain high within-population variability in floral display size (Siepielski and Benkman 2010).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study system

This study took place at Finca Irlanda, a large (ca. 300ha) shaded, certified organic coffee farm in southeast Chiapas, Mexico. In this area, *O. cuspidatum* occurs commonly as an understory plant. *Odontonema cuspidatum* is a sprawling shrub, 1.5-2.5 m in height. The plant flowers primarily from May-August, in the early part of the rainy season. Plants produce indeterminate, branching terminal racemes holding slender red flowers, 1.5-3.0 cm long. Individual inflorescences hold from ~10 to several hundred flowers, and plants produce from one to several dozen inflorescences per flowering period. Plants can live for at least five years, and generally produce flowers every year beginning in their second or third year (G. Fitch unpublished data).

Flowers of *O. cuspidatum* are visited by a wide range of nectar- and pollen-feeding animals. Legitimate visitors are primarily hummingbirds, with less frequent visits from butterflies and small solitary bees (G. Fitch unpublished data). While *Trigona* bees act as primary nectar robbers, a host of Hymenopterans secondarily rob *O. cuspidatum* flowers; these include several species of ants and wasps, as well as other species of stingless bees.

Evaluation of pollen limitation

We evaluated the strength of PL in the studied population of *O. cuspidatum* in 2016-2018, using a total of six *O. cuspidatum* individuals with \geq 4 inflorescences. Four of these plants were growing within areas of coffee cultivation, under relatively high-light conditions, while two were growing in a forest fragment with reduced light availability. Total flower number for the manipulated plants ranged from 131 to 1286. Six plants is a small sample size from which to estimate PL, but logistical constraints (both the time involved in hand pollination of large numbers of flowers and the fact that there was only a limited number of plants available, and plants could not be both involved in this experiment and included in the monitoring study) made it difficult to include more plants, and the strength of PL meant that consistent, statistically significant effects were detected even with this small sample (see Results).

On each plant, one inflorescence was randomly assigned to each of the following treatments: ambient pollination and nectar robbery (unmanipulated), and hand cross-pollination (bagged to exclude nectar robbers; stigmas saturated with mixed pollen from 2 other *O*. *cuspidatum* individuals using a wire filament loop [see Fitch and Vandermeer (2020) for details]. All inflorescences were bagged during bud development, before any flowers were large enough to be nectar-robbed. Hand pollination occurred between 0600-0800 each day during the flowering period. All hand-pollinated flowers were marked on the pedicel with nail polish so that, in case we did not pollinate all flowers, we could distinguish between pollinated and unpollinated flowers. To control for the effects of handling and nail polish application, open flowers were similarly marked on inflorescences that were not hand-pollinated. Upon fruit maturation, we harvested inflorescences and determined fruit set (fruits per flower) and seeds per

inflorescence for each inflorescence, including only marked ovaries in our calculations. While we did not quantify nectar robbery on the plants in the hand-pollination trials, nectar robbers were observed on all open inflorescences.

Inflorescence-level treatments like we used have been shown to overestimate PL, due to resource reallocation by plants (Zimmerman and Pyke 1988; Knight et al. 2006). However, there are several reasons to suspect that reallocation effects are small in this case. First, inflorescences of *O. cuspidatum* are terminal, and we selected inflorescences for manipulation that were spatially separated within the plant; terminal inflorescences and spatial separation among inflorescences both reduce the possibility of reallocation (Wesselingh 2007). Moreover, stems of *O. cuspidatum*, if separated from the parent plant, commonly root to become new individuals, indicating that individual stems draw from independent resource pools, which makes reallocation unlikely (Wesselingh 2007).

Nevertheless, to control for potential effects of inflorescence-level treatment, in 2019 we conducted full-plant hand pollination on 5 individual *O. cuspidatum* that had been propagated from stem cuttings in August 2017 and grown in plastic nursery sleeves filled with soil obtained on the farm. These propagated plants were grown in the farm nursery, which has light exposure similar to that experienced by the naturally-occurring plants growing in the area of coffee cultivation. In all cases, 2019 was the first year these plants had flowered; all plants produced either 1 or 2 inflorescences. Hand pollination was carried out using cross pollen as described for inflorescence-level treatments above, and fruit set and seeds per plant were compared with data from 5 individuals of similar condition (i.e. propagated in August 2017, first flowering in 2019, in high-light environment) that received ambient pollination.

To determine whether plants were pollen-limited, we examined whether hand crosspollination had an effect on fruit set (i.e. fruits per flower), seeds per fruit, and seeds per inflorescence in naturally-occurring plants. We compared each measure for inflorescences that experienced hand cross-pollination and those receiving ambient pollination using paired t-tests. Since we found evidence for PL (see Results), we took the mean fruit set of hand-pollinated inflorescences to represent the proportion of flowers pollinated at the Haig-Westoby optimum for investment in pollinator attraction.

We assessed the effects of whole-plant hand cross-pollination on potted plants using a Mann-Whitney U test comparing fruit set in plants receiving hand pollination to those receiving ambient pollination.

Field surveys and estimation of optimal investment in pollinator attraction (IN* and IA*)

Survey methods are described in greater detail in Fitch and Vandermeer (2021). In brief, in May-July 2017-2018, we surveyed 109 individual *O. cuspidatum* plants (33 of these 109 were surveyed in 2017 only; 15 in 2018 only; 61 in both years) for nectar robbery every 5 days for the duration of the flowering period. At each survey, we checked all flowers >1.5 cm in length, whether open or not, for perforations at the corolla base – evidence of nectar robbery. Flowers >1.5 cm are generally either open or within 1-2 days of opening; flowers shorter 1.5 cm are unopened and are rarely robbed. Results for open and unopened flowers were tabulated separately, as were results for each inflorescence. At the conclusion of the flowering period, fruit set, seeds per fruit, and seeds per plant were assessed as described in Fitch and Vandermeer (2021).

To determine the theoretical fruit set that a plant would achieve in the absence of nectar robbery, we developed the following formula:

$$s_T = s_0 + (r \times d)$$

where s_T represents fruit set in the absence of nectar robbery, s_0 represents observed fruit set, r represents the proportion of flowers that were robbed, and d represents the population-level mean effect of nectar robbery on fruit set, derived from a subset of plants where we compared the fates of robbed and unrobbed flowers (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021):

$$d = \frac{fruit \ set \ for \ unrobbed \ flowers - fruit \ set \ for \ robbed \ flowers}{fruit \ set \ for \ robbed \ flowers}$$

In the population of *O. cuspidatum* under study, d = 0.70 in 2017 and 0.68 in 2018 (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021).

To test for a relationship between plant size, as measured by the number of stems, and flower number, we used a generalized linear model (GLM) with Poisson error distribution; number of flowers was the response variable, and number of stems the predictor.

We evaluated the relationship between total flower number and 1) nectar robbery and 2) corrected fruit set. For each relationship, we fit four different functions (linear, quadratic, logistic, and Michaelis-Menten) to the data using the `nls` function. We used AICc scores to determine the best model. Once the best model was selected, we used the predicted best-fit curves in two ways. First, we used the fit of theoretical fruit set to floral display size to determine I_N *, the Haig-Westoby optimum flower number, based on the mean fruit set achieved by hand-pollinated inflorescences. Second, we overplotted the curves for theoretical fruit set and for the proportion of flowers that were not nectar-robbed (as in Figure 5.1B) to determine the I_A *, the antagonist-induced optimum flower number. In both cases, confidence intervals for I_N * and I_A * were generated by bootstrapping.

Because mean flower number differed between firespike plants growing in coffee fields and in forest fragments (Fitch and Vandermeer 2021), we conducted the same visual analysis to identify the antagonist-induced optimum, I_A *, separately for plants growing in each habitat. However, these analyses indicated that there was no significant difference between the antagonist-induced optimum floral display size estimated from the entire dataset vs. from each habitat separately, so hereafter we discuss only the results from the full dataset considered together.

We tested whether reproductive output was related to total flower number, using the following metrics of reproductive output: fruit set, seeds per fruit, and seeds per plant. In all cases we used GLMs with negative-binomial error distribution. For fruit set, number of fruit was the response variable, with log(total number of flowers) included as an offset. The β-value of the offset is fixed at 1, allowing us effectively to model proportional data while avoiding the pitfalls of using proportions in regression analysis. For both seeds per fruit and seeds per plant, number of seeds was the response variable; for seeds per fruit we additionally included log(number of fruits) as an offset. Because we counted the number of seeds from all fruit only in 2018, we have data on seeds per plant only for that year, but models for fruit set and seeds per fruit incorporated data from 2017 and 2018, and for these models year was included as a covariate.

Experimental floral arrays – Is flower number the key attraction trait?

To test whether nectar robbers and pollinators responded specifically to flower number, rather than another correlated trait, we conducted an experiment using replicated experimental floral arrays. Each of the seven replicates consisted of one array each of 1, 3, 6, and 10 *O*. *cuspidatum* inflorescences. The inflorescences included in each replicate were cut from a single

plant or adjacent plants, to control for the effects of variation in floral traits that might influence flower visitor attraction. Additionally, we harvested inflorescences of approximately the same size, though flower number nevertheless differed among inflorescences. Inflorescences, along with a 0.25-0.5 m length of stem, were cut from the plant the day before they were to be deployed and kept in water. The following morning, between 0600-0700 h, each array was placed in a 1 L clear plastic container filled with water and was set out in the field. Arrays within a replicate were placed ~10m apart; replicates were distributed within a 2 ha section of the farm, in areas under coffee production. Replicates were placed within 100 m of blooming *O*. *cuspidatum* plants and \geq 100 m from one another. Each day, we deployed 1-3 replicates, depending on the availability of inflorescences.

Between 1300-1400h on the same day, we surveyed each array for nectar robbery and pollen removal. Nectar robbery was surveyed with the same methods as the field surveys, which are described above. We used pollen removal as a proxy for pollinator visitation, having previously determined that a single visit from a hummingbird was usually sufficient to remove the bulk of pollen from a flower's stamens. To check for pollen removal, a thin wire-filament loop was run over the surface of the stamen and checked for pollen. If the loop came away with more than trace amounts of pollen (i.e. >10 visible grains), we recorded the flower as unvisited by a pollinator. After checking for nectar robbery and pollen removal, we placed all inflorescences in a screened, pollinator- and nectar-robber free room, grouped by replicate, until the following morning.

Individual inflorescences continued to bloom, and newly opened flowers continued to contain nectar, for at least three days after cutting, so we continued to use inflorescences on three consecutive days, as long as the quality of the floral display did not visibly deteriorate.

Deteriorated inflorescences were replaced with fresh-cut inflorescences from the same plant as necessary. After three days of deployment, all inflorescences from a replicate were discarded. On consecutive days, inflorescences were used for the same replicate, but randomly assigned to array. Data collection for this experiment lasted from Jun 27 – Jul 18 2018.

To investigate how inflorescence number affected 1) flower number, 2) nectar robbery, and 3) pollen removal in experimental arrays, we used nonlinear mixed models, implemented with the `nlme` function in R package `nlme` (Pinheiro et al. 2019). For all response variables, we compared the same four functions as for naturally-occurring plants, and selected the best model as described above. For nectar robbery, our response variable was number of flowers robbed, and for pollen removal it was number of flowers with pollen removed. For nectar robbery and pollen removal we constructed two models each, one with flower number included as an offset in order to evaluate how the proportion of flowers robbed or visited by pollinators was influenced by inflorescence number, and one without the offset to evaluate how the number of flowers robbed or visited was influenced by inflorescence number. For all models, the number of inflorescences (i.e. array size) was included as a fixed effect; replicate was included as a random effect.

RESULTS

Evaluation of pollen limitation

We hand cross-pollinated 382 flowers on six inflorescences on six different naturallyoccurring plants. For inflorescence-level treatments, hand pollination resulted in fruit set nearly 5x higher than that seen in inflorescences experiencing ambient pollination (ambient mean \pm SE: 0.12 \pm 0.02, hand-pollinated: 0.57 \pm 0.04; t = 5.22, df = 5, p = 0.003). Similarly, hand pollination resulted in a doubling of seeds per fruit (ambient: 1.5 ± 0.5 , hand-pollinated: 3.4 ± 0.1 ; t = 4.41, df = 3, p = 0.02) and a 5-fold increase in seeds per inflorescence (ambient: 40.9 ± 20.6 , hand-pollinated: 206.0 ± 53.3 ; t = 4.35, df = 3, p = 0.02). These results indicate that the population of *O. cuspidatum* under study experiences strong PL, and that fruit set at the Haig-Westoby optimum (*IN**) should be approximately 0.6 (i.e. the fruit set achieved in hand-pollinated inflorescences). Plant-level results from propagated plants were qualitatively similar, with fruit set again 5x higher for hand-pollinated plants, but with substantially reduced fruit set overall, compared to naturally-occurring plants (ambient: 0.04 ± 0.01 , hand-pollinated: 0.22 ± 0.01 ; W = 0, p = 0.01), likely due to the severe resource limitation experienced by these plants. Consumption of developing fruit by *Chlosyne janais* (Nymphalidae) larvae on several plants precluded comparison of seed production for whole-plant pollen manipulation.

Field surveys and estimation of optimal investment in pollinator attraction (IN* and IA*)

Total flower number on monitored plants ranged from 18-1402 flowers. Median flower number was 100 flowers, while the mode was 41 flowers (Figure 5.2). Flower number was not significantly correlated with plant size, as estimated by the number of discrete stems emerging from the soil ($\beta = 0.03 \pm 0.02$, z = 1.45, p = 0.15), though flower number is influenced by resource availability (see Chapter 4).

Nectar robbery showed a positive response to *O. cuspidatum* flower number (Figure 5.3A); Fruit set showed no correlation with *O. cuspidatum* flower number ($\beta = 0.00$, z = -1.57, df = 126, p = 0.1). However, when fruit set data were corrected for the negative effect of nectar robbery following equation 1, expected fruit set in the absence of nectar robbery (hereafter referred to as theoretical pollination) showed a positive, saturating response to flower number

(Figure 5.3B). Thus, both nectar robbers and pollinators appear to respond to floral display size such that per-flower nectar robbery and pollination are higher for larger floral displays, satisfying criterion 1 of the conceptual model.

For both proportional nectar robbery and proportional theoretical pollination, the relationship with flower number was best represented by a Michaelis-Menten function (Table 5.1), though in the case of theoretical pollination, the Michaelis-Menten was barely distinguishable from the logistic. Both the half-saturation constant (K) and the asymptote (V_m) were lower for theoretical pollination than nectar robbery (K = 26 ± 7 vs. 41 ± 11 ; V_m = 0.69 ± 0.04 vs. 0.86 ± 0.07 ; Figure 5.3B), indicating a stronger response by nectar robbers than pollinators to floral display size and satisfying criterion 2.

When the Michaelis-Menten fits for 1) theoretical antagonist-free pollination and 2) the inverse of nectar robbing intensity (i.e. the proportion of flowers not robbed) as a function of flower number are plotted together, their curves intersect at a flower number of 62 flowers (95% CI: 44-88 flowers) (Figure 5.3C). According to the Michaelis-Menten fit for pollination in the absence of nectar robbery, this flower number results in only 48% (95% CI: 42-54%) of flowers setting fruit, 30% less than the maximum fruit set predicted by V_m (Figure 5.3C) and >15% less than the mean fruit set for hand cross-pollinated inflorescences (57 ± 4%; see above). Twenty-seven percent of surveyed plants had a flower number that fell within the bounds of the 95% CI for the predicted optimum flower number, despite this range representing only 3% of the total observed range in flower number (Figure 5.2, blue-shaded region). By contrast, the 95% CI for the flower number needed to achieve fruit set matching that seen in hand-pollinated plants [i.e. the optimum according to the Haig-Westoby framework (Haig and Westoby 1988; Burd 2008); 0.57 ± 0.04] was 88-342 flowers (predicted optimum 146 flowers). Despite the 95% CI for the

Haig-Westoby optimum encompassing fully 18% of the observed range in total flower number, only 20% of plants had a total flower number within this range (Figure 5.2, gray-shaded region). For plants within the 95% CI for the antagonist-driven optimal total flower number (44-88 total flowers), mean±s.e. per-observation flower number was 13±1 flowers.

As with fruit set (see above), seeds per fruit was not significantly affected by flower number ($\beta = -0.03 \pm 0.02$, z = -1.37, df = 87, p = 0.17). Per-plant seed production, however, was positively correlated with flower number ($\beta = 0.74 \pm 0.10$, z = 7.37, df = 77, p < 0.001).

Experimental arrays – Is flower number the key attraction trait?

Arrays of different sizes differed significantly in the number of open flowers, with flower number increasing linearly with inflorescence number (Table 5.1; Figure 5.4A). Both nectar robbery and pollen removal increased with inflorescence number, providing further indication that criterion 1 is satisfied by this system. As with naturally-occurring plants, this response was better represented by a saturating function than linear, logistic, or quadratic functions (Table 5.1). And as in naturally-occurring plants, both the half-saturation constant (K) and asymptote (V_m) were higher for nectar robbery than pollen removal (nectar robbery: $K = 0.67\pm0.39$, $V_m = 0.76\pm0.10$; pollen removal: $K = 0.44\pm0.29$, $V_m = 0.51\pm0.08$; Figure 5.4B), again satisfying criterion 2. When the function for nectar robbery is inverted, the intersection point for the inverse nectar robbery function and pollen removal function is at 2.4 inflorescences, though the 95% CI is quite wide (Figure 5.4C). According to the linear function relating number of open flowers to array size, 2.4 inflorescences corresponds to 10 open flowers. This closely matches the mean per-observation flower number for naturally-occurring plants within the 95% CI for the antagonist-driven optimal total flower number (13±1 flowers).

When the number (rather than proportion) of flowers experiencing nectar robbery is considered, the relationship between inflorescence number and nectar robbery is best described by a linear function (Table 5.1, Figure 5.4A). For the number of flowers experiencing pollen removal, on the other hand, a logistic function provides the best fit (Table 5.1, Figure 5.4A). This indicates that increasing flower number beyond ~6 inflorescences results in minimal increase in the number of flowers pollinated, while continuing to attract more nectar robbers.

DISCUSSION

Results from both our field surveys and experimental manipulations suggest that pollen limitation (PL) in *O. cuspidatum* is the result of adaptive response to conflicting pressures on flower number exerted by hummingbird pollinators and bee nectar robbers. While researchers have previously noted conflicting selection pressures on floral traits exerted by pollinators and nectar robbers (Gélvez-Zúñiga et al. 2018), this study is among the first to point out the potential causal link with PL.

For PL to arise as an adaptive response to conflicting pressures from pollinators and antagonists, four criteria must be met. The first criterion requires that the same trait(s) mediate attraction of both pollinators and antagonists. This criterion was met in both naturally-occurring plant and experimental arrays. In naturally-occurring plants, *O. cuspidatum* attractiveness to both pollinators and nectar robbers was mediated by flower number, with both the proportion of flowers robbed and the theoretical proportion of flowers that would be pollinated in the absence of nectar robbery showing positive, asymptotic responses to flower number. Moreover, a similar pattern of positive, asymptotic response to flower number of both nectar robbery and pollen

removal emerges from the data from our experimental arrays. This confirms that flower number – rather than another, correlated, trait – mediated both pollinator and nectar robber attraction.

The second criterion is that the antagonists' response to an increase in allocation to pollinator attraction must be stronger than the pollinators' response. Data from both surveys and experimental arrays indicate that this occurs in our study system: levels of nectar robbery are consistently higher than levels of pollination for a given floral display size.

The third criterion is that conflicting pressures lead to reduced investment in the relevant trait(s), lowering pollinator attraction and leading to PL. Again, our data confirm that this occurs in *O. cuspidatum*. The antagonist-induced optimum flower number for this population of *O. cuspidatum*, as predicted by field survey data, is less than half the predicted Haig-Westoby optimum (Figure 5.3C). At the antagonist-induced optimum, fruit set is >15% lower than the levels seen in hand cross-pollinated *O. cuspidatum* plants, indicating that plants at the antagonist-induced optimum experience PL. These results are closely matched by those from our experimental arrays; estimates of the antagonist-driven optimum flower number from the two datasets are remarkably similar (i.e. 10 vs. 13 open flowers at a time).

The fourth and final criterion to be satisfied is that plants reducing investment in pollinator attraction must nevertheless experience higher fitness than those investing at the Haig-Westoby optimum. We cannot conclusively determine whether this is occurring in the study population of *O. cuspidatum*, given that we do not have information on lifetime fitness; the evidence we do have is mixed in its support for this criterion. The distribution of total flower number in the population supports the idea that a flower number close to the antagonist-induced optimum is selected for. Total flower numbers within the range of the antagonist-driven optimum were dramatically overrepresented in naturally-occurring plants (Figure 5.2). This does not

appear to be solely the result of resource availability dictating allocation to flower production, as flower number was not significantly correlated with plant size [although light availability does influence flower production, presumably via its influence on the availability of photosynthate to allocate to reproduction (Fitch & Vandermeer 2020)].

Despite apparent convergence on the antagonist-driven optimum flower number, the population exhibits high variability in this trait. This maintenance of trait variation is consistent with our hypothesis that high levels of variability in nectar robbing intensity – both across individuals and between years within individuals – should maintain trait variation. Indeed, the overrepresentation of plants with a very large number of flowers (Figure 5.2) suggests the possible existence of an alternative strategy. Very large floral displays may represent a form of antagonist satiation; there is some indication that levels of nectar robbing intensity decline for plants with very large floral displays (in Figure 5.3B, note two points in lower right), though these same plants also experienced relatively low levels of pollination, drawing into question the utility of antagonist satiation in this case.

We found a positive, linear correlation between flower number and seed production, suggesting that, despite higher levels of nectar robbery, short-term fitness is maximized by maximizing flower number. But in this population, a large flower number in one year is strongly correlated with reduced flower production the following year (Fitch and Vandermeer unpublished data). Costs of reproduction such as this are common in plants (Obeso 2002). Such costs suggest a potential trade-off between short-term and lifetime fitness maximization, increasing the likelihood that a smaller number of flowers, minimizing the loss of flowers to nectar robbers, may maximize lifetime fitness. Moreover, in the experimental arrays, the number of flowers experiencing pollen removal showed a saturating response to inflorescence number,

indicating minimal benefit of floral displays larger than ~6 inflorescences (26 ± 1 open flowers at a time). Thus, the linear relationship between total flower number and seed production may reflect benefits of a longer flowering period rather than of producing more total flowers. This explanation is not in contradiction with the idea that the antagonist-induced optimum flower number maximizes fitness.

This study suggests that conflicting selection between antagonists and pollinators is an important driver of PL in *O. cuspidatum*. But how widespread is antagonist-induced adaptive PL likely to be? According to our conceptual model, the conditions under which antagonists would drive PL are rather restrictive. Below, we discuss three primary restrictions. Despite these restrictions, we suspect that the necessary conditions for antagonist-induced adaptive PL occur widely, and that antagonist-induced adaptive PL may be common.

One restrictive requirement of the model is that antagonists must respond at least as strongly as pollinators to an incremental increase to investment in pollinator attraction. At first glance, greater sensitivity of the antagonist than the pollinator to pollinator attraction traits seems unlikely. Yet such outsize response from antagonists might be expected when the antagonist occurs at substantially higher densities than the pollinator. This is fairly likely to occur if the pollinator is a vertebrate and the antagonist is an insect, or even if the pollinator is a solitary insect while the antagonist is a social insect with the potential for rapid recruitment of large numbers of foragers to a food resource. At least for nectar robbery, these are common (though certainly not universal) scenarios: social Hymenoptera comprise a plurality of documented nectar robbers (Irwin et al. 2010), while the pollinators of flowers that experience heavy nectar robbery are often birds (e.g. Irwin 2006; Rojas-Nossa et al. 2016; Gélvez-Zúñiga et al. 2018). At somewhat longer timescales, if insects whose larvae consume floral tissues use pollinator-

attracting floral traits to locate oviposition sites [as is the case for e.g. some Lepidoptera (Irwin et al. 2003; Adler and Bronstein 2004)], the effect of antagonist attraction is likely to outweigh that of pollinator attraction, since a single visit by an ovipositing adult will generally result in multiple larvae that will then consume the plant.

A second restriction of the model is that most individual flowers should be either 'for pollinators' or 'for antagonists' – that is, flowers that are visited by a pollinator should produce seeds, flowers attacked by an antagonist should not, and there should be little overlap in flowers visited both by pollinators and antagonists. The degree to which this occurs will likely depend on the mechanism by which antagonist activity reduces plant reproduction. If the antagonist reduces the attractiveness of flowers to pollinators, but does not directly damage reproductive organs, then the fate of a flower (pollinated or damaged) is essentially determined by the identity of its first visitor (assuming relatively high single-visit pollination efficiency). If the first visitor pollinates the flower, future interactions with an antagonist will not impact seed production. Alternatively, if an antagonist visits first, it is less that the flower will be subsequently visited by pollinators, and more likely that it will go unpollinated. It is common for floral antagonists – including nectar robbers and florivores – to affect reproduction by reducing pollinator attraction (Lohman et al. 1996; Irwin and Brody 2000; Castro et al. 2008; Sõber et al. 2010; Varma et al. 2020), including in our study system (Fitch and Vandermeer 2020).

On the other hand, if antagonists directly damage reproductive organs, the important question is not who visits the flower first, but whether or not the flower interacts with an antagonist at any point. In this case, there is likely to be substantial overlap in 'for pollinators' and 'for antagonists' flowers, unless antagonists avoid flowers that have been previously visited by pollinators. While antagonist avoidance of pollinated flowers is possible (particularly for

antagonists seeking nectar rewards), its occurrence has not been widely documented. We therefore suggest that antagonist-induced adaptive PL is more likely to occur where the antagonist reduces fitness by deterring pollinators, rather than damaging reproductive organs.

We note, however, that the partitioning of flowers as either 'for pollinators' or 'for antagonists' does not need be complete for antagonist-induced PL to operate. In our study system, nectar robbery significantly reduces pollination, but approximately 18% of robbed flowers still set fruit (vs. 32% of unrobbed flowers; Fitch and Vandermeer 2021). This indicates that, while pollinators prefer unrobbed flowers, they do pollinate robbed flowers, leading to some overlap in the flowers that are 'for pollinators' and 'for antagonists.' Nevertheless, antagonistinduced adaptive PL appears to occur in this system. Further study, both empirical and theoretical, will be necessary to determine how much non-overlap in 'for pollinator' and 'for antagonist' categories is needed for antagonist-induced adaptive PL to arise.

Finally, antagonist-induced adaptive PL is likely to be more common in iteroparous than semelparous plant species. Reducing investment in traits that attract both pollinators and antagonists will be adaptive for semelparous species only if the negative effect of attracting additional antagonists outweighs the positive effect of attracting additional pollinators (this is also true for iteroparous species). In iteroparous species, on the other hand, reducing short-term investment in reproduction increases the likelihood of survival and future reproduction, so the negative effect of attracting antagonists need not fully outweigh the positive effect of attracting pollinators for reduced investment in pollinator attraction to be adaptive. Much of the existing theoretical work on PL has focused, at least implicitly, on semelparous species. This is due, in part, to challenges associated with estimating PL for iteroparous species, since experimental manipulation of pollen receipt in iteroparous species can overestimate PL if reproductive output

is not measured for all reproductive events (Zimmerman and Pyke 1988; Knight et al. 2006). However, that PL is difficult to experimentally assess in iteroparous species does not mean that it does not occur. The current study suggests that a more explicit focus on iteroparous species may illuminate additional mechanisms that give rise to PL.

Existing explanations of PL have focused exclusively on the plant-pollinator interaction. This work highlights how expanding our field of view to consider other impinging interaction types can illuminate heretofore overlooked mechanisms. The present study should be considered a proof-of-concept: we show data consistent with the hypothesis that antagonist-induced PL may occur and be adaptive. Yet we are not able to conclusively rule out a role for other mechanisms – particularly plant response to stochastic variability in pollen receipt – that may be leading to PL in *O. cuspidatum*.

More generally, we do not know how widely antagonist-induced adaptive PL occurs. In the present scenario, the attractiveness trait under apparent conflicting selection was flower number. We know that pollinators and antagonists can exert conflicting selection on other traits, including flower morphology (Irwin et al. 2003; Ågren et al. 2013; Sletvold et al. 2015; Gélvez-Zúñiga et al. 2018), nectar rewards (Adler and Bronstein 2004), flower scents (Theis and Adler 2012), and flower phenology (Sletvold et al. 2015); can antagonist-induced adaptive PL also arise in these cases? Must the antagonist strictly attack floral tissues, or could a more generalized herbivore, still cueing to pollinator attraction traits (e.g. Irwin et al. 2003), exert the same pressures? Might a qualitatively similar pattern emerge in a system with two pollinators, where a high-quality pollinator competes for access to flowers with a poorer pollinator (e.g. Burd 1995*b*)? The answers to all these questions await further study; we hope that their pursuit can further motivate discussion regarding the ecological and evolutionary drivers of PL.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adler, L. S., and J. L. Bronstein. 2004. Attracting antagonists: does floral nectar increase leaf herbivory? *Ecology* 85: 1519–1526.
- Ågren, J., F. Hellström, P. Toräng, and J. Ehrlén. 2013. Mutualists and antagonists drive amongpopulation variation in selection and evolution of floral display in a perennial herb. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110: 18202–18207.
- Ashman, T.-L., T. M. Knight, J. A. Steets, P. Amarasekare, M. Burd, D. R. Campbell, M. R. Dudash, et al. 2004. Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. *Ecology* 85: 2408–2421.
- Brody, A. K., and R. J. Mitchell. 1997. Effects of experimental manipulation of inflorescence size on pollination and pre-dispersal seed predation in the hummingbird-pollinated plant *Ipomopsis aggregata*. *Oecologia* 110: 86–93.
- Burd, M. 1994. Bateman's Principle and Plant Reproduction: The Role of Pollen Limitation in Fruit and Seed Set. *Botanical Review* 60: 83–139.
- Burd, M. 1995a. Ovule Packaging in Stochastic Pollination and Fertilization Environments. *Evolution* 49: 100–109.
- Burd, M. 1995b. Pollinator Behavioural Responses to Reward Size in *Lobelia deckenii*: No Escape from Pollen Limitation of Seed Set. *The Journal of Ecology* 83: 865.
- Burd, M. 2008. The Haig-Westoby model revisited. The American Naturalist 171: 400-404.
- Castro, S., P. Silveira, and L. Navarro. 2008. Consequences of nectar robbing for the fitness of a threatened plant species. *Plant Ecology* 199: 201–208.
- Fitch, G., and J. Vandermeer. 2021. Changes in partner traits drive variation in plant–nectar robber interactions across habitats. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 53: 1–11.
- Fitch, G., and J. H. Vandermeer. 2020. Light availability influences the intensity of nectar robbery and its effects on reproduction in a tropical shrub via multiple pathways. *American Journal of Botany* 107: 1–10.
- Gélvez-Zúñiga, I., A. L. Teixido, A. C. O. Neves, and G. W. Fernandes. 2018. Floral antagonists counteract pollinator-mediated selection on attractiveness traits in the hummingbirdpollinated *Collaea cipoensis* (Fabaceae). *Biotropica* 50: 797–804.
- Haig, D., and M. Westoby. 1988. On limits to seed production. *The American Naturalist* 131: 757–759.

- Irwin, R. E. 2006. The Consequences of Direct versus Indirect Species Interactions to Selection on Traits: Pollination and Nectar Robbing in *Ipomopsis aggregata*. *The American Naturalist* 167: 315–328.
- Irwin, R. E., and A. K. Brody. 2000. Consequences of nectar robbing for realized male function in a hummingbird-pollinated plant. *Ecology* 81: 2637–2643.
- Irwin, R. E., J. L. Bronstein, J. S. Manson, and L. Richardson. 2010. Nectar robbing: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 41: 271–292.
- Irwin, R. E., S. Y. Strauss, S. Storz, A. Emerson, and G. Guibert. 2003. The Role of Herbivores in the Maintenance of a Flower Color Polymorphism in Wild Radish. *Ecology* 84: 1733–1743.
- Knauer, A. C., and F. P. Schiestl. 2017. The effect of pollinators and herbivores on selection for floral signals: a case study in *Brassica rapa*. *Evolutionary Ecology* 31: 285–304.
- Knight, Ti. M., J. A. Steets, and T.-L. Ashman. 2006. A quantitative synthesis of pollen supplementation experiments highlights the contribution of resource reallocation to estimates of pollen limitation. *American Journal of Botany* 93: 271–277.
- Lohman, D. J., A. R. Zangerl, and M. R. Berenbaum. 1996. Impact of Floral Herbivory by Parsnip Webworm (Oecophoridae: *Depressaria pastinacella* Duponchel) on Pollination and Fitness of Wild Parsnip (Apiaceae: *Pastinaca sativa* L.). *The American Midland Naturalist* 136: 407–412.
- Meyer, J.-Y., and C. Lavergne. 2004. Beautés fatales: Acanthaceae species as invasive alien plants on tropical Indo-Pacific Islands. *Diversity and Distributions* 10: 333–347.
- Obeso, J. R. 2002. The costs of reproduction in plants. New Phytologist 155: 321–348.
- Pinheiro, J., D. Bates, S. DebRoy, D. Sarkar, and R Core Team. 2019. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-140.
- Ramos, S. E., and F. P. Schiestl. 2019. Rapid plant evolution driven by the interaction of pollination and herbivory. *Science* 364: 193–196.
- Rodriguez-Robles, J. A., E. J. Melendez, and J. D. Ackerman. 1992. Effects of Display Size, Flowering Phenology, and Nectar Availability on Effective Visitation Frequency in *Comparettia falcata* (Orchidaceae). *American Journal of Botany* 79: 1009–1017.
- Rojas-Nossa, S. V., J. M. Sánchez, and L. Navarro. 2016. Effects of nectar robbing on male and female reproductive success of a pollinator-dependent plant. *Annals of Botany* 117: 291– 297.
- Schemske, D. W. 1980. Floral Ecology and Hummingbird Pollination of *Combretum farinosum* in Costa Rica. *Biotropica* 12: 169.

- Shumate, A. M., S. A. Teale, B. D. Ayres, and M. P. Ayres. 2011. Disruptive Selection Maintains Variable Pheromone Blends in the Bark Beetle *Ips pini*. *Environmental Entomology* 40: 1530–1540.
- Siepielski, A. M., and C. W. Benkman. 2010. Conflicting selection from an antagonist and a mutualist enhances phenotypic variation in a plant. *Evolution* 64: 1120–1128.
- Siepielski, A. M., K. M. Gotanda, M. B. Morrissey, S. E. Diamond, J. D. DiBattista, and S. M. Carlson. 2013. The spatial patterns of directional phenotypic selection. *Ecology Letters* 16: 1382–1392.
- Sletvold, N., K. K. Moritz, and J. Ågren. 2015. Additive effects of pollinators and herbivores result in both conflicting and reinforcing selection on floral traits. *Ecology* 96: 214–221.
- Sõber, V., M. Moora, and T. Teder. 2010. Florivores decrease pollinator visitation in a selfincompatible plant. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 11: 669–675.
- Sun, S.-G., W. S. Armbruster, and S.-Q. Huang. 2016. Geographic consistency and variation in conflicting selection generated by pollinators and seed predators. *Annals of Botany* 118: 227–237.
- Theis, N., and L. S. Adler. 2012. Advertising to the enemy: enhanced floral fragrance increases beetle attraction and reduces plant reproduction. *Ecology* 93: 430–435.
- Thomson, J. D. 2001. Using Pollination Deficits to Infer Pollinator Declines: Can Theory Guide Us? *Conservation Ecology* (11955449) 5: 208–216.
- Vamosi, J. C., T. M. Knight, J. a Steets, S. J. Mazer, M. Burd, and T.-L. Ashman. 2006. Pollination decays in biodiversity hotspots. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103: 956–61.
- Varma, S., T. P. Rajesh, K. Manoj, G. Asha, T. Jobiraj, and P. A. Sinu. 2020. Nectar robbers deter legitimate pollinators by mutilating flowers. *Oikos* 129: 868–878.
- Wesselingh, R. A. 2007. Pollen limitation meets resource allocation: towards a comprehensive methodology. *New Phytologist* 174: 26–37.
- Zimmerman, M., and G. H. Pyke. 1988. Reproduction in Polemonium: Assessing the Factors Limiting Seed Set. *The American Naturalist* 131: 723–738.

TABLE AND FIGURES

Table 5.1. Model comparison for the relationships between inflorescence number and flower number, nectar robbery, and pollen removal in A) naturally-occurring plants and B) experimental arrays of *O. cuspidatum*. 'Theoretical pollination' refers to observed fruit set corrected for the negative effect of nectar robbery on pollination, following equation 1. Boldface indicates the best model for that variable, determined by AICc score. Δ AICc indicates difference in AICc score from the best model for that variable.

Model	Pearson's r	AICc	ΔAICc				
A) Naturally-occurring plants							
Nectar robbery – proportion							
Michaelis-Menten	0.43	39.26	0.00				
Logistic	0.43	41.54	2.28				
Quadratic	0.41	116.32	77.06				
Linear	0.22	198.86	159.60				
Theoretical pollinati	ion – proportic	on					
Michaelis-Menten	0.39	-33.71	0.00				
Logistic	0.40	-32.54	1.17				
Quadratic	0.36	80.28	114.00				
Linear	0.16	163.06	196.78				
B) Experimental art	rays						
Flower number							
Michaelis-Menten	0.80	413.50	2.28				
Logistic	0.80	425.34	4.12				
Quadratic	0.80	413.49	2.27				
Linear	0.80	411.22	0.00				
Nectar robbery – proportion							
Michaelis-Menten	0.55	31.99	0.00				
Logistic	0.56	34.02	2.03				
Quadratic	0.31	45.83	13.84				
Linear	0.45	59.77	27.78				

Pollen removal – proportion								
Michaelis-Menten	0.68	-3.06	0.00					
Logistic	0.33	7.98	11.04					
Quadratic	0.36	10.69	13.74					
Linear	0.48	28.85	31.90					
Nectar robbery - number								
Michaelis-Menten	0.85	386.42	3.20					
Logistic	0.85	385.60	2.39					
Quadratic	0.85	383.40	0.19					
Linear	0.85	383.22	0.00					
Pollen removal - number								
Michaelis-Menten	0.73	364.93	8.05					
Logistic	0.83	356.89	0.00					
Quadratic	0.83	358.00	1.11					
Linear	0.76	361.02	4.13					
Figure 5.1. Conceptual diagram illustrating how investment in pollinator attraction is affected by the presence of a floral antagonist, and may lead to pollen limitation.



a) According to the Haig-Westoby framework, optimum investment in pollinator attraction (I_N^*) , is determined by the intersection of the pollination function (P; solid pale blue line) and the resource availability function (R; dashed purple line). Pollen limitation occurs when investment in pollinator attraction is $\langle I_N^*$; where investment is $>I_N^*$, reproduction is resource-limited. The shapes of the functions illustrated here assume 1) a strict tradeoff between allocation to pollinator attraction and allocation to ovule provisioning and 2) diminishing returns on increasing investment in pollinator attraction, but model predictions are not sensitive to the precise shape of these functions. The antagonist function (A; solid orange line) indicates that attraction of pollinators and antagonists is correlated. b) Re-plotting panel a) with the antagonist function inverted (1-A), showing the proportion of flowers not damaged by the antagonist. Note that if the strength of antagonist response to investment in pollinator attraction is greater than pollinator response, $I_A * < I_N *$ and pollen limitation will occur. In the text, I_N * is referred to as the "Haig-Westoby optimum", while I_A^* is referred to as the "antagonist-induced optimum".

Figure 5.2. Frequency distribution of total flower number for surveyed plants. Dashed line represents optimum flower number under antagonist-induced adaptive PL; blue-shaded area represents 95% confidence interval (CI) for the antagonist-induced optimum (corresponding to area between dashed lines in figure 3C). Dotted line and gray-shaded area represent optimum and 95% CI, respectively, predicted from the Haig-Westoby framework.





Figure 5.3. Relationship between flower number and pollination and nectar robbery in naturally-occurring plants.

In A), blue points represent the total number of fruits produced and orange points represent total number of flowers robbed per plant. In both **B**) and **C**), blue points represent theoretical pollination in the absence of nectar robbery (see text). In **B**), orange points represent the proportion of flowers experiencing nectar robbery; in C), orange points represent the proportion of flowers that were not robbed. In A), solid lines represent linear best-fit line; in **B-C**), they represent the Michaelis-Menten function fit to each dataset; shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals. In C), the dashed lines indicate the predicted optimum range of flower number, assuming conflicting selection on flower number from pollinators and nectar robbers. Note that proportion of flowers robbed in **B**-**C**) uses the total number of flowers surveyed as the denominator, rather than the flower number as determined at the end of the flowering season: the former is generally a smaller number, since we did not necessarily survey every flower produced by each plant.

Figure 5.4. A) Number and B-C) proportion of flowers in experimental arrays experiencing pollen removal and nectar robbery. Filled points with error bars represent means ± SE for each array size; open points show individual observations, jittered on x-axis for clarity. Lines represent the fit of the best model from among four candidates (linear, quadratic, logistic, Michaelis-Menten). In **B-C**), shaded area indicates 95% confidence intervals.



Chapter 6 Conclusion

Changes to environmental conditions can have profound impacts on the outcome of biotic interactions, even without changes to species composition (Tylianakis et al., 2008; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015). Yet our understanding of such effects of environmental change is still in its infancy, with a good deal of uncertainty as to the predictability of the effect of a given change on a given interaction embedded in a given community. In the preceding chapters of this dissertation, I laid out a framework for classifying these effects, and presented two case studies for how such effects operate in agroecosystems.

In the first case study, presented in Chapter 2, I examined the effect of fine-scale (withinfarm) variation in bloom density of neighboring co-flowering plants on pollination of coffee. I then evaluated the relative influence of neighbor effects on pollination and of neighbor interactions for shared abiotic resources on coffee yield. The variation in bloom density was generated by multiple farm management practices, including shade tree planting decisions and manual weed control. Within the schema introduced in Chapter 1, these management decisions represent an alteration to the biotic context within which the coffee–pollinator interaction occurs, via changes in the co-flowering plant community (Figure 6.1A). This altered biotic context in turn influenced pollinator behavioral traits, with lower density of co-flowering plants (in areas where weeds had been recently cut and lacking co-flowering canopy trees) leading to increased deposition of coffee pollen (Figure 6.1A, blue arrow). This was presumably due to increased pollinator visit frequency rather than a change in visit quality, since there was no effect of neighborhood flower density on non-coffee pollen deposition. Thus, we see that increased intensity of weed management results in increased frequency of coffee–pollinator interaction, at least at short timescales [over larger spatiotemporal scales, it is likely that weeds are an important source of food to sustain bee populations (Fisher et al., 2017), so sustained intensive management of weeds would likely lead to reduced bee populations and, by extension, reduction in pollination services to coffee]. However, this ultimately has little effect on the outcome of this coffee–pollinator interaction, at least from the plants' perspective, because the effects of neighbor interactions for abiotic resources – which are relatively insensitive to the weed management practices employed on the farm where the study took place – outweigh the modest effects of interaction for pollination on coffee fruit set (Figure 6.1A, green arrow).

In the second case study, presented in Chapters 3-5, I examined nectar-robbing of firespike (*Odontonema cuspidatum*) by stingless bees, comparing the frequency and outcome of these interactions between coffee fields and forest fragments. In this case, differences in abiotic conditions – specifically light availability – between habitats led to changes in the traits of both partners (Figure 6.1B, blue arrows). Higher light availability in coffee fields led to larger floral displays in firespike growing there (Chapter 4), and stingless bees preferentially robbed plants with larger floral displays (Chapters 3 & 5). Independently, higher light availability also led to increased foraging activity by stingless bees in coffee fields (with foraging levels likely additionally affected by higher availability of non-firespike floral resources in coffee fields compared to forests; Chapter 3); this served to reinforce the dynamic of higher nectar robbing intensity in coffee fields compared to forest fragments. Given the negative effect of nectar robbing on pollination of firespike, the increased levels of nectar robbery on plants growing in coffee fields results in decreased fruit set for those plants (Figure 6.1B, green arrow). However,

because of greater flower production in plants growing in coffee, this reduction in fruit set does not translate into reduced seed production.

Implications

What can we learn about the effects of environmental change on species interactions through case studies such as these? Is it possible to generalize the findings presented here to other locations, other organisms, or other drivers of environmental change? In full honesty, I believe the answer to these questions must remain a tentative 'We don't really know.' Below, I flesh out some of the complications involved in attempting to generalize from the present studies.

In both these case studies, the mediator between environmental change and interaction change is species traits, rather than species density. In general, should we expect changes to traits to be more common, or more impactful, than changes to density? The answer is not entirely clear, in part because the distinction between changes to density and changes to traits is somewhat fuzzy. For example, individual behavior is often contingent on conspecific density (McConkey and Drake, 2006; Hammill et al., 2015; Tollrian et al., 2015), so a change in density may result in a change in behavioral traits which then leads to a change to the interaction. Whether the cause of the interaction shift is judged as a change in density or in traits depends on a matter of perspective and emphasis. That said, given the sensitivity of behavior – and, in plants, of morphology – to environmental conditions, environmental change is likely to result in trait changes more commonly than it does in density changes.

The consequences of interaction shifts, in terms of measured impact on reproduction or yield of the plants involved, were modest in the systems presented here. In the first case, this was

138

because the magnitude of change in interaction frequency was insufficient to impact its outcome (i.e. even the lowest levels of pollen receipt experienced by coffee in high-floral-density neighborhoods resulted in sufficient pollination). In the second, this was because of a countervailing direct effect of the environmental change on the fitness of the plant involved (i.e., the increased light availability that led to increased nectar robbery also allowed plants to allocate more resources towards reproduction, counterbalancing the negative effect of nectar robbery on reproduction). These results highlight the importance of considering interaction shifts not in isolation, but in their broader ecological context, in order to accurately assess their impact. While I found that the broader context attenuated the effects of the interaction shift in the systems I studied, I suspect that it will be just as common to find that the broader context amplifies the effects of the interaction shift.

Additionally, in both of the studied interactions, the effect of environmental conditions was primarily on interaction frequency, rather than the outcome of the interaction. It seems likely that environmental changes that result in a change in interaction outcome would be more likely to have fitness consequences, though this assertion has not been rigorously tested. Moreover, whether particular pathways from environmental change to interaction shift are more likely to result in changes to interaction outcome (rather than frequency), and are more like to have fitness consequences, remains to be seen.

In these studies, I did not investigate the fitness consequences of interaction shifts for the bees involved in the interaction. This focus on consequences for a single species is the norm in studies examining how environmental change drives interaction change (McConkey and Drake, 2006; Lewanzik and Voigt, 2014), highlighting a gap in our current understanding. While I suspect that, in this case, the fitness effects of the studied interactions shifts on the interacting

139

bees were minimal, it would be instructive, if logistically complicated, to simultaneously measure effects of interaction shifts on the fitness of both interaction partners.

Despite the challenges inherent in studying such a multidimensional phenomenon, it remains crucially important that we improve our understanding – including predictive understanding – of the effects of environmental change on species interactions. While empirical approaches using large datasets and theoretical approaches such as the simulation of ecological networks have the potential to provide insight into general patterns and processes, the limited state of our understanding means that we must also continue to examine particular instances of environmental change affecting interactions, in order to better equip our models to encompass the complex multidimensionality of the effects of anthropogenic environmental change on ecological communities.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Fisher, K., D. J. Gonthier, K. K. Ennis, and I. Perfecto. 2017. Floral resource availability from groundcover promotes bee abundance in coffee agroecosystems. *Ecological Applications* 27: 1815–1826.
- Hammill, E., R. G. Fitzjohn, and D. S. Srivastava. 2015. Conspecific density modulates the effect of predation on dispersal rates. *Oecologia* 178: 1149–1158.
- Lewanzik, D., and C. C. Voigt. 2014. Artificial light puts ecosystem services of frugivorous bats at risk. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 51: 388–394.
- McConkey, K. R., and D. R. Drake. 2006. Flying Foxes Cease to Function as Seed Dispersers Long Before They Become Rare. *Ecology* 87: 271–276.
- Tollrian, R., S. Duggen, L. C. Weiss, C. Laforsch, and M. Kopp. 2015. Density-dependent adjustment of inducible defenses. *Scientific Reports* 5: 12736.
- Tylianakis, J. M., R. K. Didham, J. Bascompte, and D. a. Wardle. 2008. Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11: 1351–1363.

Valiente-Banuet, A., M. A. Aizen, J. M. Alcántara, J. Arroyo, A. Cocucci, M. Galetti, M. B. García, et al. 2015. Beyond species loss: The extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology* 29: 299–307.

FIGURE

Figure 6.1. Paths from environmental change to interaction outcome for two bee-plant interactions. A) Weed and shade tree management practices influence neighbor interactions for pollination and abiotic resources in coffee (Chapter 2). B) Abiotic conditions influence the intensity and impact of nectar robbery by stingless bees of firespike (Chapters 3-5). Blue arrows indicate the effect of the environmental change on interacting species; green arrows indicate how species traits and /or densities influence interaction outcome.



Appendices

Appendix A. Supplementary tables and figures for Chapter 2

Table A.1. Assessment of spatial autocorrelation in coffee pollination, fruit set, and floral neighborhood measures. A p-value < 0.05 indicates significant spatial autocorrelation.

Variable	М		
v al lable	Observed	Expected \pm s.d.	р
Coffee pollen load	-0.04	-0.05 ± 0.06	0.91
Heterospecific pollen load	-0.10	-0.05 ± 0.06	0.42
Pollen tubes	-0.13	-0.05 ± 0.06	0.18
Initial fruit set	-0.09	-0.05 ± 0.07	0.57
Final fruit set	-0.08	-0.05 ± 0.06	0.64
Coffee flower density	0.05	-0.05 ± 0.07	0.13
Herb layer flower density	-0.03	-0.05 ± 0.06	0.69
Canopy layer flower density	-0.04	-0.05 ± 0.05	0.92

Table A.2. Summary statistics for coffee pollination and neighborhood variables.

Variable	Mean±s.e.	Median	Range	Ν
Coffee pollen load (# of grains)	867±40	762	74–3777	293
Heterospecific pollen load (# of grains)	8±1	3	0–106	293
Pollen tubes	10±0.4	9	0–43	279
Initial fruit set (fruits flower ⁻¹)	0.49±0.02	0.49	0.10-0.94	128
Final fruit set (fruits flower ⁻¹)	0.29±0.02	0.25	0.02-0.80	113
Fruit weight (g fruit ⁻¹)	1.6±0.03	1.6	0.8–2.3	113
Coffee flowers m ⁻² (transect scale)	63±6	63	18–147	33
Herb layer flowers m ⁻² (transect scale)	23±6	6	0–153	33
Canopy layer flowers m ⁻² (transect scale)	43±22	0	0–534	33
Floral species richness (transect scale)	5±0.5	5	1–13	33
Canopy cover (%)	47.2±2.2	47.4	0.4–91.9	121
Distance to managed honey bee colony (m)	241.1±27.3	224.9	26.7–594.5	21

Table A.3. Structural equation model results, including nonsignificant covariates (distance to apiary and focal coffee plant height).

Response	Predictor	Std.	Estimate±s.e.	DF	Critical	Р
		Estimate			value	
a) Transect scale						
log(Coffee pollen load)	Coffee flower density	-0.10	-0.002 ± 0.004	191	-0.58	0.61
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.21	-0.004±0.002	191	-2.06	0.04
	Canopy-layer flower density	-0.17	-0.001±0.001	191	-2.11	0.04
	Distance to apiary	-0.03	0.000±0.001	19	-0.27	0.79
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	3.42	0.06
Heterospecific pollen load	Coffee flower density	-0.07	-0.029±0.058	191	-0.49	0.62
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.02	-0.007±0.033	191	-0.22	0.83
	Canopy-layer flower density	0.09	0.010±0.009	191	1.19	0.24
	Distance to apiary	0.10	0.009 ± 0.009	19	1.00	0.33
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	2.23	0.14
b) 2m x 2m scale	e					
log(Coffee pollen load)	Coffee flower density	-0.25	-0.034±0.012	193	-2.99	0.003
	Herb-layer flower density	-0.06	-0.009±0.011	193	-0.89	0.37
	Canopy-layer flower density	-0.12	-0.005±0.003	193	-1.64	0.10
	Distance to apiary	-0.08	0.000±0.001	19	-0.64	0.53
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	3.03	0.08
Heterospecific pollen load	Coffee flower density	-0.03	-0.083±0.223	193	-0.38	0.71
	Herb-layer flower density	0.09	0.240±0.201	193	1.20	0.23
	Canopy-layer flower density	0.13	0.095±0.053	193	1.80	0.07
	Distance to apiary	0.12	0.010±0.007	19	1.44	0.17
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	4.73	0.03
Pollen tube number	log(Coffee pollen load)	0.02	0.164±0.615	195	0.27	0.79
	Heterospecific pollen load	-0.03	-0.012±0.030	195	-0.41	0.68

Initial fruit set	log(Coffee pollen	-0.05	-0.015±0.019	193	-0.82	0.41
	10ad)					
	Heterospecific	0.08	0.001 ± 0.001	193	1.37	0.17
	pollen load					
	Pollen tube number	0.05	0.002±0.002	193	0.81	0.42
	Focal plant height	-0.12	0.000±0000	193	-1.51	0.13
Final Fruit set	log(Coffee pollen load)	0.13	0.035±0.012	188	2.91	0.004
	Pollen tube number	-0.10	-0.003±0.001	188	-2.63	0.009
	Initial fruit set	0.49	0.468±0.043	188	10.86	< 0.001
	Canopy cover	0.23	0.002±0.001	188	3.64	< 0.001
	Coffee flower	0.00	0.000±0.002	188	0.08	0.93
	density					
	Herb-layer flower	-0.08	-0.003±0.002	188	-1.61	0.11
	density					
	Canopy-layer flower	-0.15	-0.002±0.001	188	-3.06	0.003
	density					
	Focal plant height	-0.07	0.000 ± 0.000	188	-1.30	0.20
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	5.40	0.00
Fruit weight	Pollen tube number	0.02	0.001±0.003	189	0.40	0.69
	Initial fruit set	0.29	0.450 ± 0.092	189	4.92	< 0.001
	Canopy cover	0.06	0.001 ± 0.001	189	0.75	0.46
	Coffee flower	-0.07	-0.004 ± 0.004	189	-0.97	0.33
	density					
	Herb-layer flower	-0.05	-0.003±0.004	189	-0.74	0.46
	density					
	Canopy-layer flower	0.06	0.001 ± 0.001	189	0.94	0.35
	density					
	Mass bloom event	-	-	1	0.76	0.38

Figure A.1. Images from the study area, illustrating the range of floral neighborhood

conditions. A) Low heterospecific flower density, high conspecific flower density, low shade; B) high heterospecific flower density, low conspecific flower density, moderate shade.





Figure A.2. Within-plant and within-site variability in a) coffee pollen load and b) pollen tube number. Each box represents a single plant; fill color indicates site, with all plants from a given site grouped together.

Appendix B.	Supplementary	table and	figures	for Ch	apter 4
-ppenam 20	Supprementaly	tuoite unia	1194100	101 011	apter i

Table B.1. Correlation among *Odontonema cuspidatum* floral trait values (Pearson's r).

	Corolla mouth width	Corolla base width	Corolla flare	Corolla length
Corolla mouth width	1.0	0.41	0.17	0.3
Corolla base width		1.0	-0.08	-0.15
Corolla flare			1.0	0.38
Corolla length				1.0

Figure B.1. Photograph showing *Odontonema cuspidatum* inflorescence being nectarrobbed by the stingless bee *Trigona fulviventris* (black circle), and with perforation from previous robbing (white circle).



Figure B.2. Flow diagram of sampling scheme for naturally-occurring *O. cuspidatum* plants. Numbers indicate the number of plants in each category.

